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NICKEL RESOURCES INTERNATIONAL

Nickel Resources International Holdings Company Limited is a
leading integrated hi-tech special steel, non-ferrous metal and
mineral enterprise in the People’s Republic of China (the "PRC"). The
Company was listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (”Stock Exchange”) in 2005 (stock code: 2889.
HK) and is the first non-state-owned mineral-resources exploration,
development, and processing enterprises, and is the first hi-tech
special steel producer in the PRC listed abroad. Our businesses are
now vertically integrated from mining to ferrous and non-ferrous
metal production. We have successfully transformed from a traditional
special steel manufacturer to a leading integrated mineral-resources
exploration and processing enterprise in the PRC. Our businesses
include ore trading, ore processing, ferrous and non-ferrous
metallurgy. Our products have been extended to stainless steel,
tool steel, bearing steel, gearing steel, and high strength alloy steel;
and these products are widely used in metallurgy, automobile, ship-
building, petrochemical, buildings, bridges, animal husbandry uses,
railway transportation and infrastructures. The Group has successfully
developed a number of innovative and patented technologies. For
example, we used our own technology to extract valuable metals
from the multi-element low-grade ore; which is able to produce high
strength and high-value-added NiCr based alloy steel products from
inferior ore resources. The Group capitalises on its own exclusive
offtake right on mineral resources and technological advantages
to enter into the mineral resources and ore processing industries.
With the long-term exclusive offtake agreement entered into with
an Indonesia mine, the Group is actively expanding in the PRC
and overseas and is seeking iron and nickel mine investment and
partnership opportunities in Southeast Asia. Currently, the Group
has subsidiaries and offices in the PRC and Hong Kong with a global
workforce of about 980 people.
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Corporate Information

LAFIEH
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Hong Kong
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Five-Year Financial Summary

AFEMEBRE

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION MBERMRE

A summary of the published results and of the assets, liabilities and ~ $2 & REEIERAR AR ([AQF]) REMEAQ
non-controlling interests of Nickel Resources International Holdings & (LA NS [ AERE ) W iBE R AT REE KK
Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (hereinafter T Xz FrsiEERE O AMESE BE BE
collectively referred as to the “Group”) for the last five financial years — K JE¥EfS #EEzs - BEZ 40T

prepared on the basis set out in the note below is as follows:

Results ¥E
2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
“E2—+t& —T—RF ZET—HF ZE-NmF —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FHET FHET FET
Revenue Yy 28 296,430 176,760 38,697 336,403 1,635,170
Cost of sales SHER AR (257,559) (156,389) (123,840) (501,897)  (1,664,620)
Gross profit/(loss) 7,/ (8]) 38,871 20,371 (85,143) (165,494) (29,450)
Other gains/(loss), net Hilzs/ (B18)
SHEE 42,414 74,281 50,272 18,855 49,477
Selling and distribution HE RS HEKA
costs (2,255) (3,897) (2,579) (10,036) (5,196)
Administrative expenses TH X (214,330) (232,410 (191,315) (176,980) (284,672)
Finance income BEMA 139 3,240 8,064 145,079 17,735
Finance costs BERK AR (343,919) (320,186) (451,264) (559,261) (280,927)
Other income/(expenses) Hip A, (%) 6,391 (133,200) (110,891) (36,740) (67,737)
Impairment losses on property, #1% - B K &
plant and equipment REEE = (54,434) (440,356) (597,392) (726,185)
Provision for impairment of ¢ Gl 1IN
loan to an associate LREEE - - = (56,975) =
Share of (loss)/profit of JEfG — A& DT
an associate (&18) /% H - - - (26,474) (13,508)
Loss before income tax BRATBHATEE (472,689) (646,235)  (1,223,212)  (1,465,418)  (1,340,463)
Income tax (expense)/credit ~ FTEH (M) #H& = (443) (1,147) 11,205 (25,043)
Loss for the year FEBE (472,689) (646,678)  (1,224,353)  (1,454,213)  (1,365,506)
Attributable to: Br:
Equity holders of the Company A2 Al zFHE A (472,372) (645,992)  (1,222,916)  (1,453,133)  (1,366,411)
Non-controlling interests FEE R (317) (686) (1,437) (1,080) 905

(472,689) (646,678)  (1,224,353)  (1,454,213)  (1,365,506)

Dividends fi% 8 - - _ _ _
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Five-Year Financial Summary

AFEMERE

Assets, Liabilities and Non-controlling Interests EE BERFERER
2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
—E—+tF ZT—FRF ZT—hF ZT—NF —ZT—=F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT FHT FHAET FHET
Total assets BMEE 3,372,993 3,423,972 3,779,417 5,367,597 6,316,918
Total liabilities wmalE 4,205,765 3,686,429 3,541,771 3,973,220 3,498,941
Non-controlling interests FEIEAME 2 (356) 6,006 6,682 8,465 9,450
Net (liabilities)/assets F(BE)BE (832,772)  (262,457) 237,646 1,394,377 2,817,977

Note:

The consolidated results of the Group for the years ended 31 December 2013, 2014,
2015 and 2016 were extracted from the Annual Report 2013, 2014, 2015 and 2016
of the Company respectively while those for the year ended 31 December 2017 were
prepared based on the consolidated income statement and consolidated statement of
financial position as set out on page 81 and pages 83 to 84, respectively. This summary
does not form part of the audited financial statements.

AEERBE-T—=F —ZT—NOF —T—AFR=-T—RX
FH_A=ZTRALFEZREXEDDIRBEEAAT T
—=F ZEWNF ZFT-RFRZT-AFFERE ME
BT +HF+ A+ ALFEZERAEETNDNERSE
S1ERFESIESAB 2R A NS R REE M ISR AR FER - 1B
BEWTEREEZIBRER 2 —HD o
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Corporate Responsibility
EERRE

UNLIMITED COMMITMENT WITH LIMITED
RESOURCES

It is the responsibility of an enterprise to utilise limited resources
in an efficient way and protect the environment with dedication
and creativity. Aiming to fulfil unlimited commitment with limited
resources, the Group has devoted efforts in the research and
development of new and green technologies and products in order
to realise the targets of high recovery rate, low emission as well as
resources recycling with effective and comprehensive use of resources.
The management believes that the Group is able to bring satisfactory
economic returns for the investors through proper use of limited
resources.
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Recognition and Awards

FERRIR

AWARD

EUROMONEY

o Best Managed Company in Asia (Metals & Mining) 2013 from

Euromoney

° Singapore 1000 Company 2012 from DP Information Group

o The Asset Triple A Awards — The China’s Most Promising

ASIA BEST
MANAGED
COMPANIES

Companies in Mining 2011 from the Asset
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Chairman’s Statement

FRBESE

Dear Shareholders,

| am pleased to present the Annual Report of the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2017 and extend my gratitude to all the
shareholders on behalf of the Board of Nickel Resources International
Holdings Company Limited.

REVIEW

2017 continues to be a challenging year full of uncertainties for both
the PRC's steel market and the Group. The over-supply situation had
not fundamentally improved amid the increasingly fierce competition
from similar products in the steel market although the PRC’s
government has started to study the appropriate solutions to mitigate
such over-supply situation continuously.

During the year, despite the recent rebound of the PRC steel market,
the steel price was persistently weak. Together with the Export Ban
which was implemented in early 2014 by the relevant governmental
authorities of Indonesia has continuously casted significant doubt on
the Group's financial performance and cash flows position in 2017.

Following the confirmed orders, indicative orders and framework
agreements obtained from customers in 2016 and in the year of
2017, the continuous development of the high strength stainless
structural special steel products by the Group and the successful
of the launching market strategies for household, electricity,
communications, photovoltaic and animal husbandry uses which
will generate higher margin with lesser impact affected by macro
economy, we expect the Group may have new products bringing to
the higher margin market in the future.

The above unfavourable factors continuously brought substantial
negative impacts to the Group’s future operational and financial
performance. During the year ended 31 December 2017, despite the
Group's sub-contracting services commencing in the year of 2017
which generated stable revenue and enhanced its cash flow position,
together with the Group’s turnover increased substantially when
compared with last year, the Group still recorded a substantial loss
mainly due to the significant finance cost of HK$343.9 million.

Annual Report 2017
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Chairman’s Statement

EFRBESE

PROSPECTS

We expect the economy of PRC will continue its healthy growth trend
and the demand and profitability of our steel products will rebound in
future.

In a longer term, we expect PRC will continue its modernisation and
urbanisation that the demand of high quality special steel products
for public infrastructure and equipment manufacturing will increase
steadily. This definitely will bring enormous business opportunities for
our Group.

We believe that after the technology industrialisation and
modernization of special steel products, the Group will have a
stronger competitive advantage in the industry.

Upon on the success of implementing all the plans contained in the
Resumption Proposal, including the financial restructuring exercises,
we believe that the Group will have a stable financial position in near
future.

Also, upon the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement in
relation to the disposal of 7% equity interest in S.E.A. Mineral Limited
("SEAM"), we are seeking for any possible alternatives and financing
sources to facilitate the development of the Indonesia project, that
is, for building up special steel mills in Indonesia in the foreseeable
future.

I have confident to achieve our restated performance targets through

the cooperation with all staff and the potential investors to bring
fruitful returns to our shareholders.

Dong Shutong
Chairman & CEO

Hong Kong, 28 March 2018
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Management Discussion

EHE WS

and Analysis

For the year ended 31 December

BE+-A=+—HLFE

2017 2016

—E—t5F b ANCS

HK$'000 HK$'000

FExT FHET

Revenue Wz 296,430 176,760

Gross Profit EF 38,871 20,371
Loss before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and & F.8 #1718 - T &€ &

Amortisation? iR 2 EE (52,143) (187,356)
Loss before Tax B AT & 1R (472,689) (646,235)
Loss Attributable to Equity Holders RARIERBEEA

of the Company FE(RE1E (472,372) (645,992)
Gross Profit Margin ER K 13.1% 11.5%
LBITDA Margin LBITDAX (17.6%) (106.0%)
# Loss before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation (“LBITDA”) in 2016  * RZBE-—RNF RANE -BE HERBEHNER

excluded impairment losses of property, plant and equipment of HK$54.4 million.

OPERATING ENVIRONMENT ANALYSIS

Impact of Export Ban

The Group purchases ores for both trading of limonitic ore business
and self— use manufacturing of iron and special steel products. In the
past few years, the Group enjoyed fixed price in ore supply through
an exclusive offtake agreement entered into with PT. Yiwan Mining
("Yiwan") ("EQA").

Pursuant to the relevant regulations promulgated in Indonesia,
unprocessed ore export by mining business licence holders in
Indonesia (“IUP Holders”) has been banned from 12 January 2014
onwards unless the IUP Holders have carried out processing and
refining domestically according to Government Regulation No.
23 of 2010 regarding implementation of activities of business of
minerals and coal mining and have conducted refining and smelting
in accordance with Law No. 4 of 2009 regarding minerals and coal
mining (“Export Ban"”). Due to the Export Ban, Yiwan can no longer
export unprocessed ore to the Group.

After the Export Ban, the ore trading business of the Group continued
suspension in the whole year of 2017.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EHBE W E S

Besides the direct impact on the ore trading business, the Export
Ban also adversely affected the manufacturing of iron and special
steel products. Without ore supply in stable price under the EOA, the
Group had to purchase the ores from the PRC market with volatile ore
price fluctuation which affected the cost of manufacturing of the iron
and special steel products.

Operating environment in the year of 2017
The steel product price along with the iron ore price became narrow in
the year of 2017.

Despite the rebound of the PRC steel market since 2016, we remain
pessimistic about the steel market in the PRC in the short term due
to the continuation of over-supply and the persisting weak steel
price under fierce competition in the steel market. Although the PRC
government started to implement certain solutions to mitigate the
over-supply situation, we expect the prices of iron and steel products
may continue to fluctuate in the near future. However, in the long
term, we expect the global economy will gradually recover and the
economy of the PRC will maintain its healthy growth trend. Going
forward, domestic market in the PRC will become quality-oriented,
which will impose higher requirements on products in terms of
environmental-friendliness, safety and durability, sustainability and
recycling. We expect that the quantitative demand for high quality
steel products will increase significantly in the long run, and product
development will incline to the high-end market.

To capture these business opportunities, the Group has shifted to the
production of high quality iron and special steel products through
the application of more environmental-friendly production method.
Moreover, the Group completed the innovation on the new “high-
strength special steel” product in 2014 which can be applied to
bridge construction, offshore oil platform construction, marine
construction, ship construction, power transmission engineering
and marine transport facilities. The Directors believe that the “high-
strength special steel” product can contribute substantially to the
Group's future operating profits upon the successful exploration and
development of the new “high-strength special steel” products in the
PRC steel market in the near future.

Annual Report 2017
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EHE WS

BUSINESS REVIEW

Project Progress

In the PRC

Lianyungang City East Harvest Mining Company Limited, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, has constructed a production
plant to produce nickel fine powder. The first production line of
the production plant started trial production in 2012. The nickel
fine powder can be treated as finished product for direct sales;
alternatively, it can be treated in a blast furnace and processed into
nickel-iron alloy fluid, which becomes a high-quality raw material for
the production of stainless steel. The Lianyungang plant applies low
carbon metallurgical technology developed by the Group. Ordinary
coal, rather than coke used in traditional process, is used in the
reduction purification process, under which the consumption of
carbon may decrease by up to 40%. In addition, the plant can utilise
low grade nickel ore for production, the cost of which is much lower
than that used in traditional production process. The project is highly
recognised by the local government. Moreover, the plant is situated
at the Lianyungang port and benefits from geographical advantages.
Ores and other raw materials from overseas can be conveniently
transported to the plant, largely reducing the inland transportation
costs and logistics pressure.

In Indonesia

On 11 March 2018, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with Mr. Sun, who is an indirect shareholder of the
Subscriber, pursuant to which the Group agreed to sell 7% equity
interest in SEAM to Mr. Sun at a consideration of RMB210,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$251,223,000). This transaction
is conditional upon, obtaining amongst others, approval from
shareholders of the Company at an extraordinary general meeting and
resumption of trading of the Company’s shares.

Upon the disposal of 7% equity interest in SEAM has been entered,
the Group is actively assessing the available financing sources and
considering any possible alternatives, including but not limited to, co-
operation with local enterprises for building up special steel mills in
Indonesia.
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Business Development

Ore trading business

The Group purchases ores from Indonesia through the EOA at
fixed price for self-use or for sale, and has started selling ores to
third parties since the end of 2009. The ore trading business had a
remarkable contribution to our profitability and cash flows due to
strong demand from the PRC customers in the past.

However, the ore trading business of the Group has been suspended
upon the Export Ban and it is anticipated that this will have a
continuous significant negative impact on the financial and operating
results of the Group.

It is possible that the relevant mining regulations in Indonesia may
be amended but there is no guarantee that the Export Ban will be
uplifted in near future.

The Directors are considering any possible alternatives, including but
not limited to, co-operation with local enterprises for building up
special steel mills in Indonesia.

Special steel-making operations

For the special steel-making operations of the Group, sales volume
increased substantially as compared to the year of 2016 whereas
the profit margins of stainless steel products and Ni-Cr alloy steel
ingots narrowed during the year. In order for deploying the Group's
readjustment of the business operations, the production plant of
Zhengzhou Yongtong Special Steel Company Limited (“Yongtong
Special Steel”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
suspended production from early of May to early of June 2017 and
resumed production in middle of June 2017 gradually. During the
year, Yongtong Special Steel commenced providing sub-contracting
services to external customers by utilisation of the existing production
capacity for enhancing its cash flow position and generating stable
revenue.

Annual Report 2017

EBBRE

BREZ XK
AEBFEBREBHEUBRTERBHNEBA
BAENLEERSHEE WEEREZNFFRA
BAE=FHEBEA AATHEPHHERERS
BOESEBRNBERFHRMNENE N KR
SRBAEER -

R EHORER  AEEOBERSEHEY
B RMERANAERSENRER L BHBR
EEEEBREARTYE -

e RER PRI e @B PTERT BT RE
A EEE K AR R EUHE

EFRIERIABEEATR BEETRR
B3 5 1 KA - AE R 2 32 325 S R

RIS ER

BAEEAFMRERES S - T HHERREE
AeMENHEER T —/NFRIBEMN fiEF
ZARFANWRE - REFHBAEEEBLE K
NAEEMBRAREMNAGREFHAR AR (ki@
Bl ) FERMER _E—tFRAVE_Z—+
FRAVEEFEE WEPR_Z—LFAF
BMEEE -RER KBFEHRABMNARBER
mNER PR S A MmN TR - AR ZEEIR
EmEMRN R EERTE WA -

Nickel Resources International Holdings Company Limited 15



Management Discussion and Analysis

EHE WS

While we expect the keen competition in the steel market of the
PRC will continue in 2018, the demand for steel products will
gradually pick up. Following the Environmental Protection Bureau
taking measures to monitor and control the air pollution index since
2016, we expect the environmental protection issues will continue in
2018 and the supply of the stainless steel products market may be
affected. Therefore, the Group will take this opportunity to produce
substantially the market needed stainless steel products in near future.
The Group is also actively developing and launching new high value-
added special steel products and identifying PRC and overseas markets
with growth potentials to strengthen our product portfolio and reduce
market concentration risk.

Financing Arrangement

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had net current liabilities of
approximately HK$3,810.2 million. The Group has been actively
negotiating with PRC and overseas banks and institutional investors
for new borrowings and renewal of existing borrowings when they fall
due. During the year, the Group had successfully obtained bank and
other borrowings of HK$296.6 million to finance its operation and for
repayment of its borrowings when they fall due.

In addition, based on the framework agreement with a potential
investor for the disposal of 30% equity interest of SEAM, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Group, the aggregate consideration will be
approximately US$150 million (equivalent to approximately HK$1,170
million). The transaction is still in progress or may be modified in near
future (currently under negotiation with relevant parties) due to the
rapid change in operating and regulatory environment of SEAM, and
the potential investor needs more time for conducting due diligence
work.

On 11 March 2018, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with Mr. Sun, who is also an indirect shareholder of the
Subscriber, pursuant to which the Group agreed to sell 7% equity
interest in SEAM to Mr. Sun at a consideration of RMB210,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$251,223,000).
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Subscription agreement

References are made to the announcements of the Company dated
7 March 2016 and 29 September 2016 in respect of, among other
things, the (i) proposed issue of Subscription Shares under the Specific
Mandate; (ii) application for the Whitewash Waiver; and (iii) Special
Deal (the “Subscription Announcements”). Unless otherwise stated,
capitalised terms used in these announcements shall have the same
meanings as defined in the Subscription Announcements.

On 5 March 2016, the Company and a potential investor (the
“Potential Investor” or “Subscriber”) entered into a share subscription
agreement pursuant to which the Subscriber agreed to subscribe
for a total of 1,465,898,410 new ordinary shares of the Company
at a subscription price of approximately HK$0.1876 per share (the
“Subscription Shares”), with proposed gross proceeds totalling
HK$275 million (the “Subscription”), subject to certain conditions
precedent which, among others, include the following:

o approval from the Company’s shareholders, or independent
shareholders when appropriate, for (i) allotment and issuance
of the Subscription Shares; (i) a Whitewash Waiver; and (iii) a
Special Deal (as defined hereunder), at the extraordinary general
meeting of the Company (“"EGM");

o a Whitewash Waiver being granted by The Securities and
Futures Commission of Hong Kong (“SFC") in respect of any
obligation of the Subscriber and parties acting in concert with
it to make a mandatory general offer in cash for all the issued
shares and other relevant securities of the Company not already
owned (or agreed to be acquired) by the Subscriber and parties
acting in concert with it which might otherwise arise as a result
of the Subscription;

o the consent from the SFC for repayment to any creditor who
is a shareholder of the Company using the proceeds from the
Subscription under a proposed debt restructuring as mentioned
below (the “Special Deal”);

o approval of resumption of trading of the Company’s shares, and
listing of the Subscription Shares from the Stock Exchange; and
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o completion of a debt restructuring by the Company by way
of the “Schemes” (the “Debt Restructuring Proposal”). The
debt restructuring refers to a plan for restructuring of the
indebtedness of the Company which involves, among other
things: (i) the reduction and cancellation of the outstanding
principal amount of the Bonds by at least 80%; (ii) the reduction
and cancellation of all the outstanding accrued interests of the
Bonds; (iii) the release and discharge of all security collateral
provided in relation to the 12% Coupon Senior Bonds and the
8% Coupon Convertible Bonds; and (iv) the reduction of and
cancellation of all other indebtedness and contingent liabilities
of the Company as referred to in the Debt Restructuring
Proposal, by at least 80%.

On 29 September 2016 and 23 September 2017, the Company
and the Subscriber agreed to extend the Long Stop Date from 31
December 2016 to 30 September 2017 and from 30 September
2017 to 30 June 2018 respectively. As at the date of this annual
report, the Company has actively negotiating and discussing with the
Subscriber to supplement the Subscription agreement major terms
and conditions upon the recent development of the Company and
current market situation.

Update on the status of the Debt Restructuring Proposal
and Event of Default and Cross- Default

Bonds

References are made to the announcements of the Company dated
30 May 2016, 24 June 2016 and 7 July 2016 regarding the convening
of Meetings and Adjourned Meetings of Bondholders (the “Bond
Announcements”). Capitalised terms used herein have the same
meanings as those defined in the Bond Announcements unless
defined otherwise.
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Since December 2014, the Group had continuous default in payment
of due interest and principal under the terms and conditions of the
Bonds, the default may trigger a cross-default in accordance with
respective terms and conditions of the Bonds. In such an event, DB
Trustees (Hong Kong) Limited, in its respective capacities as trustee
for the holders of the Bonds is entitled to, amongst other things,
accelerate the Company’s obligations under the Bonds and declare
the outstanding principal amounts of the Bonds to be immediately
due and payable, together with outstanding interest and all other
sums payable. Upon the passing of the Extraordinary Resolutions
by the Company on 21 June 2016 and 6 July 2016, no Senior
Bondholder or Convertible Bondholder shall demand repayment of
any amount due under such Bonds or take any action to enforce
the payment of monies or exercise any other right thereunder or
otherwise take any action against the Company whether or not under
the terms and conditions of such Bonds or request or require the
relevant bonds trustee to take any action against the Company from
the date of the Extraordinary Resolutions to (and including) the date
upon which the Schemes are implemented.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 13 June
2016, (i) the principal amount of the 12% Coupon Senior Bonds
of HK$390,990,000 and the accrued interest of HK$90,769,000
were outstanding; (ii) the principal amount of the 8% Coupon
Convertible Bonds of HK$117,525,000 and the accrued interest of
HK$18,725,000 were outstanding; and (iii) the principal amount of
the Modified 10% Coupon Bonds of HK$28,400,000 and the accrued
interest of HK$5,996,000 were outstanding as at 12 June 2016 .

Following the passing and effectiveness of the Extraordinary
Resolutions on 6 July 2016, (for details of background of the
meetings of the Bondholders and the results of the Bondholders’
meetings, please refer to paragraphs below headed “Background of
the meetings of the Bondholders”, “Meetings of the Bondholders”,
“Results, adjournment and dissolution of the meetings of the
Bondholders” and “Results of the adjourned meeting of the
convertible bondholders”), the Company is preparing the necessary
documents to submit to the courts for the creditors’ approval and
court sanction for the Cayman Scheme and Hong Kong Scheme
under the Debt Restructuring Proposal. As disclosed in the Company’s
announcements, completion of the Subscription is conditional upon,
among other things, the approval of the Schemes by the courts under
the Debt Restructuring Proposal. The application to the courts and the
approval of the Schemes by the creditors at the Scheme Meetings will
be the next steps towards the satisfaction of the condition precedent
to completion of the Subscription.
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As at the date of this annual report, there was no new material
development to report since the publication of the periodic
announcement by the Company on 10 April 2018.

Background of the meetings of the Bondholders

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 7 March
2016, completion of the Subscription is conditional upon, among
other things, the necessary order of the High Court of Hong Kong
and consent of the other relevant parties with respect to the execution
of an approved scheme of arrangement between the Company and
the creditors under the Debt Restructuring Proposal having been
obtained.

As an initial step of the Debt Restructuring Proposal, separate
meetings of the Convertible Bondholders, the Senior Bondholders and
the 10% Bondholders were convened in order to give effect to the
following:

o the Convertible Bondholders to be treated as a separate and
single class under the Schemes, not as part of the class of
secured creditors of the Company, who are creditors under
the Schemes nor as part of the same class as the Senior
Bondholders;

o the Senior Bondholders to be treated as part of the same class
as the existing unsecured creditors of the Company (including
the 10% Bondholders), who are creditors under the Schemes;

o the cancellation of all outstanding principal on the Bonds;

° the cancellation of all outstanding interest, accrued and unpaid,
on the Bonds; and

o the release and discharge of all of the Convertible Bonds
Security and the Senior Bonds Security, respectively,

in return for, in the case of the Senior Bonds and the 10% Bonds, a
Cash Distribution and in the case of the Convertible Bonds, either a
Cash Distribution or a Shares Distribution. No Convertible Bondholders
shall be entitled to receive a combination of a Cash Distribution
and a Shares Distribution. For details, please refer to the Bond
Announcements.
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Meetings of the Bondholders

Separate meetings of the Convertible Bondholders, the Senior
Bondholders and the 10% Bondholders were convened by the
Company to consider and, if thought fit, pass separate extraordinary
resolutions of the Convertible Bondholders, the Senior Bondholders
and the 10% Bondholders, as the case may be (the “Extraordinary
Resolutions”):

° for the Convertible Bondholders and the Senior Bondholders, as
the case may be, to agree, and to instruct the relevant bonds
trustee and the Security Trustee, not to enforce the Security
in relation to the Convertible Bonds and the Senior Bonds, as
the case may be, from the date of the meeting to the date the
Schemes become Effective, or if the Debt Restructuring Proposal
is not approved at the Scheme Meetings, the completion of the
Scheme Meetings;

o to approve the terms of the Debt Restructuring Proposal; and

o to give instructions to the relevant Bonds Trustee to vote the full
principal amount of the relevant Bonds which are outstanding
in favour of the Schemes at the Scheme Meetings and any
adjourned or rescheduled Scheme Meeting.

Results, adjournment and dissolution of the meetings of
the Bondholders

As at the date of the Meetings of the Bondholders, according to
DB Trustees (Hong Kong) Limited, in its capacities as trustees for the
relevant Bonds, the outstanding principal amounts of the Convertible
Bonds, the Senior Bonds and the 10% Bonds were HK$87,850,000,
HK$390,990,000 and HK$28,400,000, respectively.

The Company announced that:

(@) as a quorum was not present at the Meeting of the Convertible
Bondholders convened and held at 10:30 a.m. (Hong Kong
time) on 21 June 2016 after 15 minutes since the time
appointed for holding such Meeting, such Meeting was
adjourned in accordance with the terms of the Convertible
Bonds Trust Deed to 6 July 2016 at 10:30 a.m. (Hong Kong
time) at the same address as the original Meeting of the
Convertible Bondholders, i.e. Room 3501, 35th Floor, China
Merchants Tower, Shun Tak Centre, 168-200 Connaught Road
Central, Hong Kong. The notice for the adjourned Meeting of
the Convertible Bondholders will be published in accordance
with the terms of the Convertible Bonds Trust Deed.
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(b) the Meeting of the Senior Bondholders convened and held at
11:00 a.m. (Hong Kong time) on 21 June 2016 was quorate at
the first calling and the number of votes cast at such Meeting
was as follows:

(b) —F— /\E/\H + EitF"f__HTJ—_E(%
BER)ARRBITELESHEARSE
REXBRBEEEIEAS BERE LI
ERANEHNT:

FOR AGAINST

B ¥

Total number of votes cast REEE 14,270 104

Votes as a percentage of all votes cast (%) IBRZE(H2IBATHRZELRNE D (%) 99.28% 0.72%
Votes as a percentage of all outstanding BEEEIREREBLEFD

Senior Bonds (%) B 5 (%) 91.24% 0.67%

As at least three-quarters of the votes cast at the Meeting of
the Senior Bondholders were cast in favour of the Extraordinary
Resolution, the Extraordinary Resolution put forward to the
Senior Bondholders was passed, and will become effective
subject to the Extraordinary Resolution to be considered by the
Convertible Bondholders also being passed at the adjourned
Meeting of the Convertible Bondholders (or any further
adjournment thereof). No holder of the Senior Bonds was
required to abstain from voting on the Extraordinary Resolution
at the Meeting of the Senior Bondholders; and

(0 as a quorum was not present at the Meeting of the 10%
Bondholders convened and held at 11:30 a.m. (Hong Kong
time) on 21 June 2016 after 15 minutes since the time
appointed for holding such Meeting, as agreed by the Company
and the 10% Bonds Trustee, such Meeting was dissolved in
accordance with the 10% Bonds Trust Deed.

Results of the adjourned meeting of the convertible
bondholders

As at the date of the adjourned Meeting of the Convertible
Bondholders, according to DB Trustees (Hong Kong) Limited, in
its capacity as trustee for the Convertible Bonds, the outstanding
principal amount of the Convertible Bonds was HK$46,775,000.
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The Company announced that the adjourned Meeting of the
Convertible Bondholders convened and held at 10:30 a.m. (Hong
Kong time) on 6 July 2016 was quorate and the number of votes cast
at such adjourned Meeting was as follows:

ARREM R-T—RFLARNBLFTHB=1
o (FERE) R RBITHABRESRHE AL
HASCDEAEAR AHTEHAS LRERR
RIRENT -

FOR AGAINST

B %)

Total number of votes cast REEE 1,446 285

Votes as a percentage of all votes cast (%) BEEEIMEEENE D (%) 83.54% 16.46%
Votes as a percentage of all outstanding BEEEIREETRRESN

Convertible Bonds (%) B 5 (%) 77.28% 15.23%

As at least three-quarters of the votes cast at the adjourned
Meeting of the Convertible Bondholders were cast in favour of the
Extraordinary Resolution, the Extraordinary Resolution put to the
Convertible Bondholders was passed and became effective. No holder
of the Convertible Bonds was required to abstain from voting on the
Extraordinary Resolution at the adjourned Meeting of the Convertible
Bondholders.

The Extraordinary Resolution put to the Meeting of the Senior
Bondholders which was passed on 21 June 2016 has also become
effective from the time the Extraordinary Resolution put to the
Convertible Bondholders at the adjourned Meeting of the Convertible
Bondholders was passed.

Third Delisting Stage, Resumption Conditions and
Decision of the Listing (Review) Committee

On 13 January 2017, the Stock Exchange issued a letter to the
Company stating, among other things, that the Stock Exchange
considered that the Company had not satisfactorily demonstrated
sufficiency of operations or assets as required under Rule 13.24 of the
Listing Rules. Accordingly, the Stock Exchange decided to place the
Company into the third delisting stage under Practice Note 17 to the
Listing Rules (the “Third Delisting Stage”).
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The Company was required to submit a viable resumption proposal
addressing the resumption conditions below at least 10 business days
before the expiry of the Third Delisting Stage:

1. demonstrate its compliance with Rule 13.24 of the Listing Rules;

2. publish all outstanding financial results and address any audit
qualifications;

3. demonstrate that the Company has sufficient working capital
for its operation for at least twelve months from its expected
resumption date;

4. demonstrate that the Company has put in place adequate
financial reporting procedures and internal control systems to
meet its Listing Rules obligations; and

5. inform the market of all material information for the
shareholders of the Company and the investors to appraise the
Company's position.

The viable resumption proposal must be clear, plausible and coherent,
and contain sufficient details (including forecasts and clear plan for
future business development) for the Stock Exchange's assessment.
The Company must demonstrate that it has business of substance and
the business model is viable and sustainable. The resumption proposal
should also comply with the Listing Rules and all applicable laws and
regulations.

The Third Delisting Stage expired on 24 July 2017. At the end of the
Third Delisting Stage, if no viable resumption proposal was received by
the Stock Exchange, the Company’s listing would be cancelled.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 27 July
2017, a resumption proposal (“Resumption Proposal”) has been
submitted to the Stock Exchange to demonstrate that the Company
can satisfy the resumption conditions via the successful completion
of its revised proposed restructuring (the “Revised Proposed
Restructuring”). The Revised Proposed Restructuring has two major
elements, namely (1) the readjustment of business operations of the
Group and (2) the proposed financial restructuring of the Company.
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The Company received a letter on 25 August 2017 which stated that
the Listing Committee considered the Resumption Proposal not viable
and decided to cancel the listing of the Shares in accordance with
the delisting procedures under Practice Note 17 to the Listing Rules.
Under Rule 2B.06 of the Listing Rules, the Company has the right
to have the Decision referred to the Listing (Review) Committee for
review.

An application had been filed to the Secretary of the Listing (Review)
Committee and the Review Hearing was scheduled on 5 December
2017.

Following the Review Hearing held on 5 December 2017, the Listing
(Review) Committee informed the Company by a letter dated 12
December 2017 (the “LRC Decision Letter”) that it decided to set
aside the cancellation of the Company’s listing status to enable the
Company to proceed with implementing the Resumption Proposal.
This decision is subject to compliance with the following conditions to
the satisfaction of the Listing Department:

(@ submit (i) a letter addressing to the Company from the
Company'’s auditors explaining the impairment assessment of
certain intangible assets of the Company for the years 2014
to 2016; and (i) a written commentary from the Company
incorporating the views of its auditors that there would not be
any material audit qualifications on the Company's next audited
consolidated financial statements and no material impairment
of the Company’s intangible assets would be made, should the
Resumption Proposal be implemented as planned; to the Listing
Department within 3 months from the date of the LRC Decision
Letter (i.e. 12 March 2018);

(b) the transactions and arrangements contemplated under the
Resumption Proposal shall be supported by signed and legally
binding agreements within 6 months from the date of the LRC
Decision Letter (i.e. 12 June 2018) and evidence thereof be
provided to the Listing Department by way of certified copies of
all such agreements;
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() a circular to the shareholders (in substantially final form)
regarding the implementation of the Resumption Proposal shall
be submitted to the Listing Department and, in relation to
Takeovers Code matters, the Securities and Futures Commission
for clearance within 6 months from the date of the LRC Decision
letter (i.e. 12 June 2018) and shall be in form and content
satisfactory to the Listing Department both in relation to the
implementation of the Resumption Proposal itself and that the
Company would be able to comply with Rule 13.24 of the
Listing Rules and meet all resumption of trading conditions
previously identified by the Listing Department to the Company;

(d)  the documents necessary for the scheme of arrangement of the
Company shall be formalised within 6 months from the date of
the LRC Decision Letter (i.e. 12 June 2018);

(e) the implementation of the Resumption Proposal shall be
completed by 30 September 2018, should the Resumption
Proposal be approved by the Company’s shareholders; and

(f)  the Company shall report to the Listing Department on a
3-month basis, reporting on the progress of the implementation
of the Resumption Proposal.

It is also stated in the LRC Decision Letter that should the Company
fail to comply with any of the above conditions to the satisfaction of
the Listing Department, the listing of the Company’s shares on the
Stock Exchange will be cancelled.

On 12 March 2018, the Company submitted (i) a letter addressing to
the Company from the Company'’s auditors explaining the Company's
impairment assessment of the intangible asset for the years 2014 to
2016; (ii) a written commentary from the Company incorporating
the views of its auditors on any material audit qualifications for the
Company’s next audited consolidated financial statements and any
material impairment of the Company's intangible asset should the
Resumption Proposal be implemented as planned; and (i) a report
on the progress of the implementation of the Resumption Proposal to
the Listing Department pursuant to conditions (a) and (f) as imposed
under the LRC Decision Letter.

As contained in the progress report mentioned above, on 11 March
2018, a legally binding sales and purchase agreement was entered
into between the Company and a purchaser in relation to the disposal
of 7% equity interest in SEAM (the “Disposal”), which forms part of
the Company’s resumption plan. Details of the Disposal had been
stated in the Company’s announcement dated 10 April 2018.
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The Company is also in the process of negotiating the terms of and
implementing other transactions and arrangements contemplated
under the Resumption Proposal, which include, among others, the
scheme of arrangement, the disposal of the remaining 7% equity
interest in SEAM, the disposal of certain interest in the Company’s
subsidiaries and the proposed open offer. Further announcement(s)
will be made by the Company to inform the shareholders and
potential investor of the Company in respect of the progress of the
implementation of the Resumption Proposal as and when appropriate.

WINDING UP OF AN OVERSEAS SUBSIDIARY

CNR Group Holdings Pte. Ltd. (“CNRG"), a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Group, received a statutory demand letter dated 25 August
2016 from a legal adviser acting for the Comptroller of Singapore
Income Tax (the “Comptroller”) demanding a sum of approximately
$$5,159,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$28,756,000),
comprising the unpaid income tax and penalties imposed by
the Comptroller to be paid or secured or compounded to the
Comptroller’s satisfaction within three weeks from the date of the
statutory demand, failing which the legal advisor had instructions to
commence winding-up proceedings against CNRG pursuant to section
254(1)(e) read with section 254(2)(a) of the Singapore Companies Act
(Cap.50). These liabilities have been fully provided for by the Group in
2016.

On 1 November 2016, CNRG was notified that an application was
filed on 28 October 2016 to the High Court of the Republic of
Singapore seeking the winding up of CNRG and appointment of
liquidator of CNRG pursuant to Rule 31 of the Companies (Winding
Up) Rules R1 (the “Winding Up Application™).

The Group received an Order of Court upon the hearing of the
Winding Up Application at the High Court of the Republic of
Singapore held on 6 March 2017. The High Court of the Republic of
Singapore ordered that, amongst others, CNRG be wounded up and
a liquidator be appointed to commence the winding up proceedings.
Following the appointment of the liquidator, the directors of CNRG
ceased to have power over the business activities of CNRG and the
assets of CNRG were under custody and control of the liquidator.
Consequently, the directors of the Company are of the opinion that
the Group lost control over the operating and financing activities of
CNRG and CNRG ceased to be a subsidiary of the Group. Accordingly,
assets and liabilities of CNRG together with its subsidiaries (collectively
the "CNRG Group”) were deconsolidated from the Group.
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SUBSEQUENT EVENT

On 11 March 2018, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with Mr. Sun, pursuant to which the Group agreed to
sell 7% equity interest of SEAM to Mr. Sun at a consideration of
RMB210,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$251,223,000).
Mr. Sun is an indirect shareholder of the Subscriber and the sale and
purchase agreement is conditional upon, amongst others, obtaining
approval from shareholders of the Company at an extraordinary
general meeting and the resumption of trading of the Company’s
shares. As at the date of this annual report, the transaction is yet to be
completed.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Turnover and sales volume

Major income of the Group were manufacturing of ferro-nickel alloys,
Ni-Cr alloy steel ingot and stainless steel products and sub-contracting
services. The table below sets out the turnover and sales volume of
our products for the years indicated:

Turnover

HERAREE

R-E—NFE=ZA+—B AEEERLEE]
BEWHR Bt AEBRERARTEUBREA
R #210,000,0007T (#8& 7 #9251,223,000/% 7T )
HERFREE 7%NRAERE - BREEBRBEAN
MERE mMEBEHEASE TIHRERE  8FE
MR AFRIA S S AR A B AR A L R AR A A
BOMEES RAFRBAE ZRX 5 HARTHK -

g EI

EXBEREE
AEEZETBWARHRERBE S BREATHW
7 o N8 6 E o K S 5 B am A0 T AR 7S - TR S
AEEERRARFREZZXBRIFE:

BRE

For the year ended 31 December

BE+-A=+—HLFE

2017 2016
—E—+tHF —E—RF
HK$'000 % HK$'000 %
FET % T %
Iron and Special Steel Products: #R4SME R :

Stainless steel products 85 EE 187,480 63% 20,872 12%

Ferro-nickel alloy steel ingot RiEE SIERHEM
and others 50,114 17% 82,083 46%
Ni-Cr alloy steel ingot RiE e 18,748 6% 73,805 42%
Sub-contracting services #8540 T AR A% 40,088 14% = %
Total et 296,430 100% 176,760 100%
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Sales volume

For the year ended 31 December

BE+-—A=+—HLEE

2017 2016
—E—tHF ZT—RF
(tonnes) % (tonnes) %
(M) % (AME) %
Iron and Special Steel Products: & &4 :

Stainless steel products 875 3 2= o 44,006 35% 3,035 7%

Ferro-nickel alloy steel ingot BEE i RHM
and others 13,048 10% 18,233 40%
Ni-Cr alloy steel ingot R85 S EE 3,525 3% 23,677 53%
Sub-contracting services $ 85 24 o 0 T AR A 65,305 52% = %
Total et 125,884 100% 44,945 100%

In 2017, the turnover of the Group recorded a significant increase of
HK$119.6 million, or 67.7%, to HK$296.4 million (2016: HK$176.8
million) due to the recent rebound of the PRC steel market.

In 2017 the Group commenced providing sub-contracting services
to an external customer. The sub-contracting services recorded a
turnover of HK$40.1 million in the year.

Nearly half of the revenue of the Group in 2017 was contributed by
sales of stainless steel base materials which recorded an increase of
HK$166.6 million, or 798.2% to HK$187.5 million (2016: HK$20.9
million). The sales volume was increased by 40,971 tonnes, or
1,350.0% to 44,006 tonnes (2016: 3,035 tonnes). The average selling
price per tonne was decreased by HK$2,617, or 38.1% to HK$4,260
(2016: HK$6,877).

Sales of Ferro-nickel alloy steel ingot and others was decreased
by HK$32.0 million or 38.9% to HK$50.1 million (2016: HK$82.1
million). The sales volume was decreased by 5,185 tonnes or 28.4%
to 13,048 tonnes (2016: 18,233 tonnes). The average selling price
per tonne was decreased by HK$661, or 14.7% to HK$3,841 (2016:
HK$4,502).
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The sales of Ni-Cr alloy steel ingot, which was decreased by HK$55.1
million or 74.6% to HK$18.7 million (2016: HK$73.8 million).
The sales volume was decreased by 20,152 tonnes, or 85.1% to
3,525 tonnes (2016: 23,677 tonnes). The average selling price per
tonne was increased by HK$2,202, or 70.6% to HK$5,319 (2016:
HK$3,117).

Cost of sales

The cost of sales in 2017 was increased by HK$101.2 million, or
64.7%, to approximately HK$257.6 million (2016: HK$156.4 million).
The increase in cost of sales was consistent with increase in sales.

Gross profit

The Group's recorded a gross profit amounted to HK$38.9 million in
2017 (2016: HK$20.4 million). The gross profit margin in 2017 was
13.1% (2016: 11.5%).

Other gains, net

The gain of HK$42.4 million (2016: gains of HK$74.3 million) in 2017
was mainly due to gain on deconsolidation of subsidiaries. The gain
in 2016 were mainly composed of change in fair value of derivative
financial instruments and foreign exchange gain.

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses in 2017 were decreased by HK$1.6
million, or 42.1%, to HK$2.3 million (2016: HK$3.9 million),
representing 0.8% of turnover (2016: 2.2%).

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses in 2017 decreased by HK$18.1 million, or
7.8%, to HK$214.3 million (2016: HK$232.4 million). The decrease in
administrative expense was mainly due to implementing cost control
measures and reduction of litigation provision in 2017 as compared
with in 2016.

Finance income
Finance income in 2017 was decreased by HK$3.1 million, or 95.7%,
to HK$0.1 million (2016: HK$3.2 million).

Finance costs

Finance costs in 2017 were increased by HK$23.7 million, or 7.4%, to
HK$343.9 million (2016: HK$320.2 million). Increase in finance cost
was mainly due to increase in loan balance during the year.
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Other income/(expenses)

Other income in 2017 of HK$6.4 million mainly due to reversal of
provision for impairment of trade receivables. Other expenses in 2016
of HK$133.2 million mainly represents impairment of prepayments
and other receivables.

Loss before income tax

As a result of the factors discussed above, the loss before income tax
for the year ended 31 December 2017 was HK$472.7 million (2016:
HK$646.2 million). The Group's loss before income tax margin was
159.5% (2016: 365.6%). The loss before interest, tax, depreciation
and amortisation (LBITDA) margin was 17.6% (2016: 106.0%).

Income tax expense

The applicable Hong Kong profits tax rate of the Company and its
subsidiaries which operate in Hong Kong is 16.5% based on existing
legislation. The entities within the Group which operate in the PRC are
subject to corporate income tax at rate of 25% for the year ended 31
December 2017.

Loss for the year and loss attributable to shareholders

As a result of the factors discussed above, the Group’s 2017 loss for
the year was HK$472.7 million (2016: HK$646.7 million) and the
2017 loss attributable to owners of the Company was HK$472.4
million (2016: HK$646.0 million).

Key financial ratios

Hip A~ (BAx)
TELFOHHEMKACAEEETEIEARE
WERFR Z BERERED - —T—RFNHMAX
1332 BB T BRBNREREMEKRKIEALZ
A
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=T HIEFENRMSHAIEIER4727EES
T (ZEF—RF 646 2B 8BET) - AEBEKRE
AT IE X B159.5% (ZF — /"% :365.6%) °
BrF B - BIE - 378 R 8 AT 2 BB (LBITDA) R &
17.6% (ZZF—7XF :106.0% ) °

BB

REBBRITEN RRARRERTELEZHBA
FIERERNEHNERI65% BE_T—+F
T-A=Z+—HALFRE - AEERTEZELEZE
REZRIR25% < R BUM I EFA1SHL -
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FEMBLER

For the year ended 31 December

BZE+-—BA=+—HLEE

Notes 2017 2016

{hy=3 —E—+tF —T—XRF
Current ratio BN & 1 9% 12%
Inventory turnover days GEREAL 2 254 days H 538 days H
Debtor turnover days FEWERFRE A 3 92 days H 55 days H
Creditor turnover days ERERFBERH 4 191 days H 284 days H
Interest cover BFEF BEE 5 -0.4 times & -1.0 time &%
Interest-bearing gearing ratio FEERERILE 6 -305% -886%
Debt to LBITDA ratio B fEEHLBITDALL E 7 -48.7 times & ~12.7 times &
Net debt/Capital and net debt ratio FaG ArRFEELE 8 125% 108%
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Note:
1. Current assets/Current liabilities x 100%
Inventories
) 8 x 365 days
Cost of sales
Trade and notes receivables
3. x 365 days

Turnover

Trade and notes payables
4. x 365 days
Cost of sales

Loss before interest and tax

5.

Net interest expense

Interest-bearing loans and other borrowings
6. (including convertible bonds) X 100%
Equity attributable to the owners of the parent
; Interest-bearing loans and other borrowings (including convertible bonds)
' LBITDA

Net debt*

8. : X 100%
Capital and net debt

b Net debt included bank and other borrowings, convertible bonds (the liability

component), trade and notes payables and other payables and accruals less cash
and cash equivalents and pledged time deposits.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment as at 31 December 2017 mainly
comprised plant and machinery. The decrease in balance by HK$21.4
million or 4.8% to HK$428.9 million (2016: HK$450.3 million) was
mainly attributable by the depreciation charges for the year.

Intangible asset
The intangible asset solely represents the unamortised amount of the
EOA from Yiwan secured by the Group in May 2007.

Inventories

The inventory turnover days decreased from 538 days in 2016 to
254 days in 2017. As at 31 December 2017, inventories balance
decreased by HK$51.2 million, or 22.2%, to HK$179.4 million (2016:
HK$230.6 million). Decrease in inventory balance was mainly due to
management’s effort to reduce the inventory level.

Trade and notes receivables

The debtor turnover days increased from 55 days in 2016 to 92
days in 2017. As at 31 December 2017, trade and notes receivables
balances were increased by HK$48.5 million, or 183.6%, to HK$74.9
million (2016: HK$26.4 million) mainly due to increase in sales within
90 days.
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Prepayments, deposits and other receivables

As at 31 December 2017, prepayments, deposits and other
receivables balance decreased by HK$32.7 million, or 22.6%, to
HK$112.0 million (2016: HK$144.7 million). The decrease in balance
was mainly due to recovery of certain prepayments during the year.

Cash and cash equivalents and pledged time deposits
The aggregate amount of cash and cash equivalents and pledged
time deposits decreased by approximately HK$1.7 million, or 8.1%, to
HK$20.1 million as at 31 December 2017 (2016: HK$21.8 million).

Trade and notes payables

The creditor turnover days decreased from 284 days in 2016 to 191
days in 2017. As at 31 December 2017, trade and notes payables
balance increased by HK$12.6 million, or 10.4%, to HK$134.4 million
(2016: HK$121.8 million). The increase in trade and notes payables
balance was mainly due to increased purchase in the fourth quarter
of year 2017. The trade payables are unsecured, interest-free and are
normally settled on terms of 60 to 180 days while the bank bills are
generally on terms of 90 to 180 days.

Convertible bonds
There was no conversion or repayment of the convertible bonds
during the year.

Bank and other borrowings

As at 31 December 2017, total bank and other borrowings balance
were increased by HK$162.3 million, or 7.0%, to HK$2,493.8
million (2016: HK$2,331.5 million). Increase in the bank and other
borrowings was mainly due to new financing granted to the Group
during the year.

Liquidity, going concern and capital resources

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group incurred a loss
of approximately HK$472.7 million and had a net operating cash
outflow of approximately HK$3.9 million. As at 31 December 2017,
the Group’s had a shareholders’ deficit of HK$832.8 million and
current liabilities exceeded its current assets by HK$3,810.2 million. Its
total bank and other borrowings amounted to HK$2,493.0 million are
overdue or repayable on demand. The cash and cash equivalents of
the Group amounted to HK$20.0 million as at 31 December 2017.
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Following the Export Ban which has substantially affected the cash
generating ability from operations of the Group, a series of remedial
measures to mitigate the liquidity pressure were taken in 2017 to
improve its financial and liquidity position of the Group, details
of which are set out in the section headed “Going Concern and
Mitigation measures” under the Corporate Governance Report of this
annual report. Please also refer to the details regarding uncertainties
on the going concern of the Group as stipulated in the section
headed “Going concern” in Note 2.1(a) to the consolidated financial
statements.

The Group’s working capital has been principally sourced from cash
generated from operations and from long-term and short-term
borrowings.

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had current liabilities of
HK$4,196.5 million, of which HK$2,493.8 million were bank and
other borrowings repayable within one year, overdue or due for
immediate repayment and HK$1,512.8 million were other payables
and accruals.

Interest rate risk

The Group's bank borrowings mainly bear floating rates. The Group
has implemented certain interest rate management which includes,
among the others, closely monitoring of interest rate movements and
refinancing on existing banking facilities or entering into new banking
facilities when good pricing opportunities arise.

Foreign currency risk

The Group's purchase and sales for the year are mainly denominated
in Renminbi (“RMB”). As at 31 December 2017, the bonds were
denominated in Hong Kong dollar (“HK$") while bank and other
borrowings were mainly denominated in RMB, and other assets and
liabilities of the Group are mainly denominated in RMB.

As at 31 December 2017, the Group did not enter into any hedging
transactions to manage the potential fluctuation in foreign currency as
the Directors considered the Group had no significant foreign currency
risk. However, the Group will closely monitor the foreign currency
risk and consider using necessary financial instruments for hedging
purposes if they foresee the foreign currency risk is significant.

Material acquisitions and disposals of investments

The Group did not undertake any material acquisitions or disposals of
investments during the year under review.
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ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES

The Board believes that a sound environmental, social and governance
("ESG") structure is vital for continued sustainable development of
the Group. Meanwhile, the Group wishes to enhance its transparency
to achieve and uplift the sense of environmental protection and
social caring amongst various stakeholders. The Group encourages
employees, customers, business partners and other stakeholders to
boost their ESG concerns in this sustainable development journey.

The Group strives to promote the overall standard of domestic
environmental protection and contribute to its green sustainable
development in order to meet the changing needs of an advancing
society. During the year, designated staff are assigned to enforce and
supervise the implementation of relevant ESG policies.

An ESG report is being prepared in accordance with the Appendix
27 Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide to the
Rules and Guidance Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and will be published on
the Company’s and the Stock Exchange’s websites. This ESG report
is designed to allow the public to have a more comprehensive
and profound understanding of the Group's performance on
environmental protection and corporate social responsibility.
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DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Dong Shutong, aged 66, was appointed as Director of the
Company on 16 March 2004 and is currently an Executive Director,
the Chairman, the Chief Executive Officer, a member of the
Remuneration Committee and the Chairman of the Nomination
Committee of the Company. He is responsible for formulating the
Group's overall business plans and strategies. Mr. Dong is the founder
of the Group. He has been the Director of Yongtong Special Steel,
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and a number
of subsidiaries of the Company since 1993. He was involved in the
management and day-to-day operations on a full time basis. He
served as the vice manager and senior economics and technology
consultant of Ministry of Metallurgical Industry Metallurgy News
Information Development Company A€ TEBASHLEE
FEAA]) in 1989. Formerly, the said company was the Ministry’s
department responsible for news and major reports about the
metallurgical industry. Mr. Dong was also appointed as the director of
Synthesis Department of the World Metallurgical Products Exhibition
in 1990. The said organization was primarily involved in the activities
relating to exhibitions of metallurgical products. In 1992, he was
appointed as the general manager of Henan Sanen Industry Sci-
Tech Industrial Company CAE =B TEREZEE R A]) . The said
company was primarily involved in research and development of
industrial technologies. Between October 1984 and April 2004, the
business of refractory materials factory, a factory principally involved in
production and management of refractory materials, was contracted
out to and managed by Mr. Dong. He was both the plant manager
and the sole legal representative of the refractory materials factory
from 1984 to 2004. He has also served as a part-time associate
professor in the field of economics at Wuhan University of Science
and Technology since 2002. He graduated from the Metallurgy
Department of Wuhan Iron and Steel College in 1989. He received
his Trade and Economics Degree from Graduate School of the
Chinese Academy of Social Sciences in 2000 too. During the years
from 1985 to 1994, he has been honoured many times by various
PRC government authorities for his outstanding achievement in
advancement of technology. He has also been awarded the “Award
for Achievement in Development of the World Patented Technologies”
for his outstanding contribution to the area of patented technologies.
In addition, he won a gold medal from Hong Kong Organising
Committee of the International Patent Technology Expo for his project
of condenser type bicomponent nozzle in 2001, and was named “The
World’s Qutstanding Chinese Entrepreneur” by the World Chinese
Entrepreneur Association in 2004. Moreover, he was appointed
as a member of Zhengzhou Overseas Exchange Association, and
was elected as a joint-committee member as well as the member
representative of Zhengzhou Enterprises Association in 2003. In
2004, he was appointed as a representative of the Zhengzhou's
Twelfth National People’s Congress. Mr. Dong was awarded one of
the Hundred Outstanding People of the Year in Industrial Economics
by the People of the Year in China’s Industrial Economics Award'’s
Organising Committee in April 2005. Mr. Dong also published two
books, CH &% &) & 1& — ¥5 18 £ B ¥ /K E) (What's behind the
New Economy — The Emergence of Spiritual Economy) in 2001 and
(Bt EEEP B EEA) (Spiritual Value and the Transformation
of the Chinese Economy) in 2002.
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Mr. Dong is the father of Mr. Dong Chengzhe, an Executive Director
of the Company. He is also the sole shareholder and sole director
of Easyman Assets Management Limited (“Easyman”), and the
substantial and controlling shareholder of the Company.

Mr. Dong Chengzhe, aged 39, was appointed as an Executive
Director of the Company on 12 March 2007 and was also appointed
as Deputy Chief Executive Officer of the Group. He graduated
from Wuhan University of Science and Technology with a Diploma
in International Trade. He also obtained a Bachelor Degree in
Accountancy from Royal Melbourne Institute of Technology and a
Master Degree of International Finance from Deakin University in
Australia. He joined the Group in 2007 and was responsible the
finance and international trading activities of Yongtong Special Steel,
an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. He was the
general manager of Yongtong Special Steel, an indirectly wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company. Prior to joining the Group, he
was an owner of an international trading company in Australia. He
is the son of Mr. Dong Shutong, Executive Director, Chairman, Chief
Executive Officer and the substantial and controlling shareholder of
the Company.

Mr. Wang Ping, aged 62, was appointed as an executive director of
the Company on 10 October 2014. Mr. Wang joined the Company as
deputy chief executive officer of the Company on 1 September 2014.
Mr. Wang graduated from the University of Science and Technology
Beijing with a doctor degree in 1991 and possessed certain
technology patents related to metallurgy of iron and steel. Mr. Wang
possesses over 24 years of experience in metallurgy of iron and steel.

Mr. Wang has held positions in various organisations, including being
associate professor and professor of Ministry of Metallurgical Industry
and commissioner of scientific research of University of Science and
Technology Beijing from 1992 to 2000. From 2000 to 2004, Mr
Wang was the general manager of Zhengzhou Yongtong Special
Steel Company Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.
From 2004 to 2006, Mr. Wang was the general manager of Shenyang
Toyo Steel Company Limited and from 2007 to 2014, as the chief
engineer and deputy chief executive officer of the metallurgy division
under Hanking Industrial Group Co., Ltd. From 2013 to 2014, Mr.
Wang acted as the executive director and chief executive officer of
PT. Karyatama Kona Utara, PT. Konutara Prima and PT. Konutara
Sejati, companies incorporated in Indonesia and are the subsidiaries
of China Hanking Holdings Limited (stock code: 03788) whose shares
are listed on the Stock Exchange, and was responsible for their overall
management and daily operation.

From 2009 to 2013, Mr. Wang was also an non-executive director
of Shandong Molong Petroleum Machinery Company Limited (stock
code: 002490 and 0568), which shares are listed on Shenzhen Stock
Exchange and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
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Mr. Song Wenzhou, aged 49, was appointed as an Executive
Director of the Company on 2 May 2005 and is responsible for the
Group's administrative, marketing and staff development matters.
Prior to joining the Group in July 1995, he had been a teacher at the
Zhengzhou Institute of Technology. He graduated from Beijing Open
University in 1987 with a Bachelor Degree in Linguistics and Phonetics.
He also received his Bachelor Degree in Chinese Language and
Literature from Henan Normal University in 1992 and Bachelor Degree
in Legal Studies from Central Broadcast and Television University in
2003. Since joining the Group in 1995 until February 2004, Mr. Song
was also responsible for the administrative matters at the refractory
materials factory.

Mr. Yang Fei, aged 40, was appointed as an Executive Director of the
Company on 30 August 2010 and was also appointed as Authorised
Representative of the Company on 1 August 2011. He has joined
the Company as the assistant to the Chairman of the Company
since 2006 and was also appointed as the Company Secretary and
Authorised Representative of the wholly owned subsidiary, Zhengzhou
Yongtong Special Steel Co., Ltd. Mr. Yang was the manager of the
Information Technology Department (October 2002 to August 2003)
and the general manager of the Market Development Department
(August 2003 to August 2006) of China Life — CMG Life Assurance
Company Limited. Prior to joining China Life — CMG Life Assurance
Company Limited, Mr. Yang was the assistant manager of the
International Business Department of Guangdong Branch, China Life
Insurance Company Limited from August 1998 to June 2001. Mr.
Yang graduated with a Bachelor Degree in Economics from Beijing
University in June 1998 and a Master of Science Degree in Economics
from London School of Economics and Political Science in June 2002.
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Non-executive Director

Mr. Yang Tianjun, aged 74, was appointed as a Non-executive
Director of the Company on 2 May 2005. He joined the Group in
2005. Mr. Yang worked in Ministry of Metallurgy Forty Company
(A& 3P Z A a]) and then in Angang Steelwork (&2 8 5k £ i )
for a total of 14 years as a technician and then an engineer. He was
the Principal of University of Beijing Science and Technology for the
period from 1993 to July 2004, and has been a professor and mentor
of doctorate students of the Metallurgy Department of University of
Beijing Science and Technology until retirement in February 2015.
Since 1989, he was honoured with nine first-grade, second-grade
or third-grade State Scientific and Technological Progress Awards in
both national and provincial levels for his outstanding contributions to
the State by conducting scientific researches in metallurgical projects.
He was the Chairman of Sino-German Co-operative Research Project
studying the multi-purpose uses of niobium. He was invited by the
Research Institute of Industrial Science and Technology of Korea
to lead the research in air-refined coal spray in blast furnace, and
participated in a research with the Metallurgical Research Institute in
coal spray in blast furnace and the mathematical model. He published
over 70 academic papers locally or overseas and 6 books specialised in
metallurgy. He was appointed as the vice chairman of Chinese Society
of Metals in 2001 and a member of the Fifth Graduate Committee of
the State Council (B17%Ft 2% &€ ) in 2003.

Mr. Yang graduated in 1965 from the Metallurgical Department of
Beijing Iron and Steel College. He completed his postgraduate study
in 1981 and obtained a Master Degree in Metallurgy from the Beijing
Iron and Steel Institute. In 1985, he was granted scholarship from
Humboldt-University zu Berlin and conducted a joint research with the
RWTH-Aachen University in Germany, and was awarded a Doctorate
Degree in 1986.

Mr. Yang was the independent directors of Xinyu Iron & Steel Group
Co., Ltd. (Fréeafi AR AR A F]) , Gansu Jiu Steel Group Hongxing
Iron & Steel Co., Ltd. (H &8 & B 2 E il gD AR A F]) and
BGRIMM Magnetic Materials and Technology Co., Ltd. (It &R # &l
FRRDBBRAF]) . All of these companies are listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange. Mr. Yang resigned from the position of independent
directors of all these companies in December 2015.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Bai Baohua, aged 76, was appointed as an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company on 2 May 2005. He is also a
member of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee of the Company. He has almost 46 years’
experience in the metallurgy. He worked as an engineer, a manager
and then the general manager of China Metallurgical Products’
Import & Export Company (FRBE&#E L B AF]), a company
primarily involved in the trading of metals. He was also appointed
as the general manager of China International Steel Investment
Company (BIEIER 8 ##2& A 7)), a company primarily involved
in promotion of foreign investment in the steel industry in the PRC.
In addition, he was the general manager, the vice chairman and the
legal representative of China Iron and Steel Industry and Trade Group
Corporation, a company primarily involved in production and trade of
steel. He graduated from the Metal Pressure Processing Department at
Beijing Iron and Steel College in 1965.

Mr. Huang Changhuai, aged 82, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company on 2 May 2005. He is the
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the
Audit Committee and Nomination Committee of the Company. He
worked for a printing and dyeing mill as production supervisor, a
political director and then deputy director. He was appointed the
deputy director of the Municipal Economic System Reform Committee
of Zhengzhou Municipal Government, and as the director of the
Municipal Industrial and Communication Development Committee at
the Third Session of the Eighth People’s Congress of Zhengzhou City
in 1985. He was then appointed at the Twelfth Session of the Eighth
People’s Congress of Zhengzhou City as the director of the city's
Economic Committee in 1986. He was also appointed the deputy
director of the Standing Committee of the People’s Congress of
Zhengzhou City. He graduated in September 1958 from Zhengzhou
Textile School.

Mr. Wong Chi Keung, FCCA, FCPA, ACMA, ACIS, aged 63, was
appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company
on 2 May 2005. He is the Chairman of the Audit Committee
and a member of the Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee of the Company. He joined the Company in May 2005.
Mr. Wong holds a Master Degree in Business Administration from
University of Adelaide in Australia. He is a Fellow Member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants and CPA Australia. He is also
an Associate Member of both the Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and Administrators and the Chartered Institute of Management
Accountants. Mr. Wong was an executive director, the deputy
general manager, group financial controller and company secretary
of Guangzhou Investment Company Limited (now known as Yuexiu
Property Company Limited) for over ten years. Mr. Wong has over 40
years of experience in finance, accounting and management.
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Mr. Wong is currently an independent non-executive director and
a member of the audit committee of Asia Orient Holdings Limited,
Asia Standard International Group Limited, Century City International
Holdings Limited, China Shanshui Cement Group Limited, China
Ting Group Holdings Limited, Fortunet e-Commerce Group Limited,
Golden Eagle Retail Group Limited, Paliburg Holdings Limited, Regal
Hotels International Holdings Limited, TPV Technology Limited, Yuan
Heng Gas Holdings Limited and Zhuguang Holdings Group Company
Limited, all of which are listed on the Stock Exchange. He was
formerly an independent non-executive director of ENM Holdings
Limited, the shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange, from 17
June 2010 to 8 June 2017, and independent non-executive director
of Heng Xin China Holdings Limited, the shares of which are listed
on the Stock Exchange, from 17 October 2016 to 18 September
2017. He was also formerly an independent non-executive director of
First Natural Foods Holdings Limited* (now known as Imperial Pacific
International Holdings Limited), the shares of which are listed on the
Stock Exchange, from 26 November 2007 to 21 November 2013, and
formerly an independent non-executive director of FU JI Food and
Catering Services Holdings Limited** (now known as Fresh Express
Delivery Holdings Group Co., Limited), the shares of which are listed
on the Stock Exchange, from 22 November 2004 to 24 June 2011.

3 Based on the published information, First Natural Foods Holdings Limited (“FNF")
(now known as Imperial Pacific International Holdings Limited), a company of
which Mr. Wong has been an independent non-executive director and a chairman
since 26 November 2007 and up to 21 November 2013 and since 9 October 2009
and up to 4 September 2012 respectively, was incorporated in Bermuda on 27
July 2001 and is an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries are principally
engaged in the processing and trading of food products mainly including frozen
and functional food products.

The shares of FNF are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1076) and have
been suspended from trading upon the request of FNF since 15 December 2008.
On 6 January 2009, FNF presented a winding-up petition (the “Petition”) to the
High Court of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (the “High Court”)
and Messrs. Stephen Liu Yiu Keung and David Yen Ching Wai of Ernst & Young
Transactions Limited were appointed joint and several provisional liquidators of
FNF. The Petition was filed with the High Court on 7 January 2009 to effect the
appointment.

As at the date of the Petition, the total amount of outstanding bank loans was
approximately HK$235 million, excluding a disputed claim arising from a notice of
early termination of a US$ interest swap agreement served by a commercial bank
with a carrying amount exceeding US$15.9 million.

At the court hearing held on 4 September 2012, the High Court granted an order
that the Petition be dismissed and the Provisional Liquidators have been discharged
with effect from 4 September 2012. Following the completion of the group
reorganisation of FNF, with effect from 4 September 2012, Mr. Wong has resigned
as the chairman of the Board but would continue to serve as an independent non—
executive director of FNF. The trading in the shares of FNF on the Stock Exchange
was resumed on 6 September 2012.
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N FU JI Food and Catering Services Holdings Limited (“FU JI”), a company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability and its shares are listed
on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1175), of which Mr. Wong has been an
independent non-executive director since 22 November 2004 and up to 24 June
2011, presented a petition to the High Court to wind up FU JI, and the petition
was filed with the High Court on 19 October 2009 and provisional liquidators
were appointed on the same date. Based on the information published by FU JI in
its 2008 annual report, it is a holding company and its subsidiaries are principally
engaged in the provision of catering services, operations of Chinese restaurants
and theme restaurants and production and sales of convenience food products
and other related businesses.

The High Court has on 2 July 2013 granted an order to dismiss the winding-up
petition against FU JI and to discharge the Provisional Liquidators from office with
immediate effect.

The trading in the shares of FU JI on the Stock Exchange had been suspended
since 29 July 2009 and was resumed on 8 July 2013.

Mr. Fahmi Idris, aged 74, was appointed as an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company on 24 August 2010. Mr. Idris
graduated with a Degree in Law from University of Padjadjaran
in 2010 and a Degree in Economics from University of Indonesia
in 1969. He is currently the Commissioner of Maskapai Asuransi
Parolamas (an insurance company), PT. Parama Bina Tani (an
agrochemical company), PT. Kodel Invesindo Nusa (a trading and
investment company), PT. Krama Yudha (an automotive company)
and the President Commissioner of PT. Permadani Khatulistiwa
Nusantara (a hotel and tourism company), PT. Permadani Propertindo
Development (a property company), PT. Tamarindo Nusa Hotel, PT.
Permadani Khatulistiva Dewata (a hotel and tourism company) and
PT. Kodel (a trade and investment company). From 1981 to 1987, he
was the President Commissioner of PT. Encontrade Pratama Indonesia
(an engineering and construction of electrical and mechanical
installation company). From 1984 to 1987, he was the Vice President
Commissioner of PT. Wahana Muda Indonesia (a construction and
engineering firm). From 1986 to 1992, he was the Commissioner
of Bank Susila Bhakti. From 1987 to 1990, he was the President of
PT. Permadani Teleconsult Pratama. From 1987 to 2004, he was the
President Director of PT. Niigata Santana (a diesel engine and injection
and moulding machine manufacturing company). From 1991 to 2003,
he was the President Commissioner of PT. Bintara Tani Nusantara (a
company engages in the plantation of palm oil and cocoa). From 1991
to 1994, he was the Commissioner of PT. Java Indonusa Motors and
from 2000 to 2003, he was the President Commissioner of PT. Kodel
Margahayu Telindo.
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Mr. Idris is currently a member of the Board of Fund Supporters of
Andalas University, Padang, West Sumatera. From 1967 to 1968, he
was Member of People’s Consultative Assembly of the Republic of
Indonesia. From 1987 to 2004, he was a member of Parliament of
the Republic of Indonesia. From 1967 to 1968, he was the Treasurer
of the Indonesian Chambers of Commerce and Industry. From 1994
to 1998, he was the Vice Chairman of the Supervisory Council
Indonesian Chamber of Commerce and Industry. Mr. Idris was the
Minister of Manpower of the Republic of Indonesia from 1998 to
1999 and from 2004 to 2005, he was also the Ministry of Industry of
the Republic of Indonesia from 2005 to 2009.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Choi Kwok Keung Sanvic, was appointed as the financial
controller and the company secretary of the Company with effect
from 3 June 2014. Mr. Choi, aged 50, is a qualified accountant
and a fellow member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. He has extensive experience in financial and auditing
field, and has experience in the position of the financial controller and
the company secretary in Hong Kong listed company.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee pursuant to a resolution
of the Directors passed on 2 May 2005 in compliance with Rule 3.21
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
(the “Listing Rules”). The primary duties of the audit committee are to
review the financial reporting process and internal control procedures
of the Group. The audit committee consists of three Independent
Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wong Chi Keung, Mr. Bai
Baohua and Mr. Huang Changhuai. Mr. Wong Chi Keung was elected
chairman of the audit committee.

The audit committee’s specific terms of reference were posted on the
Company'’s website.
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Report of the Directors

EFEHES

The Directors present their report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2017.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Company are investment holding and
trading of ore. The Group is principally engaged in the manufacturing,
sub-contracting and sale of iron and steel products in the PRC and the
trading of ore. Details of the principal activities of the subsidiaries are
set out in Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year and a
discussion of the Group's future business development are set out
in the Chairman’s Statement on pages 9 to 10 of this annual report.
Description of the possible risks and uncertainties facing by the Group,
the Group's performance during the year and the key financial ratios
are set out in the Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 12
to 35 of this annual report.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’s revenue and loss for the year ended 31 December 2017
were primarily derived from the manufacturing, sub-contracting and
sale of iron and special steel products to customers. Accordingly, no
segmental analysis by business is presented for the year ended 31
December 2017. Geographical information analysis is set out in Note
5 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2017 are
set out in the consolidated income statement on page 81.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2017 (2016: Nil).
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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING AND CLOSURE OF
REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The Annual General Meeting (the “AGM") of the Company will be
held on Wednesday, 20 June 2018.

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Wednesday, 13 June 2018 to Wednesday, 20 June 2018, both days
inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares of the Company
will be registered. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the
AGM, all transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged with the Company’s share register in Hong Kong,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at 17M Floor,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong no
later than 3:00 p.m. on Monday, 18 June 2018.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of the assets, liabilities and
non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years is
disclosed on pages 4 to 5 of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Company and of the Group during the year are set out in Note 14 to
the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL, SHARE OPTIONS AND
CONVERTIBLE BONDS

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital, share options
and convertible bonds during the year are set out in Notes 29, 31 and
28 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT
The Company has maintained a sufficient public float throughout the
year ended 31 December 2017 and up to the latest practicable date
prior to the printing of this annual report.
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PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company's listed securities during the
year.

EQUITY LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for convertible bonds and share options granted to directors
and employees as disclosed in notes 28 and 31 respectively to the
consolidated financial statements, no equity-linked agreements were
entered into by the Group, or existed during the year ended 31
December 2017.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and of the
Group during the year are set out in Note 36 to the consolidated
financial statements and consolidated statement of changes in equity
set out on pages 85 to 86, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2017, the Company'’s reserves, including the share
premium account, available for distribution, calculated in accordance
with the provisions of Companies Law (2007 Revision) of the Cayman
Islands, amounted to HK$nil.

Under the laws of the Cayman Islands, the share premium account
and contributed surplus are distributable to the shareholders of the
Company provided that immediately following the date on which
the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be
in a position to pay off its debts as and when they fall due in the
ordinary course of business. The share premium account may also be
distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares.

The reserves of the Group available for distribution depend on the
dividend distributable by the Company’s subsidiaries. For dividend
purpose, the amount which the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC
can legally be distributed by way of a dividend is determined by
reference to their profits as reflected in the PRC statutory financial
statements which are prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the PRC. These profits differ from
those that are reflected in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements prepared in accordance with IFRS.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group’s four largest customers
and to the largest customer accounted for 70% and 20% of the total
sales for the year respectively. Purchases from the Group's five largest
suppliers and from the largest supplier accounted for 20% and 7% of
the total purchases for the year respectively.

Apart from the information as disclosed in the paragraphs headed
“CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS” and “DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS” in the Report
of the Directors, none of the Directors or any of their associates or
any shareholders of the Company (which, to the best knowledge of
the Directors, owned more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital) had any beneficial interest in any of the Group’s five largest
suppliers or customers.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and as at the date of the report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Dong Shutong (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Dong Chengzhe (Deputy Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Wang Ping (Deputy Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Song Wenzhou

Mr. Yang Fei

Non-executive Director
Mr. Yang Tianjun

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Bai Baohua

Mr. Huang Changhuai

Mr. Wong Chi Keung

Mr. Fahmi Idris

Pursuant to article 87 of the Company’s article of association, Mr.
Song Wenzhou, Mr. Yang Fei, Mr. Bai Baohua and Mr. Fahmi Idris,
will retire as Directors by rotation at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company. All retiring Directors, being eligible for re-
election, will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting. The Company has received annual
confirmation of independence from Mr. Bai Bachua, Mr. Huang
Changhuai, Mr. Wong Chi Keung and Mr. Fahmi Idris and considers
them to be independent.

Annual Report 2017

FEEFRMER

REBEFER AEEBRNAREFERREARLZ
HEBEN MG ARFEREERE 270%K%20% ° &
SEMAAHERREARER ZHKBES BIL
RFERIRERE 220% M7% °

BRTREZEREEP [MERXS] REERX
Z THRAN S MEAEBECERIN &
EAREF 2 EMBEALAREEMBR (RE
EFRA BEARB D EHITRAS%IA L) HHER
AEBEAARERRELPTHRAEMNEDES-

=
RAFERRABREAHMZEER:

BITES

EERRE (ZTEFREE)
Sk E (BIAEE)
F¥RE (FlAEE)
R M P&

BREE

FHITES
BRATE

BAFHTES
AEELLE
EEERE
mZ@EE
EARTE

RIBARREIRMANZE7 R RXMEL - HRE
£ AREEENEREEANRARRRERR
BFREGRETEFTRG -MBEREREREL
REEEHBEENEERRBEFRSEBERET-
AABEWBIBRELLE BERLLE FZRE
EREREE 2 FRERAEARRBEBILME &K
NEIRBEEB/BILAL

Nickel Resources International Holdings Company Limited 47



Report of the Directors

EFEHES

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and Senior Management are set
out on pages 36 to 43 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has entered into a service contract with
the Company which is not determinable by the Company within
one year without payment of compensation other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION

The remuneration of the Directors is determined by the Remuneration
Committee with reference to the Directors’ duties, responsibilities and
performance and the results of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

On 5 March 2007, SEAM, an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company, entered into the EOA with Yiwan, a limited company
incorporated in Indonesia and substantially owned by Mr. Soen Bin
Kuan, who at 31 December 2017 and the date of this report holds
more than 5% of the issued share capital of the Company. Pursuant
to the EOA, Yiwan agreed to exclusively sell and SEAM agreed to buy
the iron ores produced by Yiwan at a fixed price of US$16 per dry
tonne, for a minimum 40 million dry tonnes of iron ores throughout a
period of approximately 14 years expiring on 24 January 2021, which
has subsequently been extended by a supplemental agreement to
24 January 2036. Pursuant to the recommendation letter issued by
the Minister of Mineral and Coal on 25 June 2012 to the Minister of
Commerce which granted the export approval to Yiwan, the export
price of iron ore was changed to US$23.5 commencing from 1 July
2012. By virtue of the convertible bonds issued by Yiwan to S.E.A.
Mining Limited which is indirectly substantially owned by Mr. Dong
Shutong, Executive Director and Chairman of the Board, Mr. Dong
has an indirect interest in the EOA. Further details of the transaction
undertaken in connection therewith are included in Note 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Save for contracts amongst group companies and the aforementioned
transaction and in the paragraph headed “CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS” as set out on page 54 of this annual report, no
other transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party in which a director
of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES
As at 31 December 2017, the interests and short positions of the
Directors in the shares, underlying shares (in respect of positions
held pursuant to equity derivatives) and debentures of the Company
and its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO")) which (a) were required
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions which they are taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO); or (b) were required, pursuant to Section 352
of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (c)
were required, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing
Rules (the “Model Code"), to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange were as follows:

() Long positions in the shares of the Company as at
31 December 2017:

Capacity in which interest

EERRMD HEROREEIZERR
RE

RZE—+F+_A=+—H EFRERAX
HEREEE (EERESLBAEGEN ([FHKE
BIEG) 1) EBXVER) < Ik th - BRI (SRARR AR #E
METEFENFEEMES ) REEET HEQIR
ERE S RSB EXVERE TR E8D ERA MG AN
NE MR B xR (B IERIEFEH K& H
BRIl BB EEREFIRIEERS 2R
KMKR) b iRIERE F & B E 55 535216 T
BAHIAZIEB ATl &R M 2 S AR (ORI
ERAIMEI0FE 2 EMEITAERETES
R GRIEESTRI ([1R2E<FR) ) BME A RQ B R
R BmBABIT

o

) R-B—tF+-A=+—BREAT
BHZEA:

Approximate
percentage to

the issued
voting shares

Name of Directors are held Number of shares of the Company

HARDNTEEHTH

BEREERGOZ

BN BERZZE5H RHEE BABEDL

Dong Shutong Held by controlled corporations (note) 1,465,898,410 47 .47 %
EEM® BRXEEEEE (i)

Dong Chengzhe Beneficial owner 1,500,000 0.05%

2t EmBEAEA
Note: As at 31 December 2017, 1,441,042,410 shares and 24,856,000 shares

were held by Easyman and Sino Regent Worldwide Limited (“Sino
Regent”), respectively. As the entire issued share capital of each of
Easyman and Sino Regent is held by Mr. Dong, Mr. Dong is deemed to be
beneficially interested in such Shares by virtue of the SFO.
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(ii) Long positions in the underlying shares (in respect

50

of positions held pursuant to equity derivatives) of

(i) R=FT—tF+=A=+-BRFALT
ARG (RIBERREITE TAREM

the Company as at 31 December 2017: BHRMS)ZHR:

Approximate

percentage to

Number of the issued

Capacity in which interest share options voting shares

Name of Directors are held (note) of the Company

EAERFSHITH

BREHE BEREERGZ

EEMA BERERZSH (HiaE) BHABE D

Dong Shutong Held by spouse 1,700,000 0.06%
EER HEBEA

Dong Chengzhe Beneficial owner 1,500,000 0.05%
EE EmEEA

Song Wenzhou Beneficial owner 1,500,000 0.05%
RS EnfB A

Yang Fei Beneficial owner 1,500,000 0.05%
EFi EmEEA

Note: The share options are unlisted equity-settled options granted pursuant to
the Company's share option scheme adopted on 2 May 2005 and expired
on 2 May 2015. Upon exercise of the share options in accordance with
such share option scheme. Shares are issuable to the option holder(s) who
exercise(s) the rights.

RERERZERARAR

M ZSEREARBEARFANR-_ZTZTRFAA_-A
RBRR_Z—RFEHhA - AEn 2 BRETS
B Z I Em AR SN 2 B - IRIB B X
RERTBITT B AETR - AT AT A BRI B AR

RRBANBITRND

T EFEERE



Report of the Directors

EFEHRESE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS

AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES (IN RESPECT OF POSITIONS
HELD PURSUANT TO EQUITY DERIVATIVES) OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31 December 2017, shareholders (other than the interest
disclosed above in respect of the Director who is also a substantial
shareholder of the Company) who had interests and short positions in
the shares and underlying shares (in respect of positions held pursuant
to equity derivatives) of the Company which have been disclosed to
the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company under Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Long positions in the shares and underlying shares (in
respect of positions held pursuant to equity derivatives)
of the Company as at 31 December 2017:

FERRRAQATRMD REERD (AR
BRETETABANEAMS) P2k

wmRAR

R-ZF—tF+-_A=1T—H BR(FEELX
BERBESARBREIZRRZEZMIER) XA
RERG AR (MRERETETARA
MIBAME )T - BERIZRES MG 5REIEXVER
F2RFINEZREC AAR A - HFERA
RARBESMAEIGRDIEIBFRERFEZE
AEff Az s FoA BRI T -

R-ZB-—tF+ZA=1T-—BREQTIARG
REERS (BRERETETIARENER
mME)ZER:

Number of shares/

underlying shares Approximate
(in respect of percentage to
positions held the issued
pursuant to equity voting shares
Name of Shareholders Capacity in which interest are held derivatives) of the Company
R4 AEB R 12
(MARE R HARDAFDBHITH
FTETRABAEN ERERERGZ
BEERA BEEEZEH0 BEmS)#E BABEDE
Easyman Beneficial owner 1,441,042,410 46.66%
EmEBA
Soen Bin Kuan Beneficial owner 182,734,104 5.92%
TR ERnBBA
Sun Qiaodian (note 1) Beneficial owner 1,700,000 (note 2) 0.06%
BIogh (FIsE 1) EmEBA (MI5E 2)
Held by spouse 1,465,898,410 47 A7 %
HEERE
Notes: B 5 -
1. Ms. Sun Qiaodian is the spouse of Mr. Dong Shutong, whose interest was 1. ROBZ Lt HEEREEZRE EXENESENAT—
disclosed in previous section. B B o
2. The share option are unlisted equity-settled options granted pursuant to the 2. ZEBRERBRBARTNN_ZEZRFRA_HERMAR

Company'’s share option scheme adopted on 2 May 2005 and expired on 2 May
2015. Upon exercise of the share options in accordance with such share option
scheme. Shares are issuable to the option holder(s) who exercise(s) the rights.

R-F-—hAFAA-—AERZBREFEREZIFELN
ARSI 2 BB R - IR X BT BT (IR
A ATTE A BARE R AV B AR AR B A BT R AD
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Save as disclosed above, so far as was known to the Directors, there
was no other person who, as at 31 December 2017, had an interest
or short position in the shares, underlying shares (in respect of
positions held pursuant to equity derivatives) and debentures which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or, who was, directly or
indirectly, beneficially interested in 5% or more of the issued voting
shares of the Company; or were, directly or indirectly, interested
in 10% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital
carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any
member of the Group.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on 2 May 2005, the
Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) for the purpose of enabling the Company to recruit and
retain high-calibre employees and attract resources that are valuable
to the Group and to provide the Company with a means of giving
incentive to, rewarding, remunerating, compensating and/or providing
benefits to such persons who contribute or may bring benefit to the
Group. The Share Option Scheme remained in force for a period of 10
years from adoption of such scheme and expired on 2 May 2015.
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The options granted under the Share Option Scheme have an exercise 1R HERT 21 2 16570 IRIZE R 2B 2B
period of 10 years from the date of acceptance of the options, which ~ RX# Z 1T S E MBI E S Bt A8 +45
is in compliance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme, subject S A F R B RATR - FRILL - £20% 2 &A% 42
to a vesting schedule of 5 years whereby only 20% of the options is ~ AI A A RIS B 1218 A& 17{E - mAR AT
exercisable 12 months after the date of acceptance of the options and A EEZE 2 —F1TFREIN0%EIE B EEIRE
an additional 20% of the options shall be exercisable by the grantee EEZMBHERFH KE—BHATE2IE
in each subsequent year until the last day of the 5-year period after — P&#E o E AR D FIEIRE 2 S B FIFWT -

the date of acceptance of the options when 100% of the options

become exercisable. Details of movements in the Company’s share

options during the year are as follows:

No. of share options

BREYR
Price of
Exercise Company’s
Outstanding Outstanding price of shares at
as at Granted Exercised Lapsed as at share exercise date
1 January during the during the during the 31 December options of options
2017 period period period 2017 (note 1) (note 2)
RARRH
R=B-t% R=B-t% BREZ RiERE
-A-H +-A=1+-AR fTEE TERNRE
HRTE RBRET REARTR RBREN HRTE (GER)) (H3E2)
HKS HKS
B B
Directors Ez
Mr. Dong Chengzhe BYmik 1,275,000 - - (1,275,000) = 191 NATE S
1,500,000 - - - 1,500,000 0.63 NATE R
Mr. Song Wenzhou RN 4 1,500,000 - - - 1,500,000 063 NATE S
Mr. Yang Fei BREE 1,275,000 S - (1,275,000) - 1.91 NATER
1,500,000 - - - 1,500,000 063 NAT R
Sub-total for number of BRYES/BRE
share options to Directors EERSY 7,050,000 - - (2,550,000) 4,500,000 - -
Other employees HttfES 6,885,000 - = (300,000) 6,585,000 245 NATEA
24,600,000 - - (2,300,000) 22,300,000 0.63 NATER
Sub-total for number of RYEMEEZ
share options to other employees  BIRIEHE /it 31,485,000 - - (2,600,000) 28,885,000
Total @it 38,535,000 S S (5,150,000) 33,385,000
Notes: B 5
1. The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in the case of rights 1. BRI 2 T E A s A AR S AT AR B A TR A R AR AR 2
or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company's share capital. Hi USSR

2. The price of the shares of the Company as at the date of exercise of the share 2. RARRERETEBH I REREEBRETEES
options is the Stock Exchange's closing price on the trading date immediately prior AMZRPB BRI TE-
to the date on which the share options were exercised.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the Share Option Scheme as set out in Note 31
to the consolidated financial statements, at no time during the year
ended 31 December 2017 was the Company, its holding company,
or any of its subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Pursuant to the extraordinary general meetings of the Company
held on 28 January 2010 and 22 June 2012, the Company’s
independent shareholders approved the continuing connected
transactions in relation to the exclusive ores purchase from Yiwan.
According to the EOA and supplemental agreements entered into
between Yiwan and SEAM in connection with the purchasing of ore,
Yiwan agreed to supply ore to the Group until 24 January 2036.
According to the EOA and supplemental agreements, the prices for
these continuing connected transactions would be US$16 per dry
tonne and subsequently adjusted to the new export price (“New
Export Price”) pursuant to the recommendation letter issued by the
Minister of Mineral and Coal on 25 June 2012 to the Minister of
Commerce of Indonesia. Pursuant to the terms of the EOA, SEAM
and Yiwan may agree to alter the purchase price if being directed by
the relevant governmental authorities. Since the New Export Price is a
price directed by the relevant governmental authorities of Indonesia,
SEAM and Yiwan have agreed to adopt the New Export Price as the
ore purchase price commencing from 1 July 2012 under the EOA.
These transactions will be entered into in usual and ordinary course
of business of the Group and the annual cap for these transactions
for the years ended 31 December 2012, 2013 and 2014 will not
exceed HK$998.4 million, HK$1,248 million and HK$1,248 million,
respectively. After the Export Ban, the Group did not purchase any ore
from Yiwan during the year ended 31 December 2017.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, none of the related party

transactions constitutes a continuing connected transactions or
connected transaction as defined under the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING BUSINESS
During the year, none of the Directors had any interest in a business
which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the businesses of the Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for
Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its
Directors and officers arising from corporate activities. The permitted
indemnity provision is in force for the benefit of the Directors and
officers throughout the year and remained in force up to the date of
this report.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Details of the significant events after the reporting period of the
Group are set out in Note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee pursuant to a resolution
of the Directors passed on 2 May 2005 in compliance with Rule 3.21
of the Listing Rules. The primary duties of the audit committee are to
review the financial reporting process and internal control procedures
of the Group.

The audit committee consists of Mr. Wong Chi Keung, Mr. Bai Baohua
and Mr. Huang Changhuai — Independent Non-executive Directors of
the Company and Mr. Wong Chi Keung is the Chairman of the audit
committee.

The audit committee has reviewed with management the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group and discussed auditing,
internal control and financial reporting matters including the review of
the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a remuneration committee pursuant to a
resolution of the Directors passed on 10 April 2006 in compliance
with the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 of
the Listing rules (“CG Code").

The remuneration committee consists of Mr. Wong Chi Keung, Mr. Bai
Baohua, Mr. Huang Changhuai — Independent Non-executive Directors
of the Company and Mr. Dong Shutong — Executive Director of the
Company. Mr. Huang Changhuai is the chairman of the remuneration
committee.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a nomination committee pursuant to
a resolution of the Directors passed on 30 December 2011 in
compliance with the CG Code.

The nomination committee consists of Mr. Wong Chi Keung, Mr. Bai
Baohua, Mr. Huang Changhuai — Independent Non-executive Directors
of the Company and Mr. Dong Shutong — Executive Director of the
Company. Mr. Dong Shutong is the chairman of the nomination
committee.

EMPLOYEES REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had approximately 980
employees, of whom 30 were management personnel. The
remuneration policy of the Group to reward its employees and
Executive Directors is based on their performance, qualifications,
competence displayed, market comparable and the performance of
the Group. Remuneration packages typically comprise salary, housing
allowances, discretionary bonus, other fringe benefits and the Group's
contribution to retirement benefits schemes. The remuneration
of Executive Directors/senior management are determined by the
Remuneration Committee which will review them regularly.

AUDITOR
The financial statements have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers
who retires and being eligible, offers themselves for re-appointment.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Dong Shutong
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

28 March 2018
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Corporate Governance Report
ERELWE

The Company recognises the value and importance of achieving
high corporate governance standards to enhance corporate
performance, transparency and accountability, earning the confidence
of shareholders and the public. The Board strives to adhere to the
principles of corporate governance and adopt sound corporate
governance practices to meet the legal and commercial standards
by focusing on areas such as internal control, fair disclosure and
accountability to all shareholders.

COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
CODE

The Company has applied the principles and complied with the code
provisions of the CG Code throughout the year ended 31 December
2017 except for code provisions A.1.1, A.2.1 and A.4.1, details of
which are disclosed below. Save for deviation from code provisions
A.1.1, A2.1 and A.4.1, in the opinion of the Board, the Company has
been in compliance with the CG Code in all material respects.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The overall management of the Company’s operation is vested
in the Board. The Board takes responsibility to oversee all major
matters of the Company, including the formulation and approval
of all policy matters, overall strategies, internal control and risk
management systems, and monitoring of the performance of the
senior management. The Directors make decisions objectively in the
interests of the Company. Currently, the Board comprises 10 Directors,
including 5 Executive Directors, 1 Non-executive Director and 4
Independent Non-executive Directors:

ARBRRAEISKELERE ACEBERERNE
HAEPRRAGERR ERELHERIEENE
BERREAZNEL-EFEHNETEEER
ZRATRMGEZEREAERUTEIEER
BEEE HEINHESEAEDR 2 FEE
A EEERER-

EFhEERTA

BHEZ—+H+-"A=+—HIEAFE AQ
A HEACEEARTRIZRAETEEEARST
Bl 2 SPAMEST  HESFRIMESTE AL ~A2.1KRA 41
IRBRIN - BT - BRIRBETAMEXE AT A2,
RAANVEZIN BEERE AARESERNSE
—EHEBETREEARTA -

EEg
EXe2RAEARRKERBNERER &
EZRARERARAMATIESRR BREHER
WEMABEKEE BREKK AFEZERERE
BES AREBRREBENRR -EFREAR
AMAREREBENRE-EFERRAE T A
EF NEA/ANTES —BARFNTES 4
RBIIFRITES:

Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Dong Shutong (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) EERAE (FEFAH)
Mr. Dong Chengzhe (Deputy Chief Executive Officer) B (B4R

Mr. Wang Ping (Deputy Chief Executive Officer) TVRA (BI#EE)

Mr. Song Wenzhou RN A4

Mr. Yang Fei BRI E
Non-executive Director FEHITES

Mr. Yang Tianjun HBRB LA
Independent Non-executive Directors BYEHTES

Mr. Bai Baohua HRERSE

Mr. Huang Changhuai mEMLA

Mr. Wong Chi Keung BZREE

Mr. Fahmi Idris EREAE
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Their biographical details and relationships (some of the Directors are
related to each other) are set out in the section entitled “Directors,
Senior Management and Audit Committee” in this annual report.

The Board delegates the authority and responsibility for implementing
day-to-day operations, business strategies and management of the
Group’s businesses to the Executive Directors, senior management
and certain specific responsibilities to the Board committees.

Composition and Appointment

As at 31 December 2017, the Board comprises 10 Directors, including
five Executive Directors, 1 Non-executive Director and 4 Independent
Non-executive Directors.

The Company has complied with Rules 3.10 (1) and (2) of the Listing
Rules of having three Independent Non-executive Directors and one
of the Independent Non-executive Directors possesses the requisite
appropriate professional qualifications. The Board confirmed that
the independence and eligibility of the Independent Non-executive
Directors are in compliance with the relevant requirements of the
Listing Rules.

Save that Mr. Dong Shutong and Mr. Dong Chengzhe are father and
son, the Directors confirmed that there was no connection amongst
the Directors that should be disclosed relating to finance, business,
relation or other significant events or relevant matters.

The Board has effectively overseen and monitored the activities of
the Company and the decisions were made in the best interests of
the Company. During the year, the Board convened a total of 11
meetings, performing its duties in considering, inter alia, discloseable
transactions and financial and other matters under the provisions of
the articles of association of the Company. If a Director has a conflict
of interest in relation to a transaction or proposal to be considered
by the Board, the individual is required to declare such interest
and to abstain from voting. The matter is considered at a Board
meeting attended by Directors who have no material interest in the
transaction.
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During the year, 11 Board meetings, 2 of which were reqular FR BFEZM+—Xez HPRMLAHE:

meetings, were held and the attendance of each Director is set outas & EZHFLH 2B REFIWT :
follows:

Times of attendance/
No. of meetings held during

Name of Directors the tenure of directorship Title
HERE THRESHB
EEpE BERRE B
Dong Shutong 10/11 Chairman, Executive Director, Chief Executive Officer
BE® ITEBITES B
Dong Chengzhe 3/11 Executive Director, Deputy Chief Executive Officer
=7 WITES Bl
Wang Ping 1711 Executive Director, Deputy Chief Executive Officer
¥ WMITES  BIAH
Song Wenzhou 2/11 Executive Director
RSN WITES
Yang Fei 11/11 Executive Director
[N BWITES
Yang Tianjun /11 Non-executive Director
BRE FHITEE
Bai Baohua 2/11 Independent Non-executive Director
BRE BUFHNTES
Huang Changhuai 2/11 Independent Non-executive Director
HEE BIUFHNTEF
Wong Chi Keung 3/11 Independent Non-executive Director
"R BUFHNTES
Fahmi Idris /11 Independent Non-executive Director
EK BUFHNTEF
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Only 2 regular Board meetings were held as the Company does not
announce its quarterly results and hence not consider the holding
of quarterly meetings as necessary. This constitutes a deviation from
Code Provision A.1.1.

Under Code Provision A.4.1, Non-executive Directors should be
appointed for a specific term. Except for Mr. Fahmi Idris, Independent
Non-executive Director, who were appointed for a term of three
years, Mr. Yang Tianjun, Non-executive Director, and the remaining
Independent Non-executive Directors including Mr. Bai Baohua, Mr.
Huang Changhuai and Mr. Wong Chi Keung were not appointed for
a specific term. This constitutes a deviation from Code Provision A.4.1.
However, according to the articles of association of the Company,
one-third of the Directors for the time being shall retire from office
by rotation at each annual general meeting and the Directors to retire
by rotation shall be those who have been longest in office since their
last re-election or appointment. As such, the Company considers that
sufficient measures have been taken to ensure that the Company's
corporate governance practice in this respect is in line with that
provided in the Code.

Chairman and Chief Executive

The Executive Director, Mr. Dong Shutong, served as the chairman
and chief executive of the Company. The chairman is responsible for
overseeing the Company’s operations in respect of compliance with
both internal rules and statutory requirements, and promoting the
corporate governance of the Company. The Company did not appoint
another individual to act as the chief executive for the year ended 31
December 2017 and up to the date of this report. This constitutes a
deviation from code provision A.2.1. The Board believes that it is in
the best interests of the Company and the shareholders as a whole
since Mr. Dong Shutong is knowledgeable in the business of the
Group and possesses the essential leadership skills to guide discussions
of the Board.

Important decision-making and the day-to-day management of the
Company are carried out by all of the Executive Directors. Although
the roles of the chairman and the chief executive of the Company are
not segregated, the functions of the chief executive were carried out
by all of the Executive Directors collectively.

The Board considered that the Group’s prevailing structures and
systems met the code provisions in the CG Code. The current practices
will be reviewed and updated regularly to follow the latest practices in
corporate governance.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Independent Non-executive Directors play a significant role in the
Board by virtue of their independent judgment and their views
carry significant weight in the Board’s decision. In particular, they
bring an impartial view to bear on issues of the Company’s strategy,
performance and control. All Independent Non-executive Directors
possess extensive academic, professional and industry expertise
and management experience and have provided their professional
advices to the Board. The Board also considers that Independent Non-
executive Directors can provide independent advice on the Company’s
business strategy, results and management so that all interests of
shareholders can be taken into account, and the interests of the
Company and its shareholders can be protected.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence
from each of the existing Independent Non-executive Directors
in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers that all the Independent Non-executive Directors are
independent in accordance with the Listing Rules.

Training and Support for Directors

Directors must keep abreast of their collective responsibilities. Each
newly appointed Director would receive an induction package
covering the Group's businesses and the statutory and regulatory
obligations of a director of a listed company. The Group also provides
briefings and other training to develop and refresh the Directors’
knowledge and skills. The Group continuously updates Directors
on the latest developments regarding the Listing Rules and other
applicable regulatory requirements, to ensure compliance and
enhance their awareness of good corporate governance practices.
Circulars or guidance notes are issued to Directors and senior
management where appropriate, to ensure awareness of best
corporate governance practices.

During the period from 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2017, the
Directors have attended seminars and/or conferences and/or forums
relating to directors’ duties and/or read newspapers, journals and
updates relating to the economy, general business or directors’ duties
etc.

Directors’ and Officers’ Insurance

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of
potential legal actions against its Directors and officers.
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Model Code

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the code for securities transactions
by Directors. Having made specific enquiries, the Company has
confirmed that all Directors have compiled with the requirements set
out in the Model Code.

Board Committees

The Board has established audit committee, remuneration committee
and nomination committee (collectively “Board Committees”) with
defined terms of reference. The terms of reference of the Board
Committees are posted on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange. The Board Committees are provided with sufficient
resources to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request,
are able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company's expenses.

Audit Committee

The audit committee comprises three Independent Non-executive
Directors, and Mr. Wong Chi Keung serves as the chairman of
the audit committee. During the year, the audit committee held 2
meetings on 30 March 2017 and 23 August 2017. All committee
members attended the meetings.

During the year, the audit committee had performed the following
work:

(1) reviewed the financial reports for the year ended 31 December
2016 and for the six months ended 30 June 2017;

(2) reviewed the Group's internal control system and financial
reporting system review performed by an external consultant;

(3) reviewed the effectiveness of internal control system;

(4) reviewed the external auditor’s statutory audit plan and
engagement letter;

(5) reviewed the management letter from the external auditor
in relation to the audit of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2016;

(6) reviewed and recommended for approval by the Board the 2017
audit scope and fees; and

(7)  discussed the reappointment of external auditor.
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Responsibilities of the audit committee include:

(1)  reviewing the financial reporting process, internal control system
and the completeness of financial reports of the Company;

(2)  to be in charge of the appointment of external auditor, auditing
expenses and any matters regarding the resignation or dismissal
of the external auditor;

(3) to review the independence of the external auditor;

(4)  to discuss with the external auditor on the nature and scope of
audit prior to the commencement of the auditing procedures;

(5)  to review the interim and annual financial statements. The audit
committee has reviewed the auditing performance, the internal
controls and the audited financial statements of the Company;
and

(6) to discuss the reappointment of external auditor.

Remuneration Committee

The remuneration committee of the Company was established on 10
April 2006 and comprises 1 Executive Director and 3 Independent
Non-executive Directors. The members of the remuneration
committee are: Mr. Dong Shutong, Mr. Bai Baohua, Mr. Huang
Changhuai and Mr. Wong Chi Keung. Mr. Huang Changhuai serves
as the chairman of the remuneration committee. During the year,
the remuneration committee held 1 meeting on 30 March 2017. All
committee members attended the meeting to review the performance
and incentives of Executive Directors and terms of employment of the
management staff within the Group in 2017.

Responsibilities of the remuneration committee include:

(1) to make recommendation to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all remuneration of Directors and
senior management and on the establishment of a formal
and transparent procedure for developing policy on such
remuneration;
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(2) to have the delegated responsibility to determine the specific
remuneration packages of all Executive Directors and senior
management, including benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, including any compensation payable
for loss or termination of their office or appointment, and
make recommendations to the Board of the remuneration of
Non-executive Directors. The remuneration committee should
consider factors such as salaries paid by comparable companies,
time commitment and responsibilities of the Directors,
employment conditions elsewhere in the Group and desirability
of performance-based remuneration;

(3) to review and approve performance-based remuneration by
reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved by the
Board from time to time;

(4)  to review and approve the compensation payable to Executive
Directors and senior management in connection with any loss or
termination of their office or appointment;

(5) to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to
dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct; and

(6) to ensure that no Director is involved in deciding his own
remuneration.

Nomination Committee

The nomination committee was established on 30 December
2011 and is chaired by Mr. Dong Shutong, an Executive Director.
Other members of the Committee are Mr. Bai Baohua, Mr. Huang
Changhuai and Mr. Wong Chi Keung, who are Independent Non-
executive Directors.

The nomination committee is responsible for formulating policy and
making recommendations to the Board on nominations, appointment
of Directors and Board succession. The committee develops selection
procedures for candidates, and will consider different criteria including
appropriate professional knowledge and industry experience, as well
as consult external recruitment professionals when required. The
committee also reviews the size, structure and composition of the
Board and assesses the independence of Independent Non-executive
Directors.

During the year, the remuneration committee held 1 meeting on 30
March 2017. All committee members attended the meeting to review
the structure and composition of the Board and independence of the
Independent Non-executive Directors.
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Company Secretary

Mr. Choi Kwok Keung Sanvic, the Company Secretary of the
Company, is a full time employee of the Company and has day-to-day
knowledge of the Company’s affairs. During the financial year, the
Company Secretary has duly complied with the relevant professional
training requirement under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

The biographical details of Mr. Choi are set out on in the section
entitles “Directors, Senior Management and Audit Committee” in this
annual report.

FINANCIAL REPORTING

Directors’ and Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Financial
Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements which give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Group. In preparing the consolidated
financial statements which give a true and fair view, it is fundamental
that appropriate accounting policies are selected and applied
consistently. The statement of the external auditor about the reporting
responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is set out in
the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 75 to 80 of this annual
report.

Going Concern and Mitigation Measures

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group incurred a
net loss of HK$472,689,000 and had a net operating cash outflow
of HK$3,892,000. As at 31 December 2017, the Group had a
shareholders’ deficit of HK$832,772,000 and net current liabilities
of HK$3,810,153,000, and the Group’s total borrowings amounted
to HK$2,541,987,000 which comprised bank and other borrowings,
convertible bonds and notes payables of HK$2,493,776,000,
HK$46,775,000 and HK$1,436,000, respectively as at 31 December
2017. Cash and cash equivalents of the Group amounted to
HK$20,046,000 as at 31 December 2017. In addition, the Company
and a subsidiary are parties to various legal claims as detailed in Note
32 to the consolidated financial statements.

These conditions together with others described in Note 2.1(a) to
the consolidated financial statements, have indicated the existence
of material uncertainties which might cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern and therefore it might
not be able to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the
normal course of business.
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The Board has given careful consideration to the future liquidity and
performance of the Group and its available sources of financing in
assessing whether the Group would have sufficient financial resources
to continue as a going concern. Certain measures have been taken
to mitigate the liquidity pressure and to improve its financial position
which include, but not limited to, the following:

(1)  On 5 March 2016, the Company and a potential investor
(the "Potential Investor” or “Subscriber”) entered into a
share subscription agreement to subscribe for a total of
1,465,898,410 new ordinary shares of the Company at a
subscription price of HK$0.1876 per share (the “Subscription
Shares”), with proposed gross proceeds totalling approximately
HK$275 million (the "Subscription”), subject to certain
conditions precedent which, among others, include the
following:

° approval from the Company’'s shareholders, or
independent shareholders when appropriate, for (i)
allotment and issuance of the Subscription Shares; (ii) a
Whitewash Waiver; and (iii) a Special Deal (as defined
hereunder), at the extraordinary general meeting of the
Company ("EGM");

o Whitewash Waiver being granted by The Securities and
Futures Commission of Hong Kong (“SFC”) in respect
of any obligation of the Subscriber and parties acting in
concert with it to make a mandatory general offer in cash
for all the issued shares and other relevant securities of the
Company not already owned (or agreed to be acquired) by
the Subscriber and parties acting in concert with it which
might otherwise arise as a result of the Subscription;

o the consent from the SFC for repayment to any creditor
who is a shareholder of the Company using the proceeds
from the Subscription under a proposed debt restructuring
as mentioned below (the “Special Deal”);

o approval of resumption of trading of the Company’s

shares, and listing of the Subscription Shares from the
Stock Exchange; and
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o completion of a debt restructuring by the Company by
way of the “Schemes” (note) (the “Debt Restructuring
Proposal”). The debt restructuring refers to a plan for
restructuring of the indebtedness of the Company which
involves, among other things: (i) the reduction and
cancellation of the outstanding principal amount of the
Bonds by at least 80%; (ii) the reduction and cancellation
of all the outstanding accrued interests of the Bonds; (iii)
the release and discharge of all security collateral provided
in relation to the 12% Coupon Senior Bonds and the 8%
Coupon Convertible Bonds; and (iv) the reduction and
cancellation of all other indebtedness and contingent
liabilities of the Company as referred to in the Debt
Restructuring Proposal, by at least 80%.

In respect of the above, the Company appointed a financial
advisor and debt restructuring scheme advisor to facilitate the
Subscription and Debt Restructuring Proposal.

At the meetings of the holders of the 12% Coupon Senior
Bonds and the 8% Coupon Convertible Bonds held on 21
June 2016 and 6 July 2016, respectively, separate extraordinary
resolutions (“Extraordinary Resolutions”) were passed and
resolved, among others, to approve the Debt Restructuring
Proposal, not to enforce any security of the Bonds until
approval of the Schemes and release the security as required
under the Schemes following the Schemes becoming effective,
vote the entire principal amount in favour of the Schemes at
the meetings of the Schemes, waive any event of default or
potential event of default which might or has occurred and not
to demand repayment of any amount due under the Bonds.

Following the passing and effectiveness of the Extraordinary
Resolutions by 6 July 2016, the Company is preparing the
necessary documents to submit to the courts for the relevant
creditors’ approval and court sanction for the Cayman Scheme
and the Hong Kong Scheme under the Debt Restructuring
Proposal.
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The Company is also actively negotiating with other creditors
of the Company for the execution of the Debt Restructuring
Proposal.

Note:

The proposed scheme of arrangement pursuant to Section 86 of the Companies
Law (2007 Revision) of the Cayman Islands between the Company and the
creditors under such scheme (the “Cayman Scheme”) and the proposed scheme
of arrangement of pursuant to Sections 670, 673 and 674 of the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) between the Company and
the creditors under such scheme (the “Hong Kong Scheme”), collectively are
referred to as the “Schemes”.

In relation to the secured bank loan of HK$100,431,000 which
contains a repayable on demand clause, the Group is actively
negotiating with the bank for the waiver of the relevant clause.

In relation to the syndicated bank loan and the bank loan under
the Unsecured Loan Facility to the extent of HK$595,837,000
and HK$424,292,000, respectively, the Group is actively
negotiating with the respective banks for the waiver of
the breach of the undertaking and restrictive covenant
requirements.

On 21 January 2013, the Group entered into a non-binding
framework agreement with Beijing Wincapital Management
Co., Ltd. (“Beijing Wincapital”) in relation to the disposal of
a 30% equity interest in SEAM, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Group. The aggregate disposal consideration is expected
to be approximately US$150 million (approximately HK$1,170
million). The proposed transaction is yet to complete and no
formal sales and purchase agreement has been entered into
up to the date of approval of these consolidated financial
statements. Longer than expected time was spent on
negotiation of the detailed terms and conditions because of the
rapid change in operating and regulatory environment of SEAM
since the framework agreement was signed.

In connection with the proposed disposal, Beijing Wincapital
arranged certain loan finance to the Group (“Financing
Loans”), which can be settled by offsetting against the disposal
consideration should the proposed disposal be completed,
details of which are disclosed in Note 27(d).
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During the year ended 31 December 2017, a loan arranged
by Beijing Wincapital of RMB200,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$239,263,000) has been novated to Henan Pingyuan
Holding Group Co., Ltd (/A /@ F RIZEREBAR KD BR AT or
“Pingyuan”), details of which are disclosed in Notes 27(d) and
27(f).

As at 31 December 2017, the outstanding Financing Loans
amounted to approximately RMB200 million (equivalent to
HK$239,263,000) were overdue for repayments. Up to the date
of approval of the consolidated financial statements, the Group
has not received any letter from the lender demanding for
repayment of these loans. Management is currently negotiating
with the relevant parties to formally extend the repayment of
these borrowings to facilitate the completion of the proposed
disposal. Management believes that with bona fide intention for
all relevant parties, the proposed disposal will be completed and
the Group will be able to offset all these borrowings against the
disposal consideration.

On 11 March 2018, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with Mr. Sun Gang (“Mr. Sun”), who is also a
substantial shareholder of Pingyuan, pursuant to which the
Group agreed to sell 7% equity interest in SEAM to Mr. Sun at a
consideration of RMB210,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$251,223,000) conditional upon, amongst others, obtaining
approval from shareholders of the Company at an extraordinary
general meeting and resumption of trading of the Company's
shares.

Apart from the borrowings mentioned in (1) to (4) above, the
Group had other borrowings from certain related parties of the
Group, the Potential Investor, related parties of the Potential
Investor and other third parties (secured and unsecured) of
HK$89,086,000, HK$236,870,000, HK$314,524,000 and
HK$73,263,000, respectively that were either overdue or due
for immediate repayment as at 31 December 2017. The Group
has been actively negotiating with the lenders for the renewal
and extension of the repayment dates of these borrowings, of
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which an extension of the repayments of the borrowings from BE S e B RN A BT R2F -
related parties of the Potential Investor for a term of 2 years is
currently under discussion.
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(6) The Group is also negotiating with various financial institutions
and identifying various options for financing the Group's
working capital and commitments in the foreseeable future,
including identification of potential investors to invest in various
projects undertaken by the Group.

(7)  The Group is also maximizing its sales effort, including speeding
up of sales of its existing inventories and seeking new orders
from overseas markets or new customers on developed
new products, exploring new business opportunities and
implementing more stringent cost control measures with a
view to improving operating cash flows. During the year ended
31 December 2017, the Group has also engaged in providing
sub-contracting services to external customers. Management
believes that the Group will be able to record a significant
increase in revenue in the coming twelve months after the
reporting period.

(8) The Group has engaged legal advisors to handle all claims
and disputes as detailed in Note 32 to the consolidated
financial statements. In preparing these consolidated financial
statements, the directors have also obtained advice from legal
advisors on these matters and, based upon which, are of the
view that the Group will be able to resolve those outstanding
claims and disputes, with no significant cash outflows in the
next twelve months.

Remuneration of Directors and senior management
Particulars of the Directors’ remuneration for the year are set out in
note 10 to the consolidated financial statements.

Pursuant to code provision B.1.5. of the CG Code, the remuneration
of the members of the senior management (other than the Directors)
whose particulars are contained in Note 10 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Auditor’s Remuneration

The remuneration paid/payable to the Company’s auditor,
PricewaterhouseCoopers, for its audit and non-audit services for the
year ended 31 December 2017 were HK$3.9 million and HK$0.2
million respectively.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for overseeing the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems and reviewing their
effectiveness at least annually through the Audit Committee. The
Audit Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its oversight and
corporate roles in the Group’s financial, operational, compliance,
risk management and internal controls, while senior management
designs, implements and monitors the risk management and internal
control systems, and provides reports to the Board and the Audit
Committee on the effectiveness of these systems. However, systems
and internal controls can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss, as they are designed
to manage, rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve the
Group's business objectives.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
FRAMEWORK

Risk Management

The Company has established formal risk assessment criteria for the
Group. Senior management and department heads identify risks that
potentially impact the key processes of their operations on an annual
basis. Risks are scored and ranked by their impact on the business
and the likelihood of their occurrence. Senior management and
department heads assess the effectiveness of the existing controls
and formulate risk mitigating activities. Results of the annual risk
assessment are coordinated by the Financial Controller and Company
Secretary and reported to the Audit Committee, including amongst
other things, significant risks of the Group and the appropriate control
activities to mitigate and/or transfer the identified risks.

Internal Control

The Company has established defined levels of responsibilities and
reporting procedures. Controls have been designed and established to
ensure that assets are safeguarded against improper use or disposal,
financial and accounting records are maintained in accordance with
relevant accounting standards and regulatory reporting requirements,
and key risks that may impact on the Group's performance are
identified and assessed.

During the vyear, in order to fully satisfy one of the Resumption
Conditions, the Company has engaged an external consultant to
perform a review of the internal control system and the financial
reporting system. The review has been substantially completed under
finalisation and considered that the Company possessed adequate
and reliable corporate governance, internal controls and financial
reporting systems to meet the obligations under the Listing Rules.
Results of the review was communicated to the Audit Committee.
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The Company currently does not have a formal internal audit
function. The Audit Committee is fully aware of the requirement
under Code Provision C. 2.5 of the CG Code that the Company
should have an internal audit function in place, but a full-scale internal
audit function is not considered necessary as the Audit Committee
relied on the periodic internal control reviews performed by the
external consultant. However, the Audit Committee will continue
to assess and review the need for an internal audit function for the
Group on an annual basis.

Review of Risk Management and Internal Control
Systems

The Audit Committee assists the Board in the review of the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems on an ongoing basis. The directors through the Audit
Committees are kept informed of significant risks that may impact on
the Group's performance. For the year ended 31 December 2017, the
Board considered the risk management and internal control systems of
the Group to be effective and adequate.

The Audit Committee has reviewed and is satisfied with the adequacy
of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programmes
and budget of the Group’s accounting, and financial reporting
function.

Inside Information

The Company has developed a monitoring system for inside
information to ensure prompt identification, evaluation and
submission of material information to the Board to determine whether
such information constitutes as inside information and requires
disclosure. The Company strictly complies with the Inside Information
Provisions and disclosure requirements set out in the relevant
sections of the SFO and Listing Rules. Staff who have access to inside
information is required to keep the unpublished inside information
strictly confidential until relevant announcement is made.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS AND COMMUNICATIONS
WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The management believes that it is essential to maintain effective
communication with the investment community in a timely manner
through various media and channels. The Company holds regular
briefings, attends investor conferences and participates in one-on—
one meetings and conversations with institutional investors and
analysts in Hong Kong, PRC and overseas countries to keep them
abreast of the Company’s business and development.
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Communications with Shareholders

As the key principle of corporate governance, the Company has a set
of values and behaviors to ensure transparency and fair dealing and to
protect and facilitate the exercise of shareholder’s rights. Shareholders
are provided with contact details of the Company, such as telephone
hotline, fax number and postal address, which enable them to engage
actively with the Company and make any query with respect to the
Company.

To promote open, efficient and transparent communications
with shareholders, investors and analysts, the Investor Relations
Department commits to promptly responding to their enquiries and
also providing them with the necessary information in a timely manner
so as to facilitate the investment community to better understand
the Company’s strategy and latest developments. Shareholders,
investors and analysts can also send enquires and concerns to the
Board by addressing them to the Investor Relations Department of
the Company by letter, telephone or fax. In addition, if shareholders
have any enquiries about their shares and dividends, they can contact
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, the Hong Kong
branch share registrar of the Company. The contact details of the
Company are stated in the section entitled “Corporate Information”
on pages 2 to 3 in this annual report.

The Board endeavors to provide timely and accurate information
equally to shareholders and investors. The Company’s website
(http://irnickelholdings.com) facilitates effective communications with
shareholders, investors and other stakeholders of the Company by
providing up-to-date information relating to the Company’s latest
development, corporate events, press releases, financial reports
and other information on a timely basis. Annual reports, interim
reports and other relevant information, including announcements in
accordance with the Company’s continuous disclosure obligations
are available and also posted on the respective websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company for the public’s review.

Shareholders’ Meetings

The Company regards the Annual General Meeting ("AGM") as an
important event as it provides invaluable opportunity for the Directors
to meet and communicate with the shareholders. The Company
ensures that shareholders’ views are extended to the Board. Chairman
of the AGM proposes separate resolutions for each issue to be
considered. Members of the audit, remuneration and nomination
committees and the external auditor also attend the AGM to answer
guestions from shareholders.
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AGM proceedings are reviewed from time to time to ensure that the
Company follows best corporate governance practices. The notice
of AGM is distributed to all shareholders at least 20 clear business
days prior to the AGM, and the accompanying circular also sets out
details of each proposed resolution and other relevant information as
required under the Listing Rules. Chairman of the AGM exercises his
power under the articles of association of the Company to put each
proposed resolution to the vote by way of a poll. The procedures for
demanding and conducting a poll are explained at the beginning of
the meeting. Voting results are posted on the respective websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company in a timely manner.

The 2017 AGM was held on 22 June 2017. Except for Mr. Dong
Shutong, Mr. Wang Ping, Mr. Dong Chengzhe, Mr. Song Wenzhou,
Mr. Yang Tianjun, Mr. Bai Baohua, Mr. Huang Changhuai, Mr. Wong
Chi Keung and Mr. Fahmi Idris, all other member of the Board has
attended the 2017 AGM.

Under the code provision A.6.7 of CG Code, Independent Non-
executive Directors and other Non-executive Directors should attend
general meetings and develop a balanced understanding of the
views of shareholders. Mr. Yang Tianjun, a Non-executive Director
and Mr. Bai Bachua, Mr. Huang Changhuai, Mr. Wong Chi Keung
and Mr. Fahmi Idris, the Independent Non-executive Directors of the
Company were unable to attend the 2017 AGM due to other business
commitment.

Under code provision E.1.2 of CG Code, the Chairman of the Board
should invite the Chairman of the audit committee, the remuneration
committee and the nomination committee to attend and answer
questions at the AGM. Mr. Huang Changhuai, the Chairman of the
remuneration committee, was unable to attend the 2017 AGM due to
the other business commitment. Mr. Wong Chi Keung, the Chairman
of the audit committee, was unable to attend the 2017 AGM due to
the other business commitment. Mr. Dong Shutong, the Chairman of
the nomination committee, was unable to attend the 2017 AGM due
to other Company’s business commitment.

Shareholders’ Rights

Shareholder(s) holding not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital
of the Company can make a written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary to convene an extraordinary general meeting
pursuant to article 58 of the Company’s articles of association. The
written requisition must state the objects of the meeting, and must be
signed by the relevant shareholder(s) and deposited at the head office
of the Company, which is presently situated at Room 1705, West
Tower, Shun Tak Center, 168-200 Connaught Road Central, Hong
Kong.

There are no provisions under the Company’s articles of association
or the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and
revised) of the Cayman Islands regarding procedures for shareholders
to put forward proposals at general meetings other than a proposal
of a person for election as director. Shareholders may follow the
procedures set out above to convene an extraordinary general
meeting for any business specified in such written requisition.
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To the Shareholders of Nickel Resources International Holdings
Company Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION
We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements
of Nickel Resources International Holdings Company Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) set out on
pages 81 to 216, which comprise:

o the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2017;

. the consolidated income statement for the year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended;

o the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

o the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which
include a summary of significant accounting policies.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group because we have not been able to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence and due to the potential
interaction of the multiple uncertainties and their possible cumulative
effect on the consolidated financial statements as described in the
Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report. In all other
respects, in our opinion the consolidated financial statements
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

Impairment of intangible asset

As at 31 December 2017, the carrying amount of the Group's
intangible asset amounted to HK$2,384,543,000. As detailed in Note
16 to the consolidated financial statements, such intangible asset
represents an exclusive offtake right secured from PT. Yiwan Mining
("Yiwan"), a limited company incorporated in Indonesia, whereby
Yiwan agreed to exclusively sell the limonitic ores produced by Yiwan
to the Group at pre-determined prices within a specific period of time.

During the year 2012, certain Indonesian governmental authorities
promulgated several new rules and regulations regarding ores
export approval and export tax. During the year 2013, the relevant
Indonesian governmental authorities further promulgated that
unprocessed ore export by mining business licence holders in
Indonesia (“IUP Holders”) will be banned from 12 January 2014
onwards unless the IUP Holders have carried out processing and
refining domestically according to the relevant regulations regarding
implementation of activities of business of minerals and coal mining
and have conducted refining and smelting in accordance with those
relevant laws. Consequently, the export of unprocessed iron ores from
Yiwan to the Group ceased with effect from 12 January 2014.

As further explained in Note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements, in determining the recoverable amount of the intangible
asset as at 31 December 2017, the directors of the Company,
amongst other considerations, made reference to the disposal
consideration as stipulated in a non-binding framework agreement
entered into between the Group and Beijing Wincapital Management
Co., Ltd. (“Beijing Wincapital”), an independent third party, on 21
January 2013, pursuant to which the Group proposed to dispose of
a 30% equity interest in S.E.A. Mineral Limited (“SEAM"), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Group, which holds the intangible asset
of the Group and was engaged in the trading of ores, to Beijing
Wincapital. In addition, the directors also take into account of a sale
and purchase agreement entered into on 11 March 2018 between
the Group and a purchaser pursuant to which the Group agreed
to sell 7% equity interest of SEAM to the purchaser conditional
upon, amongst others, obtaining approval from shareholders of
the Company at an extraordinary general meeting and resumption
of trading of the Company’s shares. As these proposed disposal
considerations substantially exceed the attributable carrying amounts
of the aforesaid intangible asset, the directors are of the opinion that
there was no impairment of the intangible asset as at 31 December
2017.
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However, as there is no formal sales and purchase agreement
entered into for the proposed disposal of the 30% equity interest
to Beijing Wincapital; and the disposal of the 7% equity interest to
the purchaser is yet to complete up to the date of this audit report,
we were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
we consider necessary to assess the recoverable amount of the
intangible asset. There were no alternative audit procedures that we
could perform to satisfy ourselves as to the recoverable amount of
the intangible asset and whether any impairment charge should be
made. Any adjustment to the carrying amount of the intangible asset
found to be necessary would affect the Group’s net liabilities as at 31
December 2017, the Group's loss for the year then ended and the
related note disclosures to the consolidated financial statements.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
prepaid land lease payments

As detailed in Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements,
an impairment assessment was carried out by the directors of the
Company on the Group’s property, plant and equipment and prepaid
land lease payments in respect of the cash generating unit for the
manufacturing and sales of iron and steel products in Zhengzhou
(the “Zhengzhou Plants”). As a result of the assessment, the
directors considered that no further provision for impairment of the
property, plant and equipment and prepaid land lease payments
of Zhengzhou plants is required for the year ended 31 December
2017. The recoverable amount of the cash generating unit has been
determined by the directors based on value-in-use calculations. These
calculations included applying certain assumptions in preparing cash
flows projections for the cash generating unit. In preparing these
projections, the directors assumed that, amongst other factors,
business performance of the Zhengzhou Plants can be gradually
improved noticeably during the projection period as a result of
improving operating environment and by launching new products
and seeking new orders from new customers with improved gross
margins.
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However, we were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence we consider necessary as to the basis upon which the
directors have formed in determining the recoverable amounts
of these property, plant and equipment and prepaid land lease
payments and thus to assess the valuation of these assets. There
were no alternative audit procedures that we could perform to
satisfy ourselves as to the recoverable amounts of these assets
totalling HK$373,535,000 as at 31 December 2017 and whether any
impairment charge should be made for the year ended 31 December
2017. Any adjustment to the carrying amounts of property, plant and
equipment and prepaid land lease payments of the Zhengzhou Plants
found to be necessary would affect the Group’s net liabilities as at 31
December 2017, the Group's loss for the year then ended and the
related notes disclosures to the consolidated financial statements.

Impairment of the Company’s interests in subsidiaries

In addition, as the intangible asset, property, plant and equipment
and prepaid land lease payments as stated above were held by various
subsidiaries of the Company, any adjustment on the carrying amounts
of these assets found to be necessary would also affect the carrying
amount of the Company’s interests in subsidiaries and its accumulated
losses which amounted to HK$137,826,000 and HK$4,712,681,000
respectively as at 31 December 2017 and the related notes disclosures
in the Note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.

Multiple uncertainties relating to going concern

As described in Note 2.1(a) to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group incurred a net loss of HK$472,689,000 and had a net
operating cash outflow of HK$3,892,000 during the year ended
31 December 2017. As at 31 December 2017, the Group had
a shareholders’ deficit of HK$832,772,000; its current liabilities
exceeded its current assets by HK$3,810,153,000; and its total
borrowings amounted to HK$2,541,987,000 while its cash and
cash equivalents amounted to HK$20,046,000 only. In addition,
as at 31 December 2017, the Group's borrowings to the extent
of HK$2,539,731,000 were either overdue or due for immediate
repayment. The Group also involved in various claims and disputes as
detailed in Note 32 to the consolidated financial statements. These
conditions, along with other matters as described in Note 2.1(a) to the
consolidated financial statements, indicate the existence of material
uncertainties that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern.
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The directors of the Company have been undertaking a number of
measures to improve the Group's liquidity and financial position,
which are set out in Note 2.1(a) to the consolidated financial
statements, and to resolve the outstanding claims and disputes
detailed in Note 32 to the consolidated financial statements. The
consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis, the validity of which depends on the outcome of
these measures and litigation matters, which are subject to multiple
uncertainties, including (i) whether the Group is able to successfully
complete the issuance of certain new ordinary shares after fulfilling
all conditions precedent as detailed in Note 2.1(a) to the consolidated
financial statements, and in particular by the successful completion
of a debt restructuring proposal; (i) whether the Group is able to
successfully negotiate with banks for the waiver of the repayable
on demand clause and breach of the undertaking and restrictive
covenant requirements of certain bank loans; (iii) whether the Group
is able to successfully negotiate for an extension of the repayment
date of certain borrowings until completion of the proposed disposal
of interest in SEAM under the relevant framework agreement at
the prescribed consideration and be able to collect the disposal
consideration in full immediately upon completion of the transaction
after properly offsetting the relevant borrowings; (iv) whether the
Group is able to successfully negotiate with certain related parties
of the Group and other lenders as detailed in Notes 27(e) to (h) to
the consolidated financial statements for extension of their relevant
borrowings, by maintaining relationship with them such that no action
will be taken by these lenders to demand immediate repayment of
the overdue borrowings under negotiation; (v) whether the Group is
able to obtain additional new financing and other sources of funding
as and when required; (vi) whether the Group is able to implement its
operation plans to control costs and to generate adequate cash flows
from operations; and (vii) whether the Group is able to resolve the
outstanding claims and disputes, without significant cash outflows in
the next twelve months.

Should the Group fail to achieve the above-mentioned plans and
measures, it might not be able to continue to operate as a going
concern, and adjustments would have to be made to write down the
carrying values of the Group's assets to their recoverable amounts, to
provide for any further liabilities which might arise and to reclassify
non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and
current liabilities. The effects of these adjustments have not been
reflected in the consolidated financial statements.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The audit committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in accordance with International Standards on
Auditing and to issue an auditor’s report. We report solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. However, because we have not been able to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence and due to the potential interaction of
the multiple uncertainties and their possible cumulative effect on
the consolidated financial statements as described in the Basis for
Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, it is not possible for us to
form an opinion on these consolidated financial statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (“IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Mak Tze Leung, William.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 28 March 2018
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Consolidated Income Statement

RelRR

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HE—Z—+F+-A=+—HILFE

2017 2016
—g-—t% e
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FET F#E T
Revenue g 6 296,430 176,760
Cost of sales $HE AR 7 (257,559) (156,389)
Gross profit EF 38,871 20,371
Other gains, net H b B F)FEE 6 42,414 74,281
Selling and distribution expenses HE R HAX 7 (2,255) (3,897)
Administrative expenses THFEX 7 (214,330) (232,410)
Finance income BhE WA 9 139 3,240
Finance costs B & AR 9 (343,919) (320,186)
Other income/(expenses) HU A, (BZ) 7 6,391 (133,200)
Impairment of property, ME  BERERERE
plant and equipment 7 - (54,434)
Loss before income tax kTS EL R E 1R 7 (472,689) (646,235)
Income tax expense FriS i X2 1 = (443)
Loss for the year FAEBE (472,689) (646,678)
Attributable to: BR:
Owners of the Company FiN/NETEZ ¥ =N (472,372) (645,992)
Non-controlling interests TR R (317) (686)
(472,689) (646,678)
Loss per share attributable to owners KA G HE A AL EREE
of the Company
— Basic (HK dollar) —ER (BT 13 (0.15) (0.22)
— Diluted (HK dollar) —#58 (B7T) 13 (0.15) (0.22)

The notes on pages 90 to 216 are an integral part of these 590E216E 2K ARG AMIBHERN—5H -
consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

ReEZEBRR

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HE—Z—+F+-—A=+—HILFE

2017 2016
—E—tHF —ZE—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHE T
Lossfortheyear ______________________ FEER ] (472689 (646,678)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income Hib2m (FE) W
Items that have been reclassified or may be AEE BT 7 M e A FE R H 1
subsequently reclassified to profit or loss B EEEm s HA
Exchange differences on translation BIMSEMERITE
of foreign operations &5 =% (84,708) 62,396
Release of exchange reserve on deconsolidation — KiB AR ILEGE AR Z
of subsidiaries E 5 R O] (6,873) =
Other comprehensive (loss)/income for FERFEHMET
_theyearnetoftax (BR) W @1581) 62,396 _
Total comprehensive loss for the year FEXEEEA (564,270) (584,282)
Attributable to: BR:
Owners of the Company KAREA A (563,975) (583,606)
Non-controlling interests JEVERRRE = (295) (676)
(564,270) (584,282)

The notes on pages 90 to 216 are an integral part of these H90E2168 2 Ml ARG AMBHRERN—EH -
consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

n e MBI R

As at 31 December 2017 R=—ZE—+F+=-H=+—8H

As at 31 December

Rt+t=ZA=+—H
2017 2016
—E—tF ZE-RF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 7 FExT FAETT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ) E R =N 14 428,917 450,329
Prepaid land lease payments TEfT L E IR 15 171,610 164,162
Intangible asset mEAE 16 2,384,543 2,384,543
Interest in an associate R—EBE AR 2 s 18 = =
Other non-current assets HEMIERBEE 1,531 1,428
_____________________________________________________________ 2,986,601 3,000,462
Current assets REBEE
Inventories 5E 20 179,392 230,600
Trade and notes receivables UG BR 3k N R UR ZE 4 21 74,906 26,412
Prepayments, deposits and other FERFIE - Ee Rk
receivables H b W 318 22 112,023 144,668
Pledged time deposits B E BT K 23 25 1,687
Cash and cash equivalents BeMRSEEY 23 20,046 20,143
i _________386392 423,510
Total assets BmEE 3,372,993 3,423,972
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES ERzRAE
Equity attributable to owners AATEEAEEES
of the Company
Share capital & A 29 308,813 308,813
Reserves i 30 (1,141,229) (577,276)
(832,416) (268,463)
Non-controlling interests TR ER (356) 6,006
Total shareholders’ deficit % SR ES At 48 &8 (832,772) (262,457)
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i e MBI =

As at 31 December 2017 R=—ZE—+E+=-H=+—8H

As at 31 December

R+=—B=+—8
2017 2016
—E—tF e NS
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FET T T
LIABILITIES =K
Non-current liabilities kRBERE
Other long term payables E R AT IR 24 7,932 8,374
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFHIBERE 19 1,288 1,204
________________________________________________________________ 9220 9578
Current liabilities REBAEE
Trade payables FEAT BRI 25 133,008 120,358
Notes payables FET 5 25 1,436 1,444
Other payables and accruals Hip e RIE N ETEE 26 1,512,790 1,143,954
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE 27 2,493,776 2,331,498
Convertible bonds A E 5 28 46,775 46,775
Derivative financial instruments PTESBMTA 28 = =
Tax payable FES IR 8,760 32,822
4,196,545 3,676,851
Total liabilities wew| 4205765 ____ __ 3,686,429
Total equity and liabilities ke EH8EE 3,372,993 3,423,972

The financial statements on pages 81 to 216 were approved by the Z81E216EMEBRAEEETEN T~ \F=
Board of Directors on 28 March 2018 and were signed on its behalf. A+ N NBHERBERRESZ -

Dong Shutong Yang Fei
&R BR
Director Director

o o

The notes on pages 90 to 216 are an integral part of these H90E216E Z Ml ARG AMIBHEMN—EH -
consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HE—Z—+F+-A=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

RAREEAEE
Share Non-
Share Share  Contributed Capital Statutory option Exchange  Accumulated controlling
capital premium surplus reserve reserves reserve reserve losses Sub-total interests Total
B& REEE E4ER EAGE EERE  BRERR EXGE ZithE Mt FRRER a3t

Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
i3 TERL TERL TERL TARL TERL TERL TERL TERL TERL TAL TR
(Note 29) (Note 30) (Note 30) (Note 30) (Note 30)
(Hiz29) (Hiz30) (HiE30) GiEE) (H&E30)

For the year ended BE-S-AE

31 December 2016 tZA=t-BLEE
At 1 January 2016 R=2-AE-B-R 276,654 3,185,286 47514 115,807 89,774 37,158 469,065 (3,990,294) 230,964 6,682 237,646
Loss for the year EEEE - - - - - - - (645,992) (645,992) (686) (646,678)
Other comprehensive income EERBRENRE:

for the year:

Exchange differences on translation of NI RETHEL 28

foreign operations - - - - - - 62,386 - 62,386 10 62,396

Total comprehensive income/(loss)  FE2EKE/ (#H8) 48

for the year - - - - - - 62,386 (645,992) (583,606) (676) (584,282)
Equity-settled share based IAREE B2 RO BEFX

compensation expense 3 - - - - - 229 - - 29 - 229
Conversion of convertible bonds BATARES 28,29 3,159 51,791 - - - - - - 83950 - 83950
At 31 December 2016 W-B-XE+-A=t-R 308,813 3,237,077 47514 115,807 89,774 37,387 531,451 (4,636,286 (268,463) 6,006 (262,457)
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HE—Z—+F+-—A=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

RAREEAEE
Share Non-
Share Share  Contributed Capital Statutory option Exchange  Accumulated controlling
capital premium surplus reserve reserves reserve reserve losses Sub-total interests Total
B& REEE E4ER EAGE EERE  BRERR EXGE ZithE Mt FRRER a3t

Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
Wit TR TR TR TR TiEn TiEn TiEn TR TR TR TR
(Note 29) (Note 30) (Note 30) (Note 30) (Note 30)
(Wit29) (H3E30) (H¥3E30) (H¥3E30) (H¥3E30)

For the year ended BECS-tf%

31 December 2017 tZA=t-BLEE
At 1 January 2017 R=2-t£-5-R 308,813 3,237,017 47514 115,807 89,774 37,387 531,451 (4,636,286) (268,463) 6,006 (262,457)
Loss for the year EEEE - - - - - - - (472,372) (472,372) (317) (472,689)

Other comprehensive loss for the year: & & £t 2EHE:
Exchange differences on trandlation ~ SEIMIERENEERZE

of foreign operations - - - - - - (84,730) - (84,730) 2 (84,708)
Release of exchange reserve on HELAR HEA AEZES

deconsolidation of subsidiaries GhERE 8 - - - - - - (6,873) - (6:873) - (6:873)
Total comprehensive loss for the year £E2EFBHEH - - - - - - (91,603) (472,372) (563,975) (295) (564,270)
Equity-settled share based IREEE 2 RABERS

compensation expense 31 - - - - - 2 - - 2 - 2
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries MELAEEGEAAR 8 - - - - - - - - - (6,067) (6,067)
At 31 December 2017 W-8-t§+=A=+-B 308,813 3,237,011 41,514 115,807 89,774 37,409 439,848 (5,108,658) (832,416) (356) (832,772)

The notes on pages 90 to 216 are an integral part of these #90%2168 ZKist AALREMIEHREN —ZH -
consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

FeReERER

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HE—Z—+F+-A=+—HILFE

2017 2016
—E—tF AN S
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B FET FAIT
Cash flows from operating activities K& FEH 2R ESHRE
Loss before income tax BRETIS TR E1E (472,689) (646,235)
Adjustments for: BB IEFE
Finance costs A& R 9 343,919 320,186
Finance income RIE WA 9 (139) (3,240)
Gain on disposal of property, LEME  BE REE
plant and equipment, net 2 Wk FRE 6 (185) (13,350)
Gain on deconsolidation of M AR IEERE AR
subsidiaries, net W %5 F 58 6,8 (44,455) =
Changes in fair value of derivative MEesMIARAAREE
financial instruments 6 - (28,569)
Depreciation e 7,14 72,260 82,355
Amortisation of prepaid land lease TE AT 4 b 1H & R IE 8
payments 7,15 4,506 5,144
(Reversal of)/provision for impairment  JEUBR FORE (B @),/
of trade receivables, net B 5 aE 7,21 (11,571) 4,635
Provision for impairment of TE AT SR I8 K B HE W 5k IE
prepayments and other receivables, VR DEE=E
net 7 5,180 128,545
Impairment of property, plant and Y% BB MR ERE
equipment 7,14 - 54,434
Provision for impairment of inventories 17 & 5L {8 & 7,20 12,360 9,918
Equity-settled share-based VARR B4 E 2 B 1n
compensation expense HEMAX 10 22 229
Operating loss before working EEECEHR
capital changes K EE (90,792) (85,948)
Changes in working capital: EELECEE:
Decrease/(increase) in inventories BFERL,(#m) 23,671 (40,246)
Increase in trade and notes receivables  EU IR 7k K fE R = 4
140 (33,457) (24,236)
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, FERHIE Ze Kk
deposits and other receivables H h fE W R IBR L
($&hn) 31,375 (61,314)
Increase/(decrease) in trade and JEAT BR N RS R IR
notes payables =, Crd) 4,587 (210,853)
Increase in other payables and accruals — H fth &~ FUIE & fe =1 & B
o 60,724 110,416
Cash used in operations REEHAAZES (3.892) (312,181)
Income tax paid EATFTIEE = (443)
Net cash flows used in operating REFHAZ
activities BEREFH (3,892) (312,624)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

FRRReERER

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HE —

—tF+-A=t—BLEFE

2017 2016
—E—+tF ZE—RF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FEx FHET
Cash flows from investing activities REZEH2HESHRE
Interest received B HFIE 139 3,102
Payments for property, BEWHE WERE&E
plant and equipment (1,738) (14,730)
Decrease in pledged time deposits BEATEBERR LD 1,663 108,589
Decrease in restricted cash ZRRHIR SR - 11,515
Net cash disposed on deconsolidation M B A Fl4% [E47 & ABREF
of subsidiaries i 2B e 5 8 (257) =
Net cash flows (used in)/generated from RE&E® (FTH) EE£2
investing activites Rensgssd| (193) 108,476
Cash flows from financing activities BEEZE2HESHRE
Addition of bank and other borrowings ~ ¥71%$217 & H b £ & 296,642 1,283,864
Repayment of bank and EERTIEMEE
other borrowings (267,346) (922,337)
Interest paid EAFLE (26,655) (150,444)
Net cash flows generated BMEFBEEZ
from financing activities RereFE 2641 211,083
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and BE&RRESZEY (RD),
cash equivalents Nz R EE (1,444) 6,935
Cash and cash equivalents at FzRERASEEY
beginning of year 20,143 14,337
Effect of foreign exchange rate HEFHTEIH
changes, net 1,347 (1,129)
Cash and cash equivalents FRZESRESEEY
at end of year 20,046 20,143
Analysis of balances of cash and RERBESENERINT
cash equivalents
Cash and bank balances We LIRITHEER 23 20,046 20,143
The notes on pages 90 to 216 are an integral part of these 590%2168 2 Kl AR E MIEREARN —Z5D -

consolidated financial statements.

88  BEREIZERER DA

R FFERE



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

FeReERER

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HE—Z—+F+-A=+—HILFE

(@)  Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities (a)

This section sets out an analysis of liabilities arising from
financing activities and the movements in liabilities arising from

financing activities for the year.

KEREZSZ AEHK

ARRIIRERATE 2 BEHHITIARS
AR EREEE 2 B ENED-

Bank and other

borrowings

RITREMEE

HK$’000

FATT

At 1 January 2017 R=—ZF—tH&—HA—H 2,331,498

Cash inflows BEMA 296,642

Cash outflows WEmH (267,346)

Exchange difference E i =5 132,982

At 31 December 2017 R-F—tHF+-A=+—H 2,493,776
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MERRME

920

GENERAL INFORMATION

Nickel Resources International Holdings Company Limited
(the "Company”) was incorporated as an exempted company
with limited liability in the Cayman Islands on 11 March 2004
under the Companies Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The registered
office of the Company is located at Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands. The principal place of business of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) is located at
No. 7, Block F, Runhua Business Garden, No. 24, Jinshui Road,
Jinshui District, Zhengzhou City, Henan Province, the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC"), 450012. The principal place of
business of the Company is located at Room 1705, West Tower,
Shun Tak Centre, 168-200 Connaught Road Central, Hong
Kong.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holdings.
The Group is principally engaged in the manufacturing, sub-
contracting and sale of iron and steel products in the PRC and
the trading of ore. The Company’s shares are listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, Easyman Assets
Management Limited (“Easyman”), a company incorporated in
the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”) and wholly owned by Mr. Dong
Shutong (“Mr. Dong”), is the ultimate holding company of the
Company. Mr. Dong is regarded as ultimate controlling party.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollar (“HK$"), unless otherwise stated, and have been
approved for issue by the board of Directors on 28 March 2018.

RERERERAR AT

—RER

BEREAEERBRAA (TRAR]) R
—ETENEF="AT - BRBHAEHE AR
EEBNE (—NAR—FFE=ZREH &7
aREINEREHETMR L RER R
AR A A AR B FE M 3 E B AL Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands ° 252 &]
LEWBAR (il AEE]) 2L EM
BRAIPA R E ARKEFE ([H )W A E
M2 7KE KB 2457 B S IC R FEETH
(E#HAS0012) e KRR EEZEH BN
BATHBF 1682005 =+ L FAE1705

=
&=-°

RRBZETBEBRREER - AEEBTE
R B FaE S mAEE T RHE MR
BBSHER - ARANBOHRBLHAERS
FrBR AR (B3P ) ERET -

BREBEARFESZER REBRRES
((RBEzES MK HEERE
& ([ExAE]) R EHEB ZEasyman Assets
Management Limited ([Easyman |) &R
R BRRER AT - EREFERRERIER
ﬁo

ZERA M BEmRIAETT (1BT]) 55k (BR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MEBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company
have been prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
Cap.622. The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention except that
certain financial assets and liabilities (including derivative
financial instruments) are measured at fair value, as
appropriate.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise
its judgement in the process of applying the Group's
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements, are disclosed in Note 4.

(@) Going concern

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the
Group incurred a net loss of HK$472,689,000 and
had a net operating cash outflow of HK$3,892,000.
As at 31 December 2017, the Group had a
shareholders’ deficit of HK$832,772,000 and
net current liabilities of HK$3,810,153,000,
and the Group's total borrowings amounted to
HK$2,541,987,000 which comprised bank and
other borrowings, convertible bonds and notes
payables of HK$2,493,776,000, HK$46,775,000
and HK$1,436,000, respectively as at 31 December
2017. Cash and cash equivalents of the Group
amounted to HK$20,046,000 as at 31 December
2017.

2 FESHHERME

mEZEE AV RRARANEZ SR
RFIWT R BB RAN ZFHRER

an
BEE2RFEEREKRA -

2.1

RBEE
RABERE Y BRER TR IR
HAEER (BB HREER]) RE
BRARIGRFECRENHBEHRERR -
BRETEMEERAE (BETESH
TE)ERARBENE (WER)IIN A
B A M ERRRAE LKA ER
‘%t'qo

BRI R A R B HRE

EEFEABETEANE G R

EASEERSHBRNBRES TE
BEEABFHE - S RERKESNE
HER H 2 885 - SO8 RBREMGEE 2
BRUGAMBERRAGEATE R
B 5T A% 55 -

(a) PHELZE
HE-_Z—+tF+=-A=+—
BIEFE AEBESSEEFE
472,689,000/ 7T L & &R &
H ¥ %83,892,0008 L - R &
—+F+-RA=+—H8 &~&EH
/) A% B8 &5 41832,772,000/% 7T
B B & %18 43,810,153,000
BLIRAEENBEESR
2,541,987,000%8 7t B ¥EIRIT X
HEtfEE TBREEFREMNE
BR-_ZE—tFE+_A=1+—
B % Bl 52,493,776,0005 7T
46,775,0007% 7T &% 1,436,000/
LR E—+F+=-_A=+—
B A&BERERBESEEDA
20,046,000/ TT
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
(@) Going concern (Continued)

As at 31 December 2017, the Group’s borrowings
to the extent of HK$2,539,731,000 were either
overdue or due for immediate repayment despite
the original contractual repayment dates of some of
these borrowings are beyond twelve months after
31 December 2017. This is mainly because:

() on 19 December 2014, the Group
failed to make interest payment totaling
HK$16,108,000 under the relevant terms
and conditions of its Modified 10% Coupon
Bonds, 12% Coupon Senior Bonds and 8%
Coupon Convertible Bonds (together the
"Bonds"”), details of which are disclosed in
Notes 27 and 28. This constituted an event
of default under the respective terms of the
Bonds. Up to 31 December 2017, the Group
failed to pay interest payment of the Bonds
in aggregate of HK$170,592,000. As a
result, the outstanding principal amounts of
the Bonds totaling HK$466,165,000 (2016:
HK$466,165,000) became immediately
due and payable (subject to the terms and
conditions as stipulated in the Note 27(i)
below), out of which the 12% Coupon Senior
Bonds and 8% Coupon Convertible Bonds of
HK$390,990,000 (2016: HK$390,990,000)
and HK$46,775,000 (2016: HK$46,775,000),
respectively are with original contractual

repayment date within 2018;

RERERERAR AT

2

TEEHHERME (F)

21 mEEE (HF)
(a) HELZE (A
RZE—+tF+=A=+—8"
REEE 2 {£52,539,731,000/8 7T
B AR EHEE  BEE
EETEEZRANEEZBHA
RN—_E—+tF+-_A=+—HZ
BBt -_@EA-TEHR:

) RZE—EmF+=A+AN
B AEBERERBEELE
FIR0%EmMEES 12%
EHEEBLEFKSNET
BEAmRES (5l [%E
B ) 2 1B R AGK
A FE A #£16,108,000
BT BRFHIE BN
27R28 BB ZEESH 2
RGN EEKENS
H-BEE-_ZT—+F+=
A=+—H8 A&E k&
TRHZEEFMNFEE
170,592,0007% 7T ° A It
ZEBHFAREBEZAGH
& 466,165,000 7T ( —
T — N 466,165,000
7T ) B Bk & B B FE
(T XM sE27() AT 5T B8
R IR R AGEHERR) - &
FRERANENRBHA
—E-NFR -DR&E
/$390,990,0008 7T (=&
—754F 1 390,990,000 7T )
ZNHEMEBLEES R
% %8 546,775,0008 7T (=
T — N 146,775,000

T) Z8% =M B Al ik (E
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2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESTHBERME (#)
POLICIES (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 21 REEE(E)

(a) Going concern (Continued) (a) HELK=E (E\)

(i) as at 31 December 2017, a non-current (i RZZFBE—+ttF+ = A
secured bank loan of HK$100,431,000 with =+—H &HEXRBHA
contractual repayment date in 2019 contains ZE-NFHENHER
a repayable on demand clause. As a result, HR1TE 3100,431,00078
the outstanding amount has been classified as TEEREKREEGK
current liabilities as at 31 December 2017; Hit - R=F—+tF+=A

T HMAREERED
WAEARDEIE:

(i) as at 31 December 2017, other loans to (i) RZFBE—+tF+ = A
the extent of HK$239,263,000 had become —+—H8"239,263,000/&
overdue; TTREMERE B

(iv) other borrowings to the extent of (iv) 381,950,000/ T H) H fib &
HK$381,950,000 were overdue and X E 8 A }2331,793,0007%
HK$331,793,000 were on repayable on TR EREE
demand terms;

(v) the Group has obtained a 3-year syndicated V), RZZE-—RF-—H X%
loan of approximately RMB498 million EE g+ E—RERE—
(equivalent to HK$556,859,000) in January BERAH=FNREENRLD
2016 from a syndicate of banks in the ARB4985 & (HER
PRC (i) to replace certain outstanding bank 556,859,000/ 7t.) * (i)t i
loans and notes payable of the Group as NEBMBREERRAR
at 31 December 2015 to the extent of SER-_ZFT—AF+=A
RMB268,620,000 and RMB79,737,000, =t+t-—HHEKREENET
respectively with the syndicated loan of the RITERRENEE €8
same amount; and (i) to provide additional 2B A AR #268,620,000
loan facilities to the Group as working capital TR AR #79,737,0007T
for an amount of RMB150,000,000 (the “New RiRAEBERHEBEIE
Facilities”) for a 3-year term. The New Facilities ARMEEREEES &
have been fully drawn down during the year % A AR ®150,000,000
ended 31 December 2016. The syndicated T([FEME])  RE=
loan is secured by certain property, plant and F-HET—RF+A
equipment and prepaid land lease payments =+—RHIEFE HEmE
of certain subsidiaries of the Group. However, BEEEE A - REEKER
the Group failed to fulfil certain undertakings SEETHBARNET
and restrictive covenant requirements V- -BER&ERER
under these syndicated loan facilities upon T AR EFRIAHELR o AT
signing the syndicated loan agreement. As AEEREZZREE KB
a result, the outstanding amount of the miE - REEBITRSREE
3-year syndicated loan of HK$595,837,000 FREBBTHE TERER
was immediately due and payable as at 31 REMERGZERTE - Ht =
December 2017; and FHREEFHNKREES

#8595,837,000/ TR =&
—+F+-_A=+—HF
BREF B HARE A R
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(a)

Going concern (Continued)

(vij  the Group has obtained an unsecured
3-year loan facility from a PRC bank for an
amount of RMB360 million (equivalent to
HK$430,674,000) (the “Unsecured Loan
Facility”) in June 2016. As at 31 December
2017, approximately RMB355 million
(equivalent to HK$424,292,000) of the
Unsecured Loan Facility has been drawn
down mainly to replace part of the loans in
relation to the proposed disposal of a 30%
equity interest in S.E.A. Mineral Limited
("SEAM"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Group, as detailed in Note 27(d). However,
the Group failed to fulfil certain undertakings
and restrictive covenant requirements under
this Unsecured Loan Facility upon signing the
loan agreement. As a result, the outstanding
amount of this loan of HK$424,292,000
was immediately due and payable as at 31
December 2017.

Together with the accrued interest for borrowings to
the extent of HK$893,946,000 as at 31 December
2017 included in other payables and accruals, the
aggregate borrowings and interest that were either
overdue or due for immediate repayment amounted
to HK$3,433,677,000 as at 31 December 2017.

In addition, the Group is involved in various
claims and dispute as detailed in Note 32 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The aforementioned conditions indicate the
existence of material uncertainties which may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern such that it may not be able to
realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the
normal course of business.

RERERERAR AT

2

TEEHHERME (R)

21 mEEE(HF)
(a) HELZE (A

vy RZZFE—XEXA K&
BEEFRBE—ERITIE
—BAP-FHNEREE
HEE AREK360E & T
(#8 % 430,674,000/ 7T )
(EEHEERBE]) - R
—E—+tF+=R=+—
H - BE#EAHAREISH
&7t (HE7424,292,000
BIL)MEERERRE
FEAURRIBOFER
HEREBE2EWBE QA
mAEBEERAR ([MmF
M3 ])30% R 2 B8 &5F
IBERMIEE27(d) 21T - AN
SERNEBERBRE
REEBITHERBE M
BIETHE TEERRS
MRERE Bt ZE XK
B oK (8 38 € 58424,292,000
BIR-_Z—tF+=A
=+— B ADHE
Fo

BRRZ-ZZE—+tF+= A
=+ —HEFFAHEMENFKIE
MEFTREFRNEGEERNE
893,946,000/ 7T R—E—tF
+=—A=+—HB 2@ AEN
HREENEERBERENBAH
/3,433,677,0007 7T
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2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESTHBERME (#)
POLICIES (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 21 REEE(E)

(a) Going concern (Continued) (@) FELE (E)

In view of such circumstances, the directors of ERZEMRN AR EEERT
the Company have given careful consideration to BAEERLERTHIMBER
the future liquidity and performance of the Group DRELER DREZREARSE
and its available sources of financing in assessing ERRRENE @ RKRIFBAREA
whether the Group will have sufficient financial JFZBERR - AEE D RIS
resources to continue as a going concern. Certain THEAREREE RN
measures have been taken to mitigate the liquidity WEEMBMRR BIEETRR
pressure and to improve its financial position which =

include, but not limited to, the following:

(1) On 5 March 2016, the Company and a N RZE—-—X"E=HAA-
potential investor (the “Potential Investor” ARalk—RBEKRESE
or “Subscriber”) entered into a share (BEKREE] X IRE
subscription agreement to subscribe for a F DRI —TERH RE R
total of 1,465,898,410 new ordinary shares A% B AR0.18768 7T
of the Company at a subscription price of MRBERBELARRAG R
HK$0.1876 per share (the “Subscription 1,465,898,410% ¥ & 8 iX
Shares”), with proposed gross proceeds ([RERGH])  BHEMAE
totalling approximately HK$275 million (the PIARERE HR2.7588 T
“Subscription”), subject to certain conditions (IREHHE]) HEXSE
precedent which, among others, include the FRRGHBRR - BFET
following: RNAT &I :

e approval from the Company's o  EARRAREERIR
shareholders, or independent g ([REFIAE])
shareholders when appropriate, for ERTIEERER
(i) allotment and issuance of the NGNS R VA
Subscription Shares; (i) a Whitewash ROREE ) B -
Waiver; and (iii) a Special Deal (as (VB3 R BEITRBAX
defined hereunder), at the extraordinary B ()ESRRE &
general meeting of the Company (iIEFERRP (Ex R
("EGM"); )
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A 35 R R B o

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
(@) Going concern (Continued)
(1) (Continued)

Whitewash Waiver being granted by
The Securities and Futures Commission
of Hong Kong (“SFC”) in respect of
any obligation of the Subscriber and
parties acting in concert with it to make
a mandatory general offer in cash for
all the issued shares and other relevant
securities of the Company not already
owned (or agreed to be acquired) by the
Subscriber and parties acting in concert
with it which might otherwise arise as a
result of the Subscription;

the consent from the SFC for repayment
to any creditor who is a shareholder of
the Company using the proceeds from
the Subscription under a proposed debt
restructuring as mentioned below (the
“Special Deal");

approval of resumption of trading of
the Company’'s shares, and listing of
the Subscription Shares from the Stock
Exchange; and

BRERERZERBR AR

2

TEEHHERME (F)

2.1
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(@) #HEELE (H)
m &
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESTHBERME (#)
POLICIES (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 21 REEE(E)
(a) Going concern (Continued) (@) IFELE (E)
(1) (Continued) (m (&)

e completion of a debt restructuring by e ARrIFEBIFE]
the Company by way of the “Schemes” (MisE) TR EB EA
(Note) (the “Debt Restructuring ([EEEEE]) -
Proposal”). The debt restructuring BRERERA AN
refers to a plan for restructuring of BEIEEMTE EF
the indebtedness of the Company BR(EFRBE):
which involves, among other things: (i) ()EI R B 5T SE (B 25 BY
the reduction and cancellation of the REBRXEHED
outstanding principal amount of the 80% : (ii)Hll &l Fe 7k 85
Bonds by at least 80%; (ii) the reduction BEHMAEREERE
and cancellation of all the outstanding AR (iR ke
accrued interests of the Bonds; (iii) the BRot12%EmEE %
release and discharge of all security EH N8%EME A
collateral provided in relation to the BMRESFRENRE
12% Coupon Senior Bonds and the 8% 3 m  R(v)BIR &
Coupon Convertible Bonds; and (iv) the RSB EAEEA
reduction and cancellation of all other MEARRNEFTE EA
indebtedness and contingent liabilities EERIABEBEED
of the Company as referred to in the 80% °
Debt Restructuring Proposal, by at least
80%.

In respect of the above, the Company A LEEME  AR2FE2

appointed a financial advisor and debt ZHEVBERRERER

restructuring scheme advisor to facilitate the FrEIREEEEREEIE

Subscription and Debt Restructuring Proposal. NMEBEAREZE-
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

Going concern (Continued)

(a)

(M

(Continued)

At the meetings of the holders of the 12%
Coupon Senior Bonds and the 8% Coupon
Convertible Bonds held on 21 June 2016
and 6 July 2016, respectively, separate
extraordinary resolutions (“Extraordinary
Resolutions”) were passed and resolved,
among others, to approve the Debt
Restructuring Proposal, not to enforce any
security of the Bonds until approval of the
Schemes and release the security as required
under the Schemes following the Schemes
becoming effective, vote the entire principal
amount in favour of the Schemes at the
meetings of the Schemes, waive any event
of default or potential event of default which
might or has occurred and not to demand
repayment of any amount due under the
Bonds.

Following the passing and effectiveness of
the Extraordinary Resolutions by 6 July 2016,
the Company is preparing the necessary
documents to submit to the courts for the
relevant creditors’ approval and court sanction
for the Cayman Scheme and the Hong
Kong Scheme under the Debt Restructuring
Proposal.

The Company is also actively negotiating
with other creditors of the Company for the
execution of the Debt Restructuring Proposal.

Note:

The proposed scheme of arrangement pursuant to Section
86 of the Companies Law (2007 Revision) of the Cayman
Islands between the Company and the creditors under such
scheme (the “Cayman Scheme”) and the proposed scheme
of arrangement of pursuant to Sections 670, 673 and 674
of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) between the Company and the creditors under
such scheme (the “Hong Kong Scheme”), collectively are
referred to as the “Schemes”.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESTHBERME ()
POLICIES (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 21 REEE(E)
(a) Going concern (Continued) (a) FELE (E)
(2) In relation to the secured bank loan of 2 MmIBAZREREEIK
HK$100,431,000 which contains a repayable FHAEEBARITER
on demand clause, the Group is actively 100,431,000 7L 5 * 4
negotiating with the bank for the waiver of & B IF 75 19 51 34 22 4E 7 {5
the relevant clause. FRERERITRERS o
(3) In relation to the syndicated bank loan and (3) ®t % 5IA595,837,000/% T
the bank loan under the Unsecured Loan 424,292,000/ Tt H) £ 1K
Facility to the extent of HK$595,837,000 and HERRERTHNREE
HK$424,292,000, respectively, the Group BMBRITERME AEE
is actively negotiating with the respective FTERR L3 8 &G K&
banks for the waiver of the breach of PR 1% 2 56 48 5 B F IR T
the undertaking and restrictive covenant TR o
requirements.
(4) On 21 January 2013, the Group entered 4 R-ZE2—=F—F=_+—
into a non-binding framework agreement B 7% E R L 7 E R Al
with Beijing Wincapital Management Co., EREFARAA (R
Ltd. (“Beijing Wincapital”) in relation to EmlIFTZAEALERE
the disposal of a 30% equity interest in E2EWBAREEBE
SEAM, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the 30% 7 & B MR AD R S HE 4R
Group. The aggregate disposal consideration e MEEREBREANAR
is expected to be approximately US$150 1.5018 3% 7T (4911.7018 %
million (approximately HK$1,170 million). TL) B EREZRZHEEY
The proposed transaction is yet to complete BWwKxBH  HIBREXS
and no formal sales and purchase agreement B AR TTEK » IR E] S E ] IE
has been entered into up to the date of RNEEHE - BIERWES
approval of these consolidated financial E% BHREFEENLE
statements. Longer than expected time was NMRERIBSOREE - it
spent on negotiation of the detailed terms PR A 168 R R A6 1 A B0 PR R
and conditions because of the rapid change REREHE-
in operating and regulatory environment of
SEAM since the framework agreement was
signed.
In connection with the proposed disposal, REEREZLEEEM
Beijing Wincapital arranged certain loan T UArRERAASER
finance to the Group (“Financing Loans”), EETEZRE (REER
which can be settled by offsetting against the ;1) o WEZRLEEIEENU
disposal consideration should the proposed TERK - BVE B KA AR
disposal be completed, details of which are EREXN ERFERE
disclosed in Note 27(d). RHEE27(d) °
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
(@) Going concern (Continued)

(@)

(Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2017,
a loan arranged by Beijing Wincapital
of RMB200,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$239,263,000) has been novated to Henan
Pingyuan Holding Group Co., Ltd (“Ja[FgF
RIERRE BB BRAR" or “Pingyuan”),
details of which are disclosed in Notes 27(d)
and 27(f).

As at 31 December 2017, the
outstanding Financing Loans amounted to
approximately RMB200 million (equivalent
to HK$239,263,000) were overdue for
repayments. Up to the date of approval of the
consolidated financial statements, the Group
has not received any letter from the lender
demanding for repayment of these loans.
Management is currently negotiating with
the relevant parties to formally extend the
repayment of these borrowings to facilitate
the completion of the proposed disposal.
Management believes that with bona fide
intention for all relevant parties, the proposed
disposal will be completed and the Group will
be able to offset all these borrowings against
the disposal consideration.

On 11 March 2018, the Group entered into
a sale and purchase agreement with Mr. Sun
Gang (“Mr. Sun”), who is also a substantial
shareholder of Pingyuan, pursuant to which
the Group agreed to sell 7% equity interest
in SEAM to Mr. Sun at a consideration of
RMB210,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$251,223,000) conditional upon, amongst
others, obtaining approval from shareholders
of the Company at an extraordinary general
meeting and resumption of trading of the
Company's shares.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
(@) Going concern (Continued)

(5)

Annual Report 2017

Apart from the borrowings mentioned in (1)
to (4) above, the Group had other borrowings
from certain related parties of the Group,
the Potential Investor, related parties of the
Potential Investor and other third parties
(secured and unsecured) of HK$89,086,000,
HK$236,870,000, HK$314,524,000 and
HK$73,263,000, respectively that were either
overdue or due for immediate repayment as
at 31 December 2017. The Group has been
actively negotiating with the lenders for the
renewal and extension of the repayment dates
of these borrowings, of which an extension
of the repayments of the borrowings from
related parties of the Potential Investor for a
term of 2 years is currently under discussion.

The Group is also negotiating with various
financial institutions and identifying various
options for financing the Group’s working
capital and commitments in the foreseeable
future, including identification of potential
investors to invest in various projects
undertaken by the Group.

The Group is also maximizing its sales
effort, including speeding up of sales of its
existing inventories and seeking new orders
from overseas markets or new customers
on developed new products, exploring new
business opportunities and implementing
more stringent cost control measures with
a view to improving operating cash flows.
During the year ended 31 December 2017,
the Group has also engaged in providing sub-
contracting services to external customers.
Management believes that the Group will
be able to record a significant increase in
revenue in the coming twelve months after
the reporting period.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(a)

Going concern (Continued)

(8) The Group has engaged legal advisors to
handle all claims and disputes as detailed
in Note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements. In preparing these consolidated
financial statements, the directors have also
obtained advice from legal advisors on these
matters and, based upon which, are of the
view that the Group will be able to resolve
those outstanding claims and disputes, with
no significant cash outflows in the next twelve
months.

The directors have reviewed the Group's cash flow
projections prepared by management that covered
a period of not less than twelve months from the
end of the reporting period and considered that,
taking into account the above-mentioned plans and
measures, the Group will have sufficient working
capital to finance its operations and to meet its
financial obligations as and when they fall due
within the next twelve months from the end of the
reporting period, and therefore it is appropriate to
prepare the consolidated financial information on a
going concern basis.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
(@) Going concern (Continued)

Notwithstanding the above, significant multiple
uncertainties exist as to whether management of
the Company will be able to achieve its plans and
measures as described above. Whether the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern would
depend upon the Group’s ability to manage its
indebtedness, and generate adequate financing and
operating cash flows through:

W)

Annual Report 2017

successful completion of the issuance
of the Subscription Shares after fulfilling
all conditions precedent as detailed, but
not limited to, above and in particular
by the successful completion of the Debt
Restructuring Proposal;

successful negotiation with the banks for the
waiver of the repayable on demand clause
and breach of the undertaking and restrictive
covenant requirements;

successful negotiation with the financiers
to extend the repayment date of a loan
arranged by Beijing Wincapital (see Note
27(d)) of RMB200 million (equivalent to
HK$239,263,000) until completion of the
proposed disposal of interest in SEAM under
the above-mentioned framework agreement
at the prescribed consideration and be
able to collect the disposal consideration
in full immediately upon completion of
the transaction after properly offsetting
the above-mentioned borrowings of
approximately RMB200 million;
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
(@) Going concern (Continued)

(4)  successful negotiation with the related parties
of the Group, the Potential Investor, related

parties of the Potential Investor and other third
party lenders for extension of their relevant
borrowings by maintaining relationship with
them, and such that no action will be taken
by those lenders to demand immediate
repayment of the overdue borrowings under
negotiation;

successful negotiation with the lenders for
obtaining additional new financing and other
sources of funding as and when required,;

successful implementation of its operation
plans described above to control costs and
generate adequate operating cash flows; and

successful resolution of the outstanding claims
and disputes, and without significant cash
outflows in the next twelve months.

Should the Group fail to achieve the above
mentioned plans and measures, it might not be
able to continue to operate as a going concern,
and adjustments would have to be made to write
down the carrying values of the Group's assets to
their recoverable amounts, to provide for any further
liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-
current assets and non-current liabilities as current
assets and current liabilities, respectively. The effects
of these adjustments have not been reflected in
these consolidated financial statements.
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e MEBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
(b) Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

(1)

Annual Report 2017

New and amended standards adopted by the

Group

The following amendments to standards have
been adopted by the Group for the first time
for the financial year beginning on or after 1
January 2017:

o Recognition of deferred tax assets for
unrealised losses — Amendments to IAS
12

° Annual improvements to IFRSs 2014 —
2016 cycle — Amendments to IFRS 12,
and

o Disclosure initiative — Amendments to
IAS 7.

The adoption of these amendments did not
have any material impact on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the
current year. The amendments to IAS 7 require
disclosure of changes in liabilities arising from
financing activities.

Nickel Resources International Holdings Company Limited
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
(Continued)

(b)

@)

New standards, amendments to standards and
interpretations not yet adopted

A number of new standards, amendments
to standards and interpretations are effective
for annual periods beginning after 1 January
2017 and have not been applied in preparing
these consolidated financial statements. The
Group's assessment of the impact of these
new standards, amendments to standards and
interpretations is set out below.

IFRS 9, “Financial instruments”

IFRS 9 addresses the classification,
measurement and derecognition of financial
assets and financial liabilities, introduces
new rules for hedge accounting and a new
impairment model for financial assets.

The Group has reviewed its financial assets
and liabilities. The Group does not expect the
new guidance to affect the classification and
measurement of the financial assets.

There will be no impact on the Group’s
accounting for financial liabilities, as the
new requirements only affect the accounting
for financial liabilities that are designated
at fair value through profit or loss and the
Group does not have any such liabilities. The
derecognition rules have been transferred
from IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement’ and have not
been changed.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
(b) Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
(Continued)

@)

Annual Report 2017

New standards, amendments to standards and
interpretations not yet adopted (Continued)
IFRS 9, “Financial instruments” (Continued)

The new impairment model requires the
recognition of impairment provisions based
on expected credit losses (“ECL") rather than
only incurred credit losses as is the case under
IAS 39. It applies to financial assets classified
at amortised cost, debt instruments measured
at FVOCI, contract assets under IFRS 15
‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’,
lease receivables, loan commitments and
certain financial guarantee contracts. Based
on the assessments undertaken to date, the
Group does not expect significant increase
or decrease in the loss allowance for trade
debtors.

The new standard also introduces expanded
disclosure requirements and changes in
presentation. These are expected to change
the nature and extent of the Group’s
disclosures about its financial instruments
particularly in the year of the adoption of the
new standard.

IFRS 9 must be applied for financial years
commencing on or after 1 January 2018. The
Group will apply the new rules retrospectively
from 1 January 2018, with the practical
expedients permitted under the standard.
Comparatives for 2017 will not be restated.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
(Continued)

(b)

@)

New standards, amendments to standards and
interpretations not yet adopted (Continued)
IFRS 15, “Revenue from contracts with
customers”

The International Accounting Standards Board
("IASB") has issued a new standard for the
recognition of revenue. This will replace IAS
18 which covers contracts for goods and
services and IAS 11 which covers construction
contracts and the related literature.

The new standard is based on the principle
that revenue is recognised when control of a
good or service transfers to a customer.

The standard permits either a full retrospective
or a modified retrospective approach for the
adoption.

Management is currently assessing the effects
of applying the new standards on the Group's
consolidated financial statements. Based on
the assessments undertaken to date, it is
considered that the new standard does not
have a significant impact on the Group’s
revenue recognition.

IFRS 15 is mandatory for financial years
commencing on or after 1 January 2018. The
Group intends to adopt the standard using the
modified retrospective approach which means
that the cumulative impact of the adoption
will be recognised in retained earnings as of 1
January 2018 and that comparatives will not
be restated.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
(b) Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
(Continued)

@)
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New standards, amendments to standards and
interpretations not yet adopted (Continued)
IFRS 16, “Leases”

IFRS 16 was issued in January 2016. It will
result in almost all leases being recognised on
the balance sheet, as the distinction between
operating and finance leases is removed.
Under the new standard, an asset (the
right to use the leased item) and a financial
liability to pay rentals are recognised. The
only exceptions are short-term and low-value
leases.

The accounting for lessors will not significantly
change.

The standard will affect primarily the
accounting for the Group’s operating leases.
As at the reporting date, the Group has non-
cancellable operating lease commitments of
HK$2,982,000.

The Group has not yet assessed the
adjustments, if any, are necessary for example
because of the change in the definition of
the lease term and the different treatment of
variable lease payments and of extension and
termination options. It is therefore not yet
possible to estimate the amount of right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities that will have
to be recognised on adoption of the new
standard and how this may affect the Group’s
profit or loss and classification of cash flows
going forward.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
(Continued)

(b)

@)

New standards, amendments to standards and
interpretations not yet adopted (Continued)
IFRS 16, “Leases” (Continued)

IFRS 16 is mandatory for financial years
commencing on or after 1 January 2019.
At this stage, the Group does not intend to
adopt the standard before its effective date.
The Group intends to apply the simplified
transition approach and will not restate
comparative amounts for the year prior to first
adoption.

There are no other standards and
interpretations that are not yet effective and
that would be expected to have a material
impact on the entity in the current or future
reporting periods and on foreseeable future
transactions.

2.2 Subsidiaries
2.2.1 Consolidation

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity) over which the Group has control. The Group
controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or
has rights to, variable returns from is involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the entity.
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Group. They are
deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.2 Subsidiaries (Continued)
2.2.1 Consolidation (Continued)

(a)
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Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method
to account for business combinations. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition
of a subsidiary is the fair values of the
assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to
the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group. The
consideration transferred includes the fair
value of any asset or liability resulting from
a contingent consideration arrangement.
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are measured initially at their fair
value at the acquisition date.

The Group recognises any non-controlling
interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-
by-acquisition basis. Non-controlling
interests in the acquiree that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders
to a proportionate share of the entity’s
net assets in the event of liquidation are
measured at either fair value or the present
ownership interests’ proportionate share in
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other components
of non-controlling interests are measured at
their acquisition date fair value, unless another
measurement basis is required by IFRS.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.2 Subsidiaries (Continued)

2.2.1 Consolidation (Continued)

E))

Business combinations (Continued)

If the business combination is achieved in
stages, the acquisition date carrying value of
the acquirer’s previously held equity interest
in the acquiree is re-measured to fair value at
the acquisition date; any gains or losses arising
from such re-measurement are recognised in
profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be
transferred by the Group is recognised at fair
value at the acquisition date. Subsequent
changes to the fair value of the contingent
consideration that is deemed to be an asset or
liability is recognised in accordance with IAS
39 in profit or loss. Contingent consideration
that is classified as equity is not remeasured,
and its subsequent settlement is accounted for
within equity.

The excess of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interest
in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair
value of any previous equity interest in the
acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable
net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill.
If the total of consideration transferred, non-
controlling interest recognised and previously
held interest measured is less than the fair
value of the net assets of the subsidiary
acquired in the case of a bargain purchase,
the difference is recognised directly in the
consolidated income statement.

Intra-group transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between
group companies are eliminated. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated. When necessary,
amounts reported by subsidiaries have
been adjusted to conform with the Group’s
accounting policies.

RERERERAR AT

2

TEEHHERME (8)

22 HEAR (&)
221 FEAR (#)

@) HBEG(E)
3756 B 0 B BUETT - W
BHERBAENRKRER
BRENERSRREES
Mt ERRNEEERA
REE MEZEHTEELE
MEMkEREERN R

AEBEMEZATMHIR
REBFELEERRAR
BEER -PRR—REE
FEENIAREIRE
BEREZE BRRERE
FHERIZE3SRARE - W1
AR - DR AN
AREBBEENE ME
BEEN RS AR

FREgE B WU 2
o] JEfR PR i 2 & B S (E A
SERTR BT 2 B
WERMZAREEER
PR ER BRI FEER R
EBEZEZR IARIIER
FoHEREANE CHER
FEEEER AT
st 8 2 AREN A
BHBRBZREEZAR
BE(RZEREZER
) AIZEBEEEERER
BUWER AR -

FrESBARMERRRED
X5 B RARER WSS
S RERBETSY
H-EAERER WEAR
FIRE R FL T AR
R SARERAN ST
KR -

R FFERSE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MEBRRME

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.2 Subsidiaries (Continued)

2.2.1 Consolidation (Continued)

(b)

Annual Report 2017

Changes in ownership interests

The group treats transactions with non-
controlling interests that do not result in a
loss of control as transactions with equity
owners of the group. A change in ownership
interest results in an adjustment between the
carrying amounts of the controlling and non-
controlling interests to reflect their relative
interests in the subsidiary. Any difference
between the amount of the adjustment
to non-controlling interests and any
consideration paid or received is recognised in
a separate reserve within equity attributable to
owners of the Company.

When the group ceases to consolidate or
equity account for an investment because of
a loss of control, joint control or significant
influence, any retained interest in the entity is
remeasured to its fair value with the change in
carrying amount recognised in profit or loss.
This fair value becomes the initial carrying
amount for the purposes of subsequently
accounting for the retained interest as an
associate, joint venture or financial asset. In
addition, any amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in respect of
that entity are accounted for as if the group
had directly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities. This may mean that amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income are reclassified to profit or loss or
transferred to another category of equity as
specified/permitted by applicable IFRSs.

If the ownership interest in a joint venture
or an associate is reduced but joint control
or significant influence is retained, only a
proportionate share of the amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.2 Subsidiaries (Continued)

2.2.2 Separate financial statements
Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost
less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable
costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving a dividend from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the
period the dividend is declared or if the carrying
amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee’s
net assets including goodwill.

2.3 Associate

An associate is an entity over which the Group
has significant influence but not control, generally
accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and
50% of the voting rights. Investment in an associate is
accounted for using the equity method of accounting.
Under the equity method, the investment is initially
recognised at cost, and the carrying amount is increased
or decreased to recognise the investor’s share of the
profit or loss of the investee after the date of acquisition.
The Group's investment in an associate includes goodwill
identified on acquisition. Upon the acquisition of the
ownership interest in an associate, any difference between
the cost of the associate and the Group's share of the net
fair value of the associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities
is accounted for as goodwill.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but
significant influence is retained, only a proportionate
share of the amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit loss where
appropriate.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.3

24
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Associate (Continued)

The Group’s share of post-acquisition profit or loss
is recognised in the consolidated income statement,
and its share of post-acquisition movements in
other comprehensive income is recognised in other
comprehensive income with a corresponding adjustment
to the carrying amount of the investment. When the
Group's share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds
its interest in the associate, including any other unsecured
receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses,
unless it has incurred legal or constructive obligations or
made payments on behalf of the associate.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether
there is any objective evidence that the investment in
the associate is impaired. If this is the case, the Group
calculates the amount of impairment as the difference
between the recoverable amount of the associate and
its carrying value and recognises the amount adjacent to
‘share of loss of an associate’ in the consolidated income
statement.

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and
downstream transactions between the Group and
its associate are recognised in the Group’s financial
statements only to the extent of unrelated investor’s
interests in the associates. Unrealised losses are eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of the
associate have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Gain or losses on dilution of equity interest in an associate
are recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief
operations decision-maker. The chief operating decision-
maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and
assessing performance of the operating segments, has
been identified as the executive directors of the Company
who make strategic decisions.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.5 Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

[tems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group's entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (the “functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in
HK$, which is the Company’s functional and the
Group’s presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or
valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the income statement,
except when deferred in equity as qualifying net
investment hedges.

All other foreign exchange gains and losses are
presented in the consolidated income statement
within “other (losses)/gains, net”.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(9]

Annual Report 2017

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyper-inflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the end of the reporting
period;

(i) income and expenses for each income
statement are translated at average exchange
rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of
the rates prevailing on the transaction dates,
in which case income and expenses are
translated at the rate on the dates of the
transactions); and

(i) all resulting currency translation differences
are recognised in other comprehensive
income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated
at the closing rate. Currency translation differences
arising are recognised in other comprehensive
income.

2

TEEHHERME (F)

25 IMNERE (F)
(0 &HKEALF
AEEETHEERIFEEHESE
BREB T -z & (HH
WEREAERFABKREE K
BRERACEY) HEERMB
MABRA T HEREREWE
W

() BEFBRRAKRAZIZ
BERBEHRRREH
RZEEREXRBRE

(i) BEWERZBARXZH
BIRR T ERIBE - BRIE
FEHERSERTRH A
ERZRETEZAED
UE - AR HARR 5
HEX®E K

(i) FAEELEZEREZRTARN
H 2 e o HERR o

R BB ERMEENEER
RABERHR  DERBEREN
ERMEERAR TREEA
ERMB-EEZELZER
H 2 [ Y ek o AR

Nickel Resources International Holdings Company Limited 117



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MERRME

2

118

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(d) Disposal of foreign operation and partial

disposal

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a
disposal of the Group's entire interest in a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of control over
a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of significant influence over
an associate that includes a foreign operation), all
of the currency translation differences accumulated
in equity in respect of that operation attributable to
the equity holders of the Company are reclassified
to profit or loss.

In the case of a partial disposal that does not result
in the Group losing control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, the proportionate
share of accumulated currency translation
differences are re-attributed to non-controlling
interests and are not recognised in the income
statement. For all other partial disposals (that is,
reductions in the Group’s ownership interest in an
associate that do not result in the Group losing
significant influence) the proportionate share of the
accumulated exchange difference is reclassified to
the consolidated income statement.

2.6 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses. Historical cost includes expenditure
that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other
repairs and maintenance are charged to the consolidated
income statement during the financial period in which
they are incurred.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.6 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method
to allocate their cost to their residual values over their
estimate useful lives, as follows:

— Buildings 15-25 years
— Plant and machinery 8-15 years
— Office equipment 3-5 years
— Motor vehicles and other 5-25 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.9).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and
are recognised within ‘other (losses)/gains, net’ in the
consolidated income statement.

Construction-in-progress represents buildings, plant and
machinery under construction and pending installation
and is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
Cost includes the costs of construction of buildings, the
costs of plant and machinery and, for qualifying assets,
borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the
Group's accounting policies. No provision for depreciation
is made on construction-in-progress until such time as
the relevant assets are completed and ready for intended
use. When the assets concerned are brought to use, the
costs are transferred to property, plant and equipment and
depreciated in accordance with the policy as stated above.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.7

2.8

Prepaid land lease payments

Prepaid land lease payments are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment
losses. Cost represents consideration paid for the rights
to use the land on which various plants and buildings are
situated for a period of 20 to 50 years. Amortisation of
prepaid land lease payments is calculated on a straight-line
basis over the period of leases.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the
date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are
assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets
with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful
economic life and assessed for impairment whenever
there is an indication that the intangible asset may be
impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation
method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are
reviewed at least at each financial reporting date.

Exclusive offtake right

The exclusive offtake right represents the exclusive right to
purchase iron ore by the Group from an iron ore supplier
for a period of 29 years ending 24 January 2036. The
exclusive offtake right is stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any impairment losses. The exclusive
offtake right is amortised based on the unit of purchase
method.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (Continued)
2.9 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life or not ready to
use are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually
for impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation
are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may
not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised
for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount
is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and
value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment,
assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units).
Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered
an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the
impairment at each reporting date.

2.10 Financial assets

Annual Report 2017

2.10.1 Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following categories: at fair value through profit or
loss, loans and receivables, and available-for-sale.
The classification depends on the purpose for which
the financial assets were acquired. Management
determines the classification of its financial assets at
initial recognition.

(@) Financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss
The group classifies financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss if they are
acquired principally for the purpose of selling
in the short term, ie are held for trading. They
are presented as current assets if they are
expected to be sold within 12 months after
the end of the reporting period; otherwise
they are presented as non-current assets.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.10 Financial assets (Continued)

2.10.1 Classification (Continued)

(b)

(©)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative
financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active
market. If collection of the amounts is
expected in one year or less they are classified
as current assets. If not, they are presented
as non-current assets. The Group's loans
and receivables comprise trade and notes
receivables, deposits and other receivables,
pledged time deposits and cash and cash
equivalents.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Investments are designated as available-
for-sale financial assets if they do not have
fixed maturities and fixed or determinable
payments, and management intends to
hold them for the medium to long-term.
Financial assets that are not classified into any
of the other categories (at FVPL, loans and
receivables or held-to-maturity investments)
are also included in the available-for-sale
category. The financial assets are presented
as non-current assets unless they mature,
or management intends to dispose of them
within 12 months of the end of the reporting
period.

As at 31 December 2016 and 2017, the
Group did not have any financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss and available-for-
sale financial assets.
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e MEBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
2.10 Financial assets (Continued)
2.10.2 Recognition and derecognition

Annual Report 2017

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on trade-date, the date on which
the group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights
to receive cash flows from the financial assets have
expired or have been transferred and the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership.

2.10.3 Measurement

At initial recognition, the group measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss,
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs
of financial assets carried at fair value through profit
or loss are expensed in profit or loss.

Loans and receivables is subsequently carried at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Available-for-sale financial assets and financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently
carried at fair value. Gains or losses arising from
changes in the fair value are recognised as follows:

o for financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss — in profit or loss within other income
or other expenses

o for available-for-sale financial assets that are
monetary securities denominated in a foreign
currency — translation differences related to
changes in the amortised cost of the security
are recognised in profit or loss and other
changes in the carrying amount are recognised
in other comprehensive income

° for other monetary and non-monetary
securities classified as available-for-sale — in
other comprehensive income.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.10 Financial assets (Continued)

2.10.3 Measurement (Continued)

Dividends on financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss and available-for-sale equity
instruments are recognised in consolidated income
statement as part of other income when the
Group's right to receive payments is established.

Interest income from financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss is included in the other gains,
net. Interest on available-for-sale securities, held-
to-maturity investments and loans and receivables
calculated using the effective interest method is
recognised in the consolidated income statement as
part of other income.

2.10.4 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the
net amount reported in the statement of financial
position when there is a legally enforceable right
to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset
and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally
enforceable right must not be contingent on future
events and must be enforceable in the normal
course of business and in the event of default,
insolvency or bankruptcy of the company or the
counterparty.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MEBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.10 Financial assets (Continued)
2.10.5 Impairment of financial assets

(a)

Annual Report 2017

Assets carried at amortised cost

The Group assesses at the end of each
reporting period whether there is objective
evidence that a financial asset or a group of
financial assets is impaired. A financial asset
or a group of financial assets is impaired and
impairment losses are incurred only if there is
objective evidence of impairment as a result
of one or more events that occurred after the
initial recognition of the asset (a “loss event”)
and that loss event (or events) has an impact
on the estimated future cash flows of the
financial asset or group of financial assets that
can be reliably estimated.

Evidence of impairment may include
indications that the debtors or a group of
debtors is experiencing significant financial
difficulty, default or delinquency in interest
or principal payments, the probability that
they will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation, and where observable data
indicate that there is a measurable decrease
in the estimated future cash flows, such as
changes in arrears or economic conditions that
correlate with defaults.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.10 Financial assets (Continued)

2.10.5 Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

E))

Assets carried at amortised cost (Continued)

For loans and receivables category, the
amount of the loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows (excluding future credit
losses that have not been incurred) discounted
at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate. The carrying amount of the
asset is reduced and the amount of the loss
is recognised in the income statement. If a
loan or held-to-maturity investment has a
variable interest rate, the discount rate for
measuring any impairment loss is the current
effective interest rate determined under the
contract. As a practical expedient, the Group
may measure impairment on the basis of an
instrument’s fair value using an observable
market price.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount
of the impairment loss decreases and the
decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised
(such as an improvement in the debtor’s
credit rating), the reversal of the previously
recognised impairment loss is recognised in
the consolidated income statement.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MEBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.10 Financial assets (Continued)
2.10.5 Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(b)

Annual Report 2017

Assets classified as available-for-sale

The Group assesses at the end of each
reporting period whether there is objective
evidence that a financial asset or a group of
financial assets is impaired. For debt securities,
the Group uses the criteria referred to in
(a) above. In the case of equity investments
classified as available-for-sale, a significant
or prolonged decline in the fair value of the
security below its cost is also evidence that
the assets are impaired. If any such evidence
exists for available-for-sale financial assets,
the cumulative loss — measured as the
difference between the acquisition cost and
the current fair value, less any impairment loss
on that financial asset previously recognised
in the consolidated income statement — is
removed from equity and recognised in the
consolidated income statement. Impairment
losses recognised in the consolidated income
statement on equity instruments are not
reversed through the consolidated income
statement. If, in a subsequent period, the
fair value of a debt instrument classified
as available-for-sale increases and the
increase can be objectively related to an
event occurring after the impairment loss
was recognised in the consolidated income
statement, the impairment loss is reversed
through the consolidated income statement.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
2.11 Financial liabilities
2.11.1Recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities within the scope of IAS 39 are
classified as financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss, financial liabilities carried at amortised
cost, or as derivatives designated as hedging
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.
The Group determines the classification of its

financial liabilities at initial recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair
value and, in the case of financial liabilities carried
at amortised cost, net of directly attributable

transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade, notes
and other payables, derivative financial instruments,
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, and

convertible bonds.

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities

depends on their classification as follows:

(@) Financial liabilities at fair value through profit

or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss include financial liabilities held for
trading and financial liabilities designated
upon initial recognition as at fair value

through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for
trading if they are acquired for the purpose of
selling in the near term. This category includes
derivative financial instruments entered into by
the Group that are not designated as hedging
instruments in hedge relationships as defined
by IAS 39. Separated embedded derivatives
are also classified as held for trading unless
they are designated as effective hedging
instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities held
for trading are recognised in the consolidated
income statement. The net fair value gain or
loss recognised in the income statement does
not include any interest charged on these

financial liabilities.
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e MEBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.11 Financial liabilities (Continued)
2.11.1Recognition and measurement (Continued)

(a)

®)

Annual Report 2017

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss (Continued)

Financial liabilities designated upon initial
recognition at fair value through profit or
loss are designated at the date of initial
recognition and only if the criteria in IAS 39
are satisfied.

Financial liabilities carried at amortised cost

After initial recognition, interest-bearing
financial liabilities are subsequently measured
at amortised cost, using the effective interest
rate method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised
in the income statement when the liabilities
are derecognised as well as through the
effective interest rate amortisation process.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan
facilities are recognised as transaction costs
of the loan to the extent that it is probable
that some or all of the facility will be drawn
down. In this case, the fee is deferred until
the draw-down occurs. To the extent there
is no evidence that it is probable that some
or all of the facility will be drawn down, the
fee is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity
services and amortised over the period of the
facility to which it relates.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
2.11 Financial liabilities (Continued)

2.11.1Recognition and measurement (Continued)

(c)  Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the
Group are those contracts that require a
payment to be made to reimburse the holder
for a loss it incurs because the specified
debtor fails to make a payment when due
in accordance with the terms of a debt
instrument. A financial guarantee contract
is recognised initially as a liability at its fair
value, adjusted for transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the issuance of the
guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition,
the Group measures the financial guarantee
contract at the higher of: (i) the amount of the
best estimate of the expenditure required to
settle the present obligation at the end of the
reporting period; and (ii) the amount initially
recognised less, when appropriate, cumulative
amortisation.

2.11.2 Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the
obligation under the liability is discharged or
cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by
another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the
original liability and a recognition of a new liability,
and the difference between the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in the consolidated income
statement.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.11 Financial liabilities (Continued)

2.11.3 Convertible bonds

If the conversion option of convertible bonds
is an equity instrument, the host of convertible
bonds is recognised as a financial liability in the
consolidated statement of financial position, net of
transaction costs. On issuance of convertible bonds,
the fair value of the host liability component is
determined using a market rate for an equivalent
non-convertible bond; and this amount is carried
as a financial liability on the amortised cost basis
until extinguished on conversion or redemption.
The remainder of the proceeds is allocated to the
conversion option that is recognised and included
in shareholders’ equity, net of transaction costs. The
carrying amount of the conversion option is not
remeasured in subsequent years. Transaction costs
are apportioned between the liability and equity
components of the convertible bonds based on the
allocation of proceeds to the liability and equity
components when the instruments are initially
recognised.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.11 Financial liabilities (Continued)

2.11.3 Convertible bonds (Continued)

If the conversion option of convertible bonds is
not an equity component, it is bifurcated from the
host liability component and separately accounted
for as a derivative. Redemption rights are also
embedded derivatives and accounted for together
with conversion option as a single derivative. On
initial recognition, the derivative component of the
convertible bonds is measured at fair value and
presented as part of derivative financial instruments.
Any excess of proceeds over the amount
initially recognised as the derivative component
is recognised as the host liability component.
Transaction costs are apportioned between the host
liability and derivative components of the convertible
bonds based on the allocation of proceeds to the
host liability and derivative components when the
instruments are initially recognised. The portion of
the transaction costs relating to the host liability
component is recognised initially as part of the
liability. The portion relating to the derivative
component is recognised immediately in the
consolidated income statement.

When the convertible bonds with an equity
component are extinguished before maturity
through an early redemption or repurchase by the
issuer in which the original conversion privileges
are unchanged, the consideration and transaction
costs paid for the redemption or repurchase is
allocated to the liability and equity components of
the instrument at the date of the transaction. The
method used in allocating the consideration paid
and transaction costs to the separate components is
consistent with that used in the original allocation to
the separate components of the proceeds received
when the convertible instrument was issued. The
difference between the carrying amount of the
liability component and the liability component from
the allocation of consideration and transaction costs
paid for the redemption or repurchase is recognised
in the consolidated income statement, whereas
the difference between the carrying amount of the
equity component and the equity component from
the allocation of consideration and transaction costs
paid for the redemption or repurchase is recognised
in equity.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.12 Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
re-measured at their fair value.

(a) Initial recognition and subsequent

measurement

The derivative financial instruments of the Group
represent the conversion option and redemption
option bifurcated from the host contract of
convertible bonds. These derivative financial
instruments are initially recognised at fair value on
the date on which a derivative contract is entered
into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value.
Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value
is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is
negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value
of derivatives are taken directly to the profit or loss.

(b) Classification
Derivative financial instruments that are not
designated as effective hedging instruments are
classified as current or non-current or separated
into current and non-current portions based on an
assessment of the facts and circumstances (i.e., the
underlying contracted cash flows).

Embedded derivatives that are not closely related to
the host contract are classified consistently with the
cash flows of the host contract.

2.13 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the weighted
average method. The cost of finished goods and work in
progress comprises direct materials, direct labour, other
direct costs and related production overheads (based on
normal operating capacity). It excludes borrowing costs.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling
expenses.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.14 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
merchandise sold or services performed in the ordinary
course of business. If collection of trade and other
receivables is expected in one year or less (or in the
normal operating cycle of the business if longer), they are
classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as
non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less allowance for
impairment.

2.15 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand,
demand deposits and short-term highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash,
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and
have a short maturity of generally within three months
when acquired, and are not restricted as to use.

2.16 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net
of tax, from the proceeds.

2.17 Trade payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services
that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business
from suppliers. Accounts payable are classified as current
liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or in
the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If
not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.18 Current and deferred income tax
The income tax expense or credit for the period is the
tax payable on the current period’s taxable income based
on the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction
adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities
attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax
losses.

(a)

(b)

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on
the basis of the lax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period in the
places where the Company’s subsidiaries and
associate operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken
in tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation.
It establishes provisions where appropriate on the
basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax
authorities.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if they arise from the initial recognition
of goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction other than
a business combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable
profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period and are expected to apply when the related
deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred
income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is
probable that future taxable amounts will be
available to utilise those temporary differences and
losses.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.18 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(b)

Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised
for temporary differences between the carrying
amount and tax bases of investments in foreign
operations where the company is able to control the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
and it is probable that the differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current
tax assets and liabilities and when the deferred
tax balances relate to the same taxation authority.
Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset
where the entity has a legally enforceable right
to offset and intends either to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in
consolidated income statement, except to the
extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In
this case, the tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

Companies within the group may be entitled
to claim special tax deductions for investments
in qualifying assets or in relation to qualifying
expenditure. The group accounts for such
allowances as tax credits, which means that the
allowance reduces income tax payable and current
tax expense. A deferred tax asset is recognised for
unclaimed tax credits that are carried forward as
deferred tax assets.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.19 Employee benefits

2.19.1 Retirement benefit schemes

Obligatory retirement benefits in the form of
contributions under defined contribution retirement
schemes administered by local government agencies
are charged to the consolidated income statement
as incurred.

The PRC subsidiaries of the Company participate in
defined contribution retirement plans. All employees
of these companies are entitled to an annual
pension equal to a fixed proportion of the average
basic salary amount within the geographical area.
The subsidiaries are required to make contributions
to the local social security bureau at rates ranging
from 20% to 21% of the previous year's average
basic salaries within the geographical area where
the employees are under employment. The Group
has no obligations for the payment of pension
benefits beyond the annual contributions as set out
above. The contributions are charged to the income
statement as they become payable.

The Group also operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit
scheme (the “MPF Scheme") under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all
employees of the companies in Hong Kong who
are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme.
Contributions are made based on a percentage
of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged
to the income statement as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.
The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’'s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed to the MPF Scheme.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.19 Employee benefits (Continued)

2.19.2 Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment
is terminated by the Group before the normal
retirement date, or whenever an employee accepts
voluntary redundancy in exchange for these
benefits. The Group recognises termination benefits
at the earlier of the following dates: (a) when the
Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those
benefits; and (b) when the entity recognises costs
for a restructuring that is within the scope of I1AS 37
and involves the payment of termination benefits.
In the case of an offer made to encourage voluntary
redundancy, the termination benefits are measured
based on the number of employees expected to
accept the offer. Benefits falling due more than 12
months after the end of the reporting period are
discounted to their present value.

2.19.3 Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for
annual leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the end of reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.19 Employee benefits (Continued)
2.19.4 Share-based payments

(a)

Annual Report 2017

Equity-settled share-based payment
transactions

The Company operates an equity-settled,
share-based compensation plan, under which
the entity receives services from employees
as consideration for equity instruments
(options) of the Company. The fair value of
the employee services received in exchange
for the grant of the options is recognised as
an expense. The total amount to be expensed
is determined by reference to the fair value of
the options granted:

o including any market performance
conditions (for example, an entity’s
share price);

o excluding the impact of any service
and non-market performance vesting
conditions (for example, profitability,
sales growth targets and remaining an
employee of the entity over a specified
time period); and

o including the impact of any non-vesting
conditions (for example, the requirement
for employees to save).

Non-market performance and service
conditions are included in assumptions about
the number of options that are expected to
vest. The total expense is recognised over the
vesting period, which is the period over which
all of the specified vesting conditions are to be
satisfied.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.19 Employee benefits (Continued)

2.19.4 Share-based payments (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Equity-settled share-based payment
transactions (Continued)

In addition, in some circumstances employees
may provide services in advance of the grant
date and therefore the grant date fair value is
estimated for the purposes of recognising the
expense during the period between service
commencement period and grant date.

At the end of each reporting period, the
Group revises its estimates of the number of
options that are expected to vest based on
the non-marketing performance and service
conditions. It recognises the impact of the
revision to original estimates, if any, in the
income statement, with a corresponding
adjustment to equity.

When the options are exercised, the Company
issues new shares. The proceeds received net
of any directly attributable transaction costs
are credited to share capital (nominal value)
and share premium.

Share-based payment transactions among
group entities

The grant by the Company of options over
its equity instruments to the employees
of subsidiary undertakings in the Group
is treated as a capital contribution. The
fair value of employee services received,
measured by reference to the grant date fair
value, is recognised over the vesting period
as an increase to investments in subsidiaries
undertakings, with a corresponding credit to
equity in the Company’s financial statements.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.20 Borrowing costs

2.21

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as
the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in the
consolidated income statement in the period in which
they are incurred.

Leases

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and
rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are
classified as operating leases. Payments made under
operating leases (net of any incentives received from the
lessor), are charged to the consolidated income statement
on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

2.22 Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will
be received and all attaching conditions will be complied
with. When the grant relates to an expense item, it is
recognised as income on a systematic basis over the
periods that the costs, which it is intended to compensate,
are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is
credited to “Other long-term payables” and is released
to the consolidated income statement over the expected
useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual
instalments or deducted from the carrying amount of the
asset and released to the consolidated income statement
by way of a reduced depreciation charge when all
attaching conditions are complied with.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.23 Provisions

Provision for restructuring costs and legal claims are
recognised when: the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably
estimated. Restructuring provisions comprise lease
termination penalties and employee termination payments.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement
is determined by considering the class of obligations as a
whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of
an outflow with respect to any one item included in the
same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due
to passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

2.24 Contingent liabilities

Contingent liabilities are possible obligations that arise
from past events and whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence of one or more future events
not wholly within the control of the Group. Where it is
not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability.

2.25 Revenue and income recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable, and represents amounts receivable
for goods supplied or services provided, stated net of
discounts, returns and value added taxes. The Group
recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can
be reliably measured; when it is probable that future
economic benefits will flow to the entity; and when
specific criteria have been met for each of the Group's
activities, as described below. The Group bases its
estimates of return on historical results, taking into
consideration the type of customer, the type of transaction
and the specifics of each arrangement.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
2.25 Revenue and income recognition (Continued)

(a)

(b)

(9]

Sales of goods

Revenue from sale of goods is recognised when the
risk and reward of the goods has been transferred
to the customer, which is usually at the date when a
group entity has delivered products to the customer,
the customer has accepted the products, and there
is no unfulfilled obligations that could affect the
customer’s acceptance of the products.

Interest income
Interest income is recognised on a time proportion
basis, using the effective interest method.

Sub-contracting income

Revenue from sub-contracting services is recognised
in the accounting period in which the services are
rendered.

2.26 Dividend distribution
Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the Group’s and the Company'’s
financial statements in the period in which the dividends
are approved by the Company'’s shareholders or board of
directors, as appropriate.

2.27 Exceptional items
Exceptional items are disclosed and described separately
in the financial statements where it is necessary to do
so to provide further understanding of the financial
performance of the Group. They are material items of
income or expense that have been shown separately due
to the significance of their nature or amount.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1 Financial risk factors
The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks including foreign exchange risk, price risk, cash flow
and fair value interest-rate risk, credit risk and liquidity
risk. The Group's overall risk management policy focuses
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial
performance. The directors review and agree policies for
managing each of these risks and they are summarised
below.

(a)

Foreign exchange risk

The Group mainly engaged in the international trade
of ores, sale of iron and special steel products with
its operating entities mainly located in Hong Kong
and PRC with most of the transactions settled in
HK$, Renminbi (“"RMB”), and US dollars (“US$").

Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial
transactions or recognised financial assets or
liabilities are denominated in a currency that is
not the entity’s functional currency. The Group
is exposed foreign exchange risk from various
currencies, primarily with respect to RMB.

At 31 December 2017 and 2016, if Hong Kong
dollar/US$ had weakened/strengthened by 2%
against RMB, with all other variables held constant,
there would be no significant impact on the results
of the Group.

Given the exchange rate peg between HK$ and
US$, it is not foreseen that the Group will be
exposed to significant exchange rate risk for the
transactions conducted in US$.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

(9]

Annual Report 2017

Price risk

The Group is exposed to commodity price risk in
relation to its products which is largely dependent
on market price of the relevant commodity. The
Group closely monitors the price of its products in
order to determine its pricing strategies.

The management does not expect any significant
price risk in relation to the fair value of conversion
rights of its 8% Coupon Convertible Bonds.

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group’s income and operating cash flows are
substantially independent of changes in market
interest rates. The Group's interest rate risk arises
from borrowings. Borrowings obtained at floating
rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate
risk while borrowings obtained at fixed rates expose
the Group to fair value interest rate risk.

At 31 December 2017, if interest rates had been
100 basis points higher/lower with all other variables
held constant, pre-tax loss for the year would
have been approximately HK$5,958,000 (2016:
HK$5,569,000) higher/lower, mainly as a result
of higher/lower interest expense on floating rate
borrowings. The Group has not used any interest
rate swaps for speculative purpose.

3

TRERERER (&)
31 SREMREE (&)
(b) (EREE

(9]

AEENERERKEE LKFE
EEEmOTmHER BlAE
@@%W%F%HA’$E@T

PERHAEEMANER UEE
B o

EEEEHR%EE B AR E
FBBREARBEISERE
AEAERER -

ReRERAABERNERRE

REENRARKLHEEREE
BEREMGHNREFH & -
N6 O M L 3R B B K e R
FEH R ENEREREET
Eﬁfﬁ,il)lbgﬂJTﬂ ﬁ‘ﬁ%ﬁ.fﬁ
MEREFBHEREANEE@E A
SEEN @R -

RZZE—+F+=ZA=+—8"
fisi K = _EF+ /T B& 10018 2 -
MATEEMESRRFNE  F
IRk B AT B 1B A 1S 00, R A 4
5,958,000 L (ZF — /R &F:
5,569,000 7T) ' F ZEANF B
BN F BRI IEM,HD A

= B30 (5 A A R R H ER
R -

Nickel Resources International Holdings Company Limited 145



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MERRME

3

146

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(d)

Credit risk

The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables,
deposits, pledged time deposits, and bank balances
represent the Group’s maximum exposure to credit
risk in relation to its financial assets.

For trade and other receivables, the Group has put
in place policies to ensure that sales of products
are made to customers with an appropriate
credit history. The Group performs periodic credit
evaluations of its customers and takes appropriate
follow-up actions to recover overdue debts.

The Group's historical experience in collection of
trade and other receivables falls within the recorded
allowances and the directors are of the opinion
that adequate provision for uncollectible trade and
other receivables has been made in the consolidated
financial statements.

As at 31 December 2017 and 2016, substantially
all bank deposits and balances are placed with
major financial institutions located in Hong Kong
and PRC which management believes are of high
credit quality. Management does not expect any
losses arising from non-performance by these
counterparties.
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3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 SHERERE ()
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 31 2REREE (&)
(e) Liquidity risk () REBELEAR

The Group’s primary cash requirements have been
for the payments for purchases and operating
expenses. The Group finances its working capital
requirements mainly through funds generated
from operations, and external bank and other
borrowings. As at 31 December 2017, the Group
had net current liabilities of HK$3,810,153,000.
The directors of the Company have taken certain
measures to mitigate the liquidity pressure as
detailed in Note 2.1(a). Management will also
closely monitor the situation to ensure that
appropriate alternative actions are taken.

The table below analyses the Group’s non-derivative
financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings
based on the remaining period at the end of
the financial reporting period to the contractual
maturity date. The amounts disclosed below are the
contractual undiscounted cash flows.

AEEBNEERSETRTIAX
NEBEREERT A&EEE
DEBEEEENE S RIN
RITREMEEIREELEES
EHERK - RZE—ttF+ A
=+—H AEENRBEEF
%A /33,810,153,0005% 7T © 20 Fff 5
2. 1@)FTEFIL - ARRR]EH B HREL
AETHBRERDESEN B
BENEZIERBER  BRE
BUEE B RITE -

TRA AR EIZE BHEBAR
=038 A 0 EIBF SR A1
B S B4R B 40 3E 6T 4 S R A 1
RUERANALRENSEHE
T

Less than1
On demand year Total
EEREE PR—F et
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
As at 31 December 2017 RZE—tF
+=-—A=+—8H

Convertible bonds Al MR ES 46,775 - 46,775
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEER 3,461,488 820 3,462,308
Trade payables FEATBR IR 133,008 = 133,008
Notes payables ENERE - 1,436 1,436

Financial liabilities included in &+ A H & 1~ 7038 &
other payables and accruals ~ [EFtE AN SR E(E 270,851 63,171 334,022
3,912,122 65,427 3,977,549

As at 31 December 2016 RZE—RF
+=-RA=+—H

Convertible bonds Al RS E & 46,775 = 46,775
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE 3,007,265 = 3,007,265
Trade payables FERTAR K 120,358 - 120,358
Notes payables NS - 1,444 1,444

Financial liabilities included in &+ A H fib jE 1~ 3X 78 &
other payables and accruals ~ EFFEAHNSRAE 269,265 69,498 338,763
3,443,663 70,942 3,514,605
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.2 Capital management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal
capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new
shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group
monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This
ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net
debt is calculated as total borrowings (including current
and non-current “bank and other borrowings”, “note
payables” and “convertible bonds” as shown in the
consolidated statement of financial position) less cash and
cash equivalents and pledged time deposits. Total capital
is calculated as ‘equity’ as shown in the consolidated
statement of financial position plus net debt.

3

cHERERE (&)
3.2 EXEE

AEEEREAZ BRRRERNEE
BEREEE UABRRRERHE®R X5
Hipgats A ANw KA - R #SR
EEREBIARIEE RRA

RERIABENER  AEEXEH
EXNTERRORESHE  RRREE
B BTHRN KHEEENRD
&%

MEMRAZE % AEERELRAELL
REREREANEE - ERARALE
RIBBFHERNE N ERAE - FIRF
BREER (BERSEMBINARAE
ZnB MRS [RITREMER
[ENRE] R IATBRERES])RER
& MRS FEY R ERE P TR
B BN BB MBANRAE
[#Ea ] N EEBEFRAH -

2017 2016

—E—+tF —TAF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHEx FAT

Bank and other borrowings RITRHEMEE 2,493,776 2,331,498

Notes payables NS 1,436 1,444

Convertible bonds, the liability ARRESNEES D

component 46,775 46,775
Less: Cash and cash equivalents and 5l : & MRS EEMUA K

pledged time deposits B T B (20,071) (21,830)

Net debt BIR %58 2,521,916 2,357,887

Total shareholders’ deficit % 3 &5 4t 48 5E (832,772) (262,457)

Total capital BARBEE 1,689,144 2,095,430

Gearing ratio BEXRABRELE 149% 113%

The increase in gearing ratio for the year ended 31
December 2017 is mainly a result of the decrease in total
equity for the year.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation

The table below analyses the Group's financial instruments
carried at fair value as at 31 December 2017 by level of
the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair
value. Such inputs are categorised into three levels within
a fair value hierarchy as follows:

. Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

o Inputs other than quoted prices included within
level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is,
derived from prices) (level 2).

o Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based
on observable market data (that is, unobservable
inputs) (level 3).

As at 31 December 2017 and 2016, the Group and the
Company did not have any financial instruments that
are carried at fair value except for the derivative financial
instruments.

At 31 December 2017 and 2016, the conversion rights of
the Company’s and the Group’s 8% Coupon Convertible
Bonds, together with redemption rights (considered
as a single derivative), classified as derivative financial
instruments of HK$ Nil (2016: HK$ Nil) was measured
under level 3 of fair value hierarchy. The fair value was
valued by estimating the value of the whole bond with
and without the embedded derivatives. Changes in level
3 financial instruments for the years ended 31 December
2017 and 2016 are detailed in Note 28.

The most significant inputs in determination of the
fair value of conversion rights of the 8% Coupon
Convertible Bonds are the scenario analysis performed
by management which assess the probability of the 8%
Coupon Convertible Bonds being converted as ordinary
shares (2016: same).

3
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS

Estimates and judgments used in preparing the financial
statements are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are discussed below.

(a)

(b)

Going concern consideration

In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies,
apart from those involving estimations, management
has prepared the consolidated financial statements on
the assumption that the Group will be able to operate
as a going concern in the coming year, which is a critical
judgement that has the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements. The
assessment of the going concern assumption involves
making a judgement by the directors, at a particular point
of time, about the future outcome of events or conditions
which are inherently uncertain. The directors consider
that the Group has the capability to continue as a going
concern and the major events or conditions, which may
give rise to business risks, that individually or collectively
may cast significant doubt upon the going concern
assumption are set out in Note 2.1(a) to the consolidated
financial statements.

Impairment of an exclusive offtake right

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators
of impairment for its exclusive offtake right at the end
of each reporting period. When an impairment test is
undertaken, management judgement and estimates are
required in determining suitable valuation factors in the
impairment test. The recoverable amount could change
significantly as a result of changes in the key assumptions
adopted in assessing the recoverable amount including
discount rate, estimation of market prices of nickel and
iron, expected export volume from the supplier and
domestic sales volume, and other risk factors related to
the exclusive offtake right.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (Continued)

(b)

(0

Impairment of an exclusive offtake right
(Continued)

In determining the recoverable amount of the exclusive
offtake right, the directors also made reference to
certain proposed transaction prices of the relevant asset.
Outcome of any proposed transaction and the final
consideration may differ from the amount originally
estimated. Completion or non-completion of proposed
transactions may also result in significant change in
recoverable amount of the exclusive offtake right and
therefore impairment charge for the period when such
judgment and estimate have been changed.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than
goodwill and an exclusive offtake right)

Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. The recoverable amounts
have been determined based on value-in-use calculations
or fair value less costs to sell. These calculations require
the use of judgements and estimates.

Management judgement is required in the area of asset
impairment particularly in assessing: (i) whether an event
has occurred that may indicate that the related asset
values may not be recoverable; (ii) whether the carrying
value of an asset can be supported by the recoverable
amount, being the higher of fair value less costs to sell
and net present value of future cash flows which are
estimated based upon the continued use of the asset in
the business; and (iii) the appropriate key assumptions to
be applied in preparing cash flow projections including
whether these cash flow projections are discounted using
an appropriate rate. Changing the assumptions selected
by management in assessing impairment, including the
discount rates or the growth rate assumptions in the cash
flow projections, could materially affect the net present
value used in the impairment test and as a result affect
the Group's financial condition and results of operations.
If there is a significant adverse change in the projected
performance and resulting future cash flow projections,
it may be necessary to take further impairment charge to
the income statement.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (Continued)
(d) Contingent liabilities

(e)

A contingent liability will be disclosed when a possible
obligation has arisen, but its existence has to be confirmed
by future events outside the Group’s control, or when it
is not possible to calculate the amount. Realisation of any
contingent liabilities not currently recognised or disclosed
could have a material impact on the Group’s financial
position.

The Group reviews significant outstanding litigations in
order to assess the need for provisions. Among the factors
considered are the nature of the litigation, legal processes
and potential level of damages, the opinions and views of
the legal counsels and advisors, and the management’s
intentions to respond to the litigations. To the extent
the estimates and judgements do not reflect the actual
outcome, this could materially affect the results for the
period and the financial position.

Amortisation of an exclusive offtake right
Amortisation of the exclusive offtake right is made based
on the actual limonitic ore purchased during the period
over the total planned purchase volume during the
contractual period. The estimation of the total planned
purchase volume requires management judgement and
estimates. It could change significantly as a result of
market demand for nickel-based products, technical
innovations, reserve of the mine, the ability of the miner
in meeting the demand and other relevant factors.
Management reviews the total planned purchase volume
at least annually, and adjusts the amortisation calculation
accordingly.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (Continued)

()

(9)

(h)

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment
The Group’s management determines the estimated
useful lives and related depreciation charges for its
property, plant and equipment. This estimate is based
on the historical experience of the actual useful lives
of property, plant and equipment of similar nature and
functions. It could change significantly as a result of
technical innovations and competitor actions in response
to severe industry cycles. Management will increase
the depreciation charge where useful lives are less than
previously estimated lives, or it will write off or write down
technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been
abandoned or sold. Actual economic lives may differ from
estimated useful lives and actual residual values may differ
from estimated residual values. Periodic review could result
in a change in depreciable lives and residual values and
therefore depreciation expense in the future periods.

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated
costs to be incurred to completion and disposal. These
estimates are based on the current market condition
and the historical experience of selling products of
similar nature. It could change significantly as a result of
changes in customer requirements or competitor actions
in response to severe industry cycles. Management
reassesses these estimates at the end of each reporting
period.

Impairment of prepayments, deposits and
receivables

Impairment of prepayments, deposits and receivables
is made based on assessment of the recoverability. The
identification of impairment of prepayments, deposits
and receivables requires management judgement and
estimates. Provision is made when there is objective
evidence that the Group will not be able to collect the
debts or cannot utilise the prepayments either because of
the Group's change of plan or the counterparties were not
able to fulfill their obligations. Where the actual outcome
or expectation in future is different from the original
estimate, the differences will impact the carrying values of
these assets and impairment is recognised in the period in
which such estimate has been changed.
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (Continued)

(i)

()

Fair value of derivative financial instruments

As described in Note 28, the convertible bonds contain
a number of derivative financial instruments that are
measured at fair value through profit or loss. The
Company engaged an independent appraiser to assist it
in determining the fair values of these derivative financial
instruments. The determination was based on generally
accepted valuation procedures and practices that the most
significant inputs are the scenario analysis performed
by management which assess the probability of the 8%
Coupon Convertible Bonds being converted as ordinary
shares which cannot be easily quantified or ascertained.
Changes in subjective input assumptions can materially
affect the fair value estimate.

Current and deferred income tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in various
jurisdictions. Judgment is required in determining the
provision for income taxes in each of these jurisdictions.
There are transactions and calculations during the
ordinary course of business for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain. Where the final tax outcome
of these matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will impact the income
tax and deferred income tax provisions in the period in
which such determination is made.

Deferred income tax assets relating to certain temporary
differences and tax losses are recognised when
management considers it is probable that future taxable
profits will be available against which the temporary
differences or tax losses can be utilised. When the
expectation is different from the original estimate, such
differences will impact the recognition of deferred income
tax assets and taxation charges in the period in which
such estimate is changed.
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION 5
For management purposes, the Group has one reportable
operating segment: the trading of ore and the manufacturing,
sub-contracting and sale of iron and special steel products.
Management monitors the operating results of its business units
as a whole for the purpose of making decisions about resources
allocation and performance assessment.

SEEAN AEEES —ER2HRELD
B BABESAREE MNT RHEE R
Melm - EEELNEREEREREFN
REBH BEEXBETZRERRER
—ERBRETERE

Geographical information b 35 & R

(a) Revenue from external customers (a) RENMBEEZWE
2017 2016
—E—+HF —ET—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T T
Mainland China PR K B 296,430 175,934
Taiwan B - 826
296,430 176,760

The revenue information above is based on the locations

AEZWRERTERE P 2 IR

of the customers. Bo
(b) Non-current assets (b) FARBEE

2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
Mainland China HR B K 602,018 614,317
Indonesia HIE 2,384,543 2,384,762
Others HAh 40 1,383
2,986,601 3,000,462

The non-current assets information above is based on the
locations of the assets.
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Information about major customers
For the year ended 31 December 2017, revenue of

7 EPE R ()
TEEFER
BE-T—t&+-A=+—ALFE

approximately HK$207,358,000 (2016: HK$80,570,000)
were derived from four (2016: three) customers, amounted
to approximately HK$60,137,000, HK$56,184,000,
HK$50,949,000 and HK$40,088,000 respectively which
individually accounted for over 10% of the Group's total

U 2% #9207,358,0008 70 (—F — /N F ¢
80,570,000 ;) TR B UL (= F — X
F:=f)BF 7 5l# %&60,137,000/%
JT ~ 56,184,000/ 7T~ 50,949,000/% 7t &
40,088,000/% 7t * & Bl (5 A & B 48 W 2 80

revenue. 10% °
REVENUE AND OTHER GAINS, NET 6 WakEMERFERE
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E-ARF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FAETT
Revenue U 3=
Sale of goods: HE
Stainless steel products 875 i 7= 187,480 20,872
Ni-Cr alloy steel ingot REKE 2 fE 18,748 73,805
Ferro-nickel alloys and others RiEE e MEM 50,114 82,083
256,342 176,760
Sub-contracting income mITHA 40,088 -
296,430 176,760
Other gains, net Hi 2 FFE
Changes in fair value of derivative mEemIAAREA
financial instruments o) = 28,569
Gain on disposal of property, HEWE - BEREEZ
plant and equipment, net WS 558 185 13,350
Foreign exchange (losses)/gains, net [EH (E18) BFF5HE (3,865) 22,078
Gain on deconsolidation of subsidiaries, (NG SN
net (Note 8) Bz W F58 (MI5ES) 44,455 =
Claims income received BB R A = 9,485
Others HA 1,639 799
42,414 74,281
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7 LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX 7 BRBHAEE
The Group's loss before income tax is stated at after charging REBERRATETHAIEEE R T & 18

the following:

2017 2016
ZE—+tF —E-RE
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
ihy=2 FHExT FAT
Costs of inventories sold BEFEEKA 257,241 146,471
Employee benefits expense EEBARX 10 59,970 72,786
Research expenses e S 579 1,113
Auditors’ remuneration ZEET N &
— Audit services —EZIRTE 3,950 3,950
— Non-audit services — B 231 1,463
Depreciation e 14 72,260 82,355
Amortisation of prepaid land lease  FA{ £ th 78 & FRIA & 54
payments 15 4,506 5,144
Minimum lease payments under EHEEFRRBE L
operating leases in respect of HEz ZEBEMK
buildings and equipment 4,976 7,902
Provision for impairment of FERERE
inventories 20 12,360 9,918
Impairment of property, plantand  #7% - B 5 M 2 & RE
equipment 14 - 54,434
(Reversal of)/provision for impairment & U8R FCRIE (@)~
of trade receivables* e+ 21 (11,571) 4,635
Provision for impairment of TE AT R IR A0 A A fE W 5K IE
prepayments and other receivables* 5 {& ¢ 4 * 22 5,180 128,545
* Included in other (income)/expenses w STAEAM (WA) X
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GAIN ON DECONSOLIDATION OF SUBSIDIARIES,
NET

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group received
an Order of Court upon the hearing of the winding up
application against CNR Group Holdings Pte. Ltd (“CNRG"), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, at the High Court
of the Republic of Singapore (“Winding Up Order”). Pursuant
to the Winding Up Order, the High Court of the Republic of
Singapore ordered that CNRG be wound up under the provision
of Singapore Companies Act (Cap 50) and a liquidator be
appointed to commence the winding up proceedings. Following
the appointment of the liquidator, the directors of CNRG
ceased to have power over the business activities of CNRG and
the assets of CNRG were under custody and control of the
liguidator. Consequently, the directors of the Company are of
the opinion that the Group lost control over the operating and
financing activities of CNRG and CNRG ceased to be a subsidiary
of the Group. Accordingly, assets and liabilities of CNRG
together with its subsidiaries (collectively the “CNRG Group”)
were deconsolidated when the Group ceased to control CNRG
and a gain on deconsolidation of subsidiaries was resulted. Net
liabilities of CNRG at the time when the Group ceased to control
is analysed as follows:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MERRME

MEBARKRIEGEAREE 2N
FE
REBEZE-_Z—+F+-_A=+—HIFE"
FEFMEHEMBSE AR BBARR]
2 & ME A FICNR Group Holdings Pte. Ltd
([CNRG |) /BB #ITRRAME  AEEREE
Eam< (DEEGS]) - BEERDS M
WA B S SRR B S RIEH N R R
Bl (B50% ) IECNRG/E & W R TBEBAE
FEEEF REMEE AR CNRGEE Y
CNRGHIXE BB B ERE ) - MCNRGHE E
ERBEATLERES - ZERARBESER
AREEDRELUCNRGREE Lt &R g K
T HI4E - MCNRGE B AAEEMNK B A
Ao ALt - & AE BT EEH CNRGEF ' CNRG
N EMEB AR (55 [CNRGER ] ) HEE K&
BEERIGRAEAR YRAMEENB R A
BIEEAE ABREE 2 C(NRGT B XK
EEIZHENFEERIOTOT

HK$'000
FET

Property, plant and equipment (Note 14) M RE KA (HEE14) 1,389
Prepayment, deposit and other receivables TERTSRIE - & R H At FE YRR 4,431
Cash and bank balances Re RRITHEH 257
Trade payables FE T BR 3R (714)
Other payables and accruals HMEARIARETAE (9,835)
Other long term payables (Note 24) H b R HAET I8 (BMI5E24) (900)
Income tax payables e TS (26,143)
Net liabilities deconsolidated B IEERNFEE (31,515)
Non-controlling interests IR A (6,067)
Release of exchange reserve ER FAmRD (6,873)
Gain on deconsolidation of subsidiaries, net MR R4R LR A ABREA 2 W F 5 (44,455)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MEBRRME

9 FINANCE COSTS, NET 9 RERKFEHE
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—REF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 7E FExT FET
Finance income mME WA
Interest income on time deposits __ EEFAAEMA 1B 3,240
Finance costs A& KA
Interest on bank and other RITERREMEEF B
borrowings (338,094) (312,245)
Interest on convertible bonds AR ESF B 28 (5,825) (7,941)
__________________________________________________________ (343,919)  (320,186)
Finance costs, net R E AN F 5 (343,780) (316,946)

10 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE (INCLUDING

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS)

10 BEEEFMRAX (BRESHFH)

2017 2016

—E—+tF —T—RF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHExT FHET

Salaries e 49,309 62,290
Retirement benefit scheme contributions BB E B R

and other costs H Bl AR 10,639 10,267

Equity-settled share-based compensation LARR#E 45 5 2 IR 19
expense (Note 31) HEMAZ (H5E31) 22 229
59,970 72,786
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10

160

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE (INCLUDING

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) (Continued)

(a) Five highest paid employees
The five highest paid employees during the year included
three directors (2016: three directors), details of whose
remuneration are set out in note (b) below. Details of
the remuneration paid and payable to the remaining
two (2016: two) highest paid employees who are neither
a director nor chief executive of the Company are as

10

BERAAX (BRESHFM) (&)

(a)

hEREHER
AEERERSFEERE=RES
“E-RF I ZRER) RFEFL
2 FHBECEIIN T XXHMFE®D) - B2
FENBTRA (ZE—RF WAE)
REARRIEENFARRIBEFERIT
BEHREHEBFHFMOFBFNT

follows:
2017 2016
—E—+HF —ET—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T T
Fees we - -
Salaries, allowances and e R REYREF
benefits in kind 2,356 2,694
Equity-settled share option expense  LARGHE ST+ = BE AR A BA =% 2 12
Retirement benefit scheme RIREFIFEIH R
contributions 36 18
2,394 2,724
The emoluments of the aforementioned individuals fell Lt AR FENE T 5 EE -
within the following bands:
2017 2016
—E—+5F —E—RF
HK$500,001 to HK$ 1,000,000 500,001 7T &
1,000,000/ JT 1 -
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001/ &
1,500,000 7T 1 2

No emoluments have been paid to the five highest paid
individuals (including Directors and other employees) as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office (2016: Nil).

RERERERAR AT

BEESBEMAIRINARE B
ERBEBAEEMNERIRZESHA
T (BHRESIEMBESR) 2% (=
T—REFEE)-

R FFERSE
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e MEBRRME

10 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE (INCLUDING
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) (Continued)

(b) Benefits and interests of directors (disclosures

required by section 383 of the Hong Kong

Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622), Companies

(Disclosure of Information about Benefits

of Directors) Regulation (Cap. 622G) and HK

Listing Rules)

() Directors’ and chief executives’ emoluments

10 BEEEMNRAX (BREESHFM) (&)

The remuneration of each of the directors of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2017 is

set out below:

(b) EBEARFZ (FBLTEH (5
622 E) 383 1% Nl (HEES
FZER) RP (56226 E) REH
FHRAREMEZHE)

)

ESKERITEZHH
BE_T—tFt-_A=1+—H
EFE RNRAREEZNF
FI0E

Retirement
Housing Equity-settled benefit
Salaries and other  share option scheme
Fees  and bonus allowance expense  contributions Total
TER UREXfFZ BAER
e HER#e Hfh2l  BRESX aHEIfR @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TiEn TR TR TiEn
Executive Directors: HIER:
Mr. Dong Shutong BERAA
(Chief executive) (BEHRIE) - 2223 569 - - 2,792
Mr. Dong Chengzhe Bhmit - 451 25 1 16 493
Mr. Wang Ping FEEE - 1,300 539 - - 1,839
Mr. Song Wenzhou R4 - 416 - 1 - 417
Mr. Yang Fei BREE - 650 231 1 18 900
Non-executive Director: ~ FH{TES:
Mr. Yang Tianjun BRBLA 200 - - - - 200
Independent Non-executive B FHTES:
Directors:
Mr. Bai Baohua HEELA 200 - - - - 200
Mr. Huang Changhuai BEMLA 200 - - - - 200
Mr. Wong Chi Keung BlREE 200 - - - - 200
Mr. Fahmi ldris EREE 200 - - - - 200
1,000 5,040 1,364 3 34 7401
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e MERRME

10 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE (INCLUDING 10 EEGARAX (BEESHM)(E)

DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS) (Continued)

(b) Benefits and interests of directors (disclosures (b) EETARFZ (BEBQTGRE (F
required by section 383 of the Hong Kong 622 ¥) 58383 fk - AR (HEES
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622), Companies FRER) RO (56226 E) RESB
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits ERRBBREREZHE) ()

of Directors) Regulation (Cap. 622G) and HK
Listing Rules) (Continued)

(I) Directors’ and chief executives’ emoluments () ESLEEITEZHFMH (H)
(Continued)
The remuneration of each of the directors of the HE-ZT—XRF+=-A=+—H
Company for the year ended 31 December 2016 is IEFE AR SESNFHWE
set out below: R
Retirement
Housing  Equity-settled benefit
Salaries and other  share option scheme
Fees and bonus allowance expense  contributions Total
EER MRERHZ RINREA
e  Hekte Azl BRERX FTEIfE R b

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AL AL AL TETL AL AL

Executive Directors: BIES:
Mr. Dong Shutong BERLL

(Chief executive) (BR#TE) - 2,786 609 - 18 3413
Mr. Dong Chengzhe LA - 887 123 12 16 1,038
Mr. Wang Ping TFEAE = 1377 200 = = 1577
M. Song Wenzhou RN %4 - 415 - 12 = 427
Mr. Yang Fei BREE - 650 228 12 18 908

Non-executive Director: ~ JF#17E%:
Mr. Yang Tianjun Oy 200 - - - - 200

Independent Non-executive B3 35 TE S :

Directors:
Mr. Bai Baohua BRERE 200 - - - - 200
Mr. Huang Changhuai ~ E&ML4E 200 - - - - 200
Mr. Wong Chi Keung BIREA 200 - - - - 200
Mr. Fahmi Idris EAREE 200 - - - - 200

1,000 6,115 1,160 36 52 8,363
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e MEBRRME

10 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE (INCLUDING 10 EEGARX (BEESHM)(E)

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) (Continued)

(b) Benefits and interests of directors (disclosures
required by section 383 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622), Companies
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits

of Directors) Regulation (Cap. 622G) and HK

(b) EBEARFZ (FBLTEH (5
622 E) 383 1% Nl (HEES
FE=ER) RH (5£622G E) REB
EHRABREFREZHE) (&)

Listing Rules) (Continued)

(I) Directors’ and chief executives’ emoluments () EESLEEITEZHMH (H)
(Continued)
During the year ended 31 December 2017, no HE-_ZT—+HF+-HA=+—8H
Director or chief executive waived or agreed to EFE BEEEXEHEENTE
waive any emolument; and no emoluments were MES R B REEMME TR
paid by the Group to the Directors or chief executive TERBIEMAS M IMAREEL
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group ERBEBMmEMBARE M4
or as compensation for loss of office (2016: Nil). EEYERATELHEe (=%

—NEF )

(I) Directors’ retirement benefits ) E=EAKEF
None of the directors received or will receive any FAMES S WS BEE
retirement benefits during the year (2016: Nil). AERARERN (ZF—RF|) o

() Directors’ termination benefits m ESEBER
None of the directors received or will receive any FRBEEE = 2 WRE RER
termination benefits during the year (2016: Nil). A BEBAER (T —RF |) -

(IV) Consideration provided to third parties for (V) BE=FXNEHESRE 2R
making available directors’ services &
During the year ended 31 December 2017, the REBEE_ZE—+F+-RA=+—
Company did not pay consideration to any third BIEFE  AQRIREEAE
parties for making available directors’ services (2016: ZSHFXNRHESRE 2NRE
Nil). TE—RNFE)

(V) Information about loans, quasi-loans and other (V) BEUEE HEZEFNEER

Annual Report 2017

dealings in favour of directors, controlled
bodies corporate by and connected entities
with such directors

During the year ended 31 December 2017,
there is no loans, quasi-loans and other dealing
arrangements in favour of the directors, or
controlled bodies corporate by and connected
entities with such directors (2016: Nil).

Nickel Resources International Holdings Company Limited

HESETHENERRZBEAN

RBE-ZT—tH+-A=+—
RIEFE HEFELNES HE
EEFEEREEZAREN
ERARa ANER EERR

HR P (ZF—RF:HE)-
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10 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE (INCLUDING

1

164

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) (Continued)

(b) Benefits and interests of directors (disclosures
required by section 383 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622), Companies
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits
of Directors) Regulation (Cap. 622G) and HK
Listing Rules) (Continued)

(VI) Directors’ material interests in transactions,

arrangements or contracts

Save as disclosed in these consolidated financial
statements, no other significant transactions,
arrangements and contracts in relation to the
Group's business to which the Company was a
party and in which a director of the Company had
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.

INCOME TAX

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profits
arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which the Group’s
entities are domiciled and operate.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands and
the British Virgin Islands (“BVI"), the Group is not subject to any
income tax in the Cayman Islands and the BVI.

The applicable Hong Kong profits tax rate of the Company, and
its subsidiaries, which operate in Hong Kong, is 16.5% (2016:
16.5%).

According to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, the applicable

income tax rate of the Group's PRC subsidiaries is 25% for the
year (2016: 25%).

BRERERZERBR AR

10

1"

BERANFAX (BEESHM) (&)

(b) EBEARFZ (FBLTEL (5
622 E) 383 1% N El (HEESE
FZER) RO (566226 E) REHE
EHRABREFREZHE) (&)

(V) EERRS RERSHZEKX
R
BRAGE P BRRBEEIN NF
ERFAEAERE fEFER
ARBERRI M ARRRE
ERNETHEEAER (THE
BERHEE)NEASEXHA M
MEBEARARS LHHEH -

Fri&®
AEEAREREERELSIFRNAREE
BB R R AR & P RARE IR B0 N SR PR 15
i o

REMASEERABRELES ([ REBELE
BIVERRRY AEERHASESNEE
BRI S BAMMEIAAER -

RRBRENRBTBLEZWEB R RER
BEMEHMNERI65% (ZF—RF:
16.5% ) °

REBEPEEEMETE AEBTEME

RAAEEZBREHRMEE25% (=ZF
—NE:25%) °

R FFERSE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MEBRRME

11 INCOME TAX (Continued) 1M1 FREH (&)
2017 2016
—E—+tF ZE—RF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
ihK=2 FET FET
Current income tax: BVERFT 1S A -
— Mainland China — 1 B K e - -
— Singapore — ¥ N3
— Under-provision in prior year —BEFERETR - 443
Deferred income tax EEFTISH 19 = =
Income tax expense Frisfif - 443
The tax charge on the Group's loss before income tax differs IRER E B S AT B 18 MO BT B S B B R IR
from the theoretical amount that would arise using the HRANEEQAREENMETLORERFES
weighted average tax rate applicable to results of the group HHIERESRE ST
companies as follows:
2017 2016
—E—+tF ZE—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Loss before income tax M FTS i Al Es 18 (472,689) (646,235)
Tax calculated at the applicable statutory BEABEAEERE
tax rates of respective companies FTE 2 TIE (112,073) (144,139)
Tax effect of: To&RIE e 2
Income not subject to tax BERBBA (10,784) (13,136)
Expenses not deductible for tax EEE 53 35,062 87,783
Tax losses not recognised RIERBIEEE 87,795 69,492
Under-provision in prior year BEFEREBIR - 443
Income tax expense SR X - 443
The applicable income tax rate of the Group was 23.7% for HE-_Z—tFT_A=1t—H8BI1LtFE"
the year ended 31 December 2017 (2016: 22.3%). The change AEBMBEAMGHER237% (ZE—K
is caused by a change in the relative results of the Group's F:223%) - ZEHERAEBNEEE
subsidiaries in the respective countries. KM B AR HEEERFEE -
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DIVIDENDS

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2017 (2016: Nil).

LOSS PER SHARE

Basic

The calculation of the basic loss per share is based on the loss
for the year attributable to equity holders of the Company,
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of
3,088,131,105 (2016: 2,937,454,876) in issue during the year.

Diluted

The calculation of the diluted loss per share for the year ended
31 December 2017 is based on the loss for the year attributable
to equity holders of the Company, adjusted to reflect the
interest on and change in fair value of the derivative component
of the convertible bonds and share options. The weighted
average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation is the
weighted average number of the ordinary shares in issue during
the year, as used in the basic loss per share calculation, and the
weighted average number of ordinary shares assumed to have
been issued at no consideration on the deemed exercise or
conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary
shares.

Diluted loss per share is the same as basic loss per share for the
years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016 because the impact
of dilution of the convertible bonds and share options is anti-
dilutive.

RERERERAR AT

12

13

Hﬁ z%\
EETERERBE_T—tH+=-A
=+t BUEFEZRHRE (ZF—XRF:
&)

BREBE

R
BREABEDBEARAEZFE AL
EEEBEBRFERADBRITEBR 2 NETF
Y5 1% 81 B13,088,131,1050% ( = & — /< 4F ¢
2,937,454,8760% )it & o

wE
BE_T—tHFT-_A=1T—"BLFEZE
BRE#EBRRBEARFRERAARGSF
EEBAE - I AR BR AT AR 55
TETAD REREZFNERAEER
Bt EMAZ EBRINEFHRBBFEAR
ERTEBRZMNETFHRE (RtEEK
EXBEMERE)  ARBRERAAE
BELBRESTERER AT RRSIRE
B AT 2B BAINE GRS -

HE_Z—tFk_ZF—R"F+_A=+—
HIEFE BRI RRES KBk E 2 #E
TEBREE WEREEBEBESNERE
B -

R FFERSE
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e MEBRRME

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14 YE -BERRE
Motor
Plant and Office vehicles  Construction
Buildings machinery ~ equipment  and others in progress Total
BT HEREE BAZERE AERHM HEIR #t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TRR TRR TR TR TR TR

Cost: BAE:
At 1 January 2016 R=Z-~F—f—H 449,435 1,539,926 20,515 54,540 1,442,472 3,506,888
Additions NE - 2,307 1,048 565 17,540 21,460
Disposals RE = = (1,147) (3,738) (50,500) (55,385)
Exchange realignment BHEH (28,477) (97,707) (1,136) (3,098) (103,650) (234,068)
At 1 January 2017 RZE—+&—F-H 420,958 1,444,526 19,280 48,269 1,305,862 3,238,895
Additions RE - 1,648 527 - 20,661 22,836
Disposals RE - (2,703) - (92) (360) (3,155)
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries WEARRIEEA AR

(Note 8) (Fitzt8) (1,099) - (1,003) (3.535) (6) (5,643)
Exchange realignment ERZE® 28,611 101,229 1,209 3,158 92,242 226,449
At 31 December 2017 R-ZE—t&+-A=1+-H 448,470 1,544,700 20,013 47,800 1,418,399 3,479,382
Accumulated depreciation: RiHE:
At 1 January 2016 RZE-~"¥-A-B 131,141 889,379 18,609 39,089 = 1,078,218
Depreciation ik 2,786 75,273 1,116 3,180 - 82,355
Disposals RE - - (1,147) (1,775) - (2,922)
Exchange realignment % =5 (8,421) (59,563) (1,026) (2,415) = (71,425)
At 1 January 2017 R=Z—tF—-F—H 125,506 905,089 17,552 38,079 - 1,086,226
Depreciation & 237 68,731 895 2,397 - 72,260
Disposals RE - (2,703) - (92) - (2,795)
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries WEARR A AR

(Note 8) (PizE8) (1,099) = (944) (2,205) = (4,248)
Exchange realignment BHEH 7911 65,718 1,107 2,614 - 717,350
At 31 December 2017 RZB—+FE+t-A=+—-H 132,555 1,036,835 18,610 40,793 - 1,228,793
Accumulated impairment losses: R BEEE:
At 1 January 2016 R=Z-~F—A—H 305,326 80,814 196 330 1,422,464 1,809,130
Charge for the year REETH 6,152 46,748 - - 1,534 54,434
Disposal RE - - - - (35,.277) (35,277)
Exchange realignment BHEH (19,358) (5.122) (1 (20) (101,436) (125,947)
At 1 January 2017 RZE—+&—F-H 292,120 122,440 185 310 1,287,285 1,702,340
Charge for the year FEELM - - - - - -
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries WEARR A AR

(Note 8) (FizEs) - - - = (6) (6)
Exchange realignment BHEH 20,479 8,582 12 2 90,243 119,338
At 31 December 2017 RZE—tF+=A=+—-H 312,599 131,022 197 332 1,371,522 1,821,672
Net carrying amount: REFE:
At 31 December 2017 R-Z—t#+-A=1+-8 3,316 376,843 1,206 6,675 40,877 428,917
At 31 December 2016 R=ZZ-~"E+=-A=1+-H 3,332 416,997 1,543 9,880 18,577 450,329
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14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

168

(Continued)

At 31 December 2017 and 2016, a substantial amount of the
Group's property, plant and equipment were pledged to secure
a bank loan granted to the Group (Note 27).

As at 31 December 2017, the carrying amounts of the Group's

14 YE -BERRZRE (E)
RZB—+tER - RF+_A=+—
B AEEXRENYE - HEMiKSE ET
EREBERBITER (KiFE27) ERY) -

R-ZE—+tHE+_A=+—B A&EY

property, plant and equipment and prepaid land lease payments ¥ BWELEEAREN D EERIERE
by major cash generating units, are analysed as follows: ERSEABUED CEREESTAT :
Zhengzhou Lianyungang
Plants Plant Others Total
BHEE EEZEBEE Hth #et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FHExT FHET FTET
Property, plant and M BRE KRB
equipment 371,117 57,760 40 428,917
Prepaid land lease payments T& 1< 4 5 8 & 38 2,418 173,330 = 175,748
Total FEE 373,535 231,090 40 604,665

Impairment assessment - Zhengzhou Plants

As a result of the continuous unfavourable operating
environment experienced in the steel industry, the Group’s
manufacturing and sales of iron and special steel products
operations in Zhengzhou (the “Zhengzhou Plants”) were
temporarily suspended since March 2013 and had only been
operating intermittently throughout the year 2017. The directors
of the Company considered it as an impairment indicator and,
with the assistance of an independent professional valuer,
carried out an impairment review on property, plant and
equipment and the related prepaid land lease payments of
Zhengzhou Plants (Note 15).

Based on the results of the assessment, the recoverable amounts
of property, plant and equipment and the related prepaid land
lease payments of Zhengzhou Plants exceed their respective
carrying amounts, and therefore no further impairment loss has
been made for the year ended 31 December 2017.

RERERERAR AT

B RT (4 — BB R B
RN EANKLERBEFHERE ~KE
R-_T—=F=-AESEEPILHEMNNEK
ﬁiﬂ%ﬁ:i?&%’i%ﬁk(FEB)IW%J) R
tiEFEJ EE - ARFEERRHE
J%AWEEJT%‘R —RBIGEMZHBT
ﬂéﬁ)\lf%Z%% TR B %t A S AE A TR
£ A & 5RIR (B E15) EATRE SRR -

ERNFHER BINBEZMFE BEER
BWARHEARN L HEERBBBRES

BZAREE SR8 —F—+tF+-A
=t BLFEEBELE - THERBE-
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14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14 YX BERRE (&)
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(Continued)

Impairment assessment — Zhengzhou Plants
(Continued)

The recoverable amounts of the property, plant and
equipment and the related prepaid land lease payments have
been determined based on value-in-use calculations. These
calculations included applying certain assumptions in preparing
cash flows projections for the cash generating unit. In preparing
these projections, the directors assumed that, amongst other
factors, business performance of the Zhengzhou Plants can
be gradually improved during the projection period as a result
of improving operating environment and by launching new
products and seeking new orders from new customers with
improved gross margins. The discount rate used in measuring
value-in-use was 18% (2016: 17%), which is pre-tax and
reflects the specific risks relating to the business.

As at 31 December 2017, there would be no impairment charge
if the discount rate used had been 1% higher or the gross
margin had been 1% lower.

Impairment assessment - Lianyungang Plant

During the year ended 31 December 2017, due to the
continuous unfavourable market condition of nickel related
products, which is the main business engaged by the Group’s
manufacturing plant in Lianyungang (the “Lianyungang
Plant”), management upheld its decision to postpone the
commencement of Lianyungang Plant’s operation until year
2020. The directors of the Company considered it as an
impairment indicator and, with the assistance of an independent
professional valuer, carried out an impairment review on the
property, plant and equipment and the related prepaid land
lease payments of Lianyungang Plant (Note 15).

Based on the results of the assessment, the recoverable
amounts of property, plant and equipment and the related
prepaid land lease payments of Lianyungang Plant approximate
their respective carrying amounts, and therefore no further
impairment loss has been made for the year ended 31
December 2017.

Nickel Resources International Holdings Company Limited
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(Continued)

Impairment assessment — Lianyungang Plant

(Continued)

The recoverable amounts have been determined based on the
value-in-use calculations. The discount rate used in measuring
value-in-use was 20.7% (2016: 20.2%), which is pre-tax and
reflects the specific risks relating to the business.

As at 31 December 2017, if the projected sales volume applied
to the cash flow projection had been 5% lower or the discount
rate used had been 1% higher, an impairment charge of
approximately HK$24 million and HK$26 million, respectively

would be resulted.

M- BERKE (B)
ER L - EEEEE (&)

A El e Bk EREEEEFE HEER
BEMBZHRER207% (ZF—RF:
20.2% ) ~ U AT AT = B bR 82 275 A0 RE
ZHFE R o

R-ZE—+E+-A=+—8 HEARNE
& TR 2 TERI$H & = T 5%k BT AR B9 Bk
WE 1% AlgoflEERESL L9248
BAETLR26EEB T

PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS 15 BNLAERE
2017 2016
—E—+tF ZE—RF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
hr=a FHEx FET
Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—BZKREE 168,590 182,915
Amortisation for the year F N 7 (4,506) (5,144)
Exchange realignment PE 5 =R 11,664 (9,181)
Carrying amount at 31 December M+ -A=+—HZ
BREE 175,748 168,590
Less: Current portion included in B ETATEN IR - Re Rk
prepayments, deposits and H fth FE Y 5038 2 B
other receivables HiER > 22 (4,138) (4,428)
Non-current portion JEBNERER 7 171,610 164,162

BRERERZERBR AR
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R 35 R R B o

PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS (Continued) 15 FEMTHBEERE(A)
At 31 December 2017, the Group's leasehold land situated in RZE—+tF+_A=+—8 A£E
Mainland China on lease of between 10 and 50 years with a net R XE -BHEBENFI10E50F REE
carrying amount of HK$175,748,000 (2016: HK$168,590,000) JF{E/5175,748,0008 L (=ZF — /R F:
were pledged for bank loans granted to the Group (Note 27). 168,590,000 70 ) WA E T EVE AR EE
BRRITER (HeE27) EHRY
Impairment assessment R RS
As at 31 December 2017, management carried out a review of RZEB—tF+_HA=1T—H BEEBEEH
the recoverable amounts of its property, plant and equipment, HEWE HERZEARIEN +HHEERIE
and prepaid land lease payments. Details of the impairment Z—Iuﬁl@ >R R E—tF T+ A=1+—
assessment on the Group’s property, plant and equipment, CAREBYE WE R ARIEN i
and prepaid land lease payments as at 31 December 2017 are ﬁ"ﬂ%%’UEZ5)5?@%”?16%?\%5@%%?14?)32??? g
disclosed in Note 14.
INTANGIBLE ASSET 16 EBILEE
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FAT
Exclusive offtake right BREBE
Carrying amount at 1 January M—RA—RAZEEA 2,384,543 2,384,543
Amortisation i - =
Carrying amount at 31 December W+—A=+—H2
BRmE(E 2,384,543 2,384,543
Amortisation of intangible asset has been included in cost of BEEBHFEECT AHENE-
sales.
In May 2007, the Group secured an exclusive offtake right from MR-ZZEZELFH A AEEEF—HRE

PT. Yiwan Mining (“Yiwan"), a limited company incorporated
in Indonesia, whereby Yiwan agreed to exclusively sell the
limonitic ores produced by Yiwan to the Group at a fixed price
of US$16 per dry tonne for a period of approximately 14 years.
In September 2008, the term of the exclusive offtake right was
extended to 29 years expiring on 24 January 2036.

Nickel Resources International Holdings Company Limited

JE st A 32 2 B BR A AIPT.Yiwan Mining
(I'Yiwan |) 2 BREEERE - Yiwan[R B AR E
BRER AR TRAEBEBR L EH AN

EREEL  FHHOATNE -RZTTNF
NA BREBECZFHERE-TNLF -

R-BE=RE—A-+WMHBERM-
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INTANGIBLE ASSET (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2012, a number of
Indonesian governmental authorities promulgated several
new rules and regulations regarding ores export approval and
export tax. Yiwan obtained the ore exporter status (“the Status
Approval”) and the ore export approval (the “Export Approval”)
on 13 June 2012 and 27 June 2012, respectively. The Status
Approval is valid for two years while the Export Approval is valid
for a period of three months from the date of their respective
issuance, and Yiwan can re-apply for the Status Approval and
the Export Approval before their respective expiry dates.

Pursuant to the new export tax regulation promulgated by the
Ministry of Finance of Indonesia (the “MOF") on 16 May 2012,
a 20% export tax (the “Export Tax”) would be imposed on the
limonitic ores exported from Yiwan to the Company. The Export
Tax is calculated based on the base price published by the MOF
periodically. The Export Tax will be borne by the Group.

According to the recommendation letter issued by the Minister
of Mineral and Coal on 25 June 2012 to the Minister of
Commerce which granted the Export Approval to Yiwan,
the export price of limonitic ores to be sold by Yiwan to the
Company shall be US$23.5 per dry tonne (excluding the Export
Tax) (the “New Export Price”) instead of US$16 per dry tonne.

On 10 January 2013, Yiwan issued a letter of undertaking to
the Group. Without any prejudice to the terms of the exclusive
offtake right, Yiwan irrevocably and unconditionally undertakes
that, if at any time during the term of the exclusive offtake
agreement, the Group requests the iron ores to be delivered to
the Group's subsidiaries located in South Kalimantan, Indonesia
for production, Yiwan will adjust the purchase price of such iron
ores under the exclusive offtake right to US$10 per tonne.

During the year ended 31 December 2013, the relevant
Indonesian governmental authorities further promulgated that
unprocessed ore export by mining business licence holders
in Indonesia (“IUP Holders”) would be banned from 12
January 2014 onwards unless the IUP Holders have carried out
processing and refining domestically according to the relevant
regulations regarding implementation of activities of business
of minerals and coal mining and have conducted refining and
smelting in accordance with those relevant laws. Consequently,
the export of unprocessed iron ores from Yiwan to the Group
ceased with effect from 12 January 2014.

RERERERAR AT

16

mLEE (&)
HE_Z——+_A=+—HLEFE %
EENEBSHEARME TEBEA L O
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INTANGIBLE ASSET (Continued)

All of the rights, interest, title and benefits of the exclusive
offtake agreement is pledged in favour of DB Trustees (Hong
Kong) Limited as security trustee for and on behalf of the
bondholders of the Senior Bonds and the Convertible Bonds
(Notes 27 and 28).

In determining the recoverable amount of the intangible
asset as at 31 December 2017, the directors, amongst other
considerations, made reference to the disposal consideration as
stipulated in a non-binding framework agreement entered into
between the Group and Beijing Wincapital, an independent
third party, on 21 January 2013, pursuant to which the Group
proposed to dispose of 30% equity interest in SEAM to Beijing
Wincapital at a consideration of approximately US$150 million
(the “Framework Agreement”) as detailed in Note 2.1(a). In
addition, the directors also take into account of a sale and
purchase agreement entered into between the Group and Mr.
Sun on 11 March 2018 pursuant to which the Group agreed to
sell 7% equity interest of SEAM to Mr. Sun at a consideration of
RMB210,000,000 conditional upon, amongst others, obtaining
approval from shareholders of the Company at an extraordinary
general meeting and resumption of trading of the Company’s
shares (the “7% Disposal Agreement”).

SEAM is mainly engaged in the holding of the aforementioned
intangible asset of the Group. Although no formal sales and
purchases agreement has been entered into in respect of
the Framework Agreement up to date and the 7% Disposal
Agreement is conditional, as the disposal considerations
in discussion substantially exceed the attributable carrying
amounts of the intangible asset, the Directors are of the opinion
that there is no impairment of the intangible asset as at 31
December 2017.

16
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17 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 17 MERBZFE
All of the subsidiaries of the Company were incorporated/ RNRARFTBHEB AR MK KL BB R
established as limited liability companies. Particulars of the RNAE RZE—LEF+ZA=1+—08 &2
Company's principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2017 are as RIEZEMBEARZFIBNT :
follows:
Nominal value Percentage of equity
Place of incorporation of issued shares/ interest attributable to
Name of companies and place of operations paid-up capital the Company Principal activities
BRTRG,/
DEAER TR BRRAZEE ARAEGRAEZASL TEXRE
Direct Indirect
B &
Infonics International Limited (“Infonics”) British Virgin Islands/ US$10,001 100 - Investment holding
(Tinfonics |) Hong Kong 10,0015 wEER
EBRLEE/BE
China Special Steel Holdings Company Limited ~ Cayman Islands/Hong Kong US$1 - 100 Dormant
FEEERERAR GESEVE %7 B2X
SEAM British Virgin Islands/ Us§100 - 100  Trading of ore and holding
BARE Hong Kong 100X of EOA
RERUEE/EE BRESR
BEBRREE
Fully Lead Global Investments Limited British Virgin Islands/ US$1 - 100 Investment holding
ERBERREBRAR Hong Kong (o REER
EBRLEE/BE
Zhengzhou Yongtong Special Steel Co., Ltd. PRC RMB674,680,000 - 100 Manufacturing,
("Yongtong Special Steel”) H AR #674,680,0007C sub-contracting and
BMxRERER AR (@] sale of iron and
steel products
HiE NIRAEREER
Zhengzhou Yongtong Alloy Metals Co., Ltd. PRC RMB3,000,000 - 95  Trading of scrap steel
("Yongtong Alloy Metals") H AR 3,000,000 BHE S

R FFERSE
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17 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 17 MIERATRZHE (&)
Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 December RZBE—+tF+ZA=+—8 KRAIKHEB
2017 are as follows: (Continued) NAElZFBWT : (&)
Nominal value Percentage of equity
Place of incorporation of issued shares/ interest attributable to
Name of companies and place of operations paid-up capital the Company Principal activities
BRITRH/
DAER EMAIREE Y BRRAZEE ARAEGRABEASL TEEK
Direct Indirect
B &
Zhengzhou Xiangtong Electricity Co., Ltd. PRC RMB10,000,000 - 100 Generation and sale of
("Xiangtong Electricity”) H AR 10,000,0007 electricity
BHERESAERLAA ([HRESE]) BERHEES
Zhengzhou Yongtong Fully Lead Trading PRC RMB66,600,000 - 100 Trading of mineral, steel and
Co., Ltd. ("Yongtong Fully Lead") # AR 66,600,000 electronic products
B BEREZERDLR ([KBER]) B HRETERE
Henan Yongtong Stainless Steel Products PRC RMB266,000,000 - 100 Manufacturing and trading
Co., Ltd. ("Yongtong Stainless Steel”) H AR #266,000,0007T of special steel products
AEABIFARRBERAR ([KEBTHHE]) HERHERNER
Lianyungang East Harvest Minerals Company PRC US$127,000,000 - 100 Trading of mineral ores
Limited (“East Harvest Minerals”) H 127,000,000% 7T and steel products and
EERRRBERBRAR ([RXBER]) investment holding
BARHERE SR
RERR
Lianyungang City East Harvest Mining PRC RMB390,000,000 - 100 Trading of iron and steel
Company Limited (“East Harvest Mining") H AR #390,000,0007C products
EEETRXBEARAR ([REXBE]) MEERES
Lianyungang Hongnie International Trading PRC US$12,860,000/ - 100 Trading of iron and steel
Company Limited (“Hongnie Trading”) H US$4,019,422.5 products
EZERBEARESERAR ([REEH]) 12,860,000 T,/ MEAERZ
4,019,4225% 7T
Henan Jiakun New Materials Technology PRC RMB50,100,000 - 100 Sale of metallic new
Co., Ltd. (“Henan Jiakun") A AE#50,100,0007C materials
AEFEMARRERAR (DTERE]) HERBHE
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INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

18 R—EBEQTRz2ESE

2017 2016

—E—+tF —T—RF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHExT FHET

Share of net assets JE(hEEFE - =

Loan to an associate ERFHEEE AR 56,975 56,975
Less: provision for impairment of loan to W ERT—BEBEARZ

an associate BB (56,975) (56,975)

Loan to an associate is unsecured, interest free and is not BT —

expected to be settled within one year.

Particulars of the associate are as follows:

i

TeE—FREER

Bl

A AEEN 28 RIEH

Percentage
of ownership
interest
Particulars of issued Place of attributable
Name shares held incorporation to the Group  Principal activity
BN
S FRAEERTROFE T B 3L e 2 FERZESL TEXK
Full Harvest Development 15,500 Ordinary shares of Republic of Seychelles 47.42%  Investment holding
Limited US$1 each
ERERARAA 15,500 SRR EE1ETZ EEMANER REBER

RERERERAR AT
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19 DEFERRED TAX 19 EEBIE
Deferred tax assets EEREEE
Deferred tax assets are recognised for tax losses carry HAEENTHBEEBEEMBERANREEHIEEE
forward to the extent that the realisation of the related tax ERNEB MG EE AL FEBARRE
benefit through future taxable profits is probable. As at 31 APBENBERNED RZZT—tF+=H
December 2017, the Group had unrecognised tax losses to be =t+—H FAEEERERULEARER

carried forward against future taxable income amounted to
approximately HK$2,530,132,000 (2016: HK$2,197,437,000).

SR PE RN A BB 75 8518 492,530,132,0007%8
T (ZZF—75% :2,197,437,0007 70 ) ° B Ht

These tax losses have no expiry date except that approximately 1% E518492,397,854,0008 7T ( —ZZF — /<
HK$2,397,854,000 (2016: HK$2,064,206,000) will expire in the 2,064,206,000870) @ R AR K —E R FRNE
next one to five years. HON  ZE WIS BEW B EAA -
Deferred tax liabilities BEHEAE
The movements in the deferred tax liabilities during the year are FRRLEHIBEBEZESHOT
as follows:
2017 2016
—ZE—+tF —E—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TATT
Accelerated depreciation IR T E
At 1 January n—H—H 1,204 1,285
Exchange realignment ME H R 84 (81)
At 31 December R+—HA=+—8H 1,288 1,204

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established
in the PRC. The requirement is effective from 1 January 2008
and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower
withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty
between the PRC and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors.
For the Group, the applicable rate is 10%. The Group is
therefore liable to withholding taxes on dividends distributed by
those subsidiaries established in the PRC in respect of earnings
generated after 31 December 2007.

As at 31 December 2017 and 2016, no deferred tax liabilities
have been provided for in these consolidated financial
statements as there was no temporary difference associated
with investments in subsidiaries in Mainland China.

Nickel Resources International Holdings Company Limited

BB RS - R BB R L B9 Fh
EIRE T ERIINEEEETIRIREAIZI0%
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REEFEANRER10% ° I%/Kglﬁ
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INVENTORIES 20 78
2017 2016
—E—+tF ZE—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Raw materials R 92,773 100,606
Work in progress & 212 5,049
Finished goods BB o 192,538 222,467
Spare parts and consumables R 5 7% m 19,579 12,964
305,102 341,086
Less: provision for impairment losses R EBERE (125,710) (110,486)
179,392 230,600
The movement of provision for impairment losses is as follows: BEEBERENESHOT:
2017 2016
—E—+tF —TAF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FAET
At 1 January n—H—H 110,486 176,093
Utilisation HFE (5,003) (66,884)
Impairment losses recognised for the year A E MR EE 1B
(Note 7) (PHFE7) 12,360 9,918
Exchange realignment &R =% 7,867 (8,641)
At 31 December W+—_A=+—8H 125,710 110,486

RERERERAR AT
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21 TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES

FEW iR K B R E

2017 2016

—E—+F —T—RF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Trade receivables JE Uk BR 3Kk 90,489 56,157
Notes receivables FEUR % - 112
90,489 56,269

Less: provision for impairment losses 3 : ¥l 1B /&5 18 5 & (15,583) (29,857)
74,906 26,412

The Group's trading terms with its customers are mainly on
credit, except for new customers and customers of limonitic
ores, where payment in advance is normally required. The
credit period is generally one to two months. During the
year, the Group generated its revenue from sales of alloys
and special steel products to other steel producers, thereby
exposing the Group to concentration of credit risk in the steel
industry. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over these balances. Trade and notes receivables
are non-interest-bearing. The carrying amounts of trade and
notes receivables approximate their fair values.

Annual Report 2017

AEBEREFZRGEIEUEETAGEE
HE—RERFEF LBEETFEMNKIEA
EEH-—RA—EMEA -FA AEEZ
Wank B AE M HRERHE S S KR
Em Bt AEEEGRHASTEZEES
o B o AN G B S B 52 S A RS A (R AR
R HMEERE - BRERLERREE
AETHILE o FE U AR K B U 2 45 1 R o £
HRREEREE-
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21 TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES (Continued) 21 EUWERARAKREWEE (E)

Note: B3 -
(@)  Trade receivables (a) FE U BR X
An ageing analysis of trade receivables at the end of the reporting period, R|ER REEBBFE 2 BRERTR 2 BRI
based on the invoice date, is as follows: DT :
2017 2016
—E—tF —T—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FaxT FHT
Within 90 days 90H A 65,208 25,108
91 to 180 days 91£180H 9,695 456
181 to 365 days 1812365H 3 736
Over 1 year BiA—F 15,583 29,857
90,489 56,157

FERERFORER BB R BT :

The movements in the provision for impairment losses of trade receivables
are as follows:

2017 2016

—E—tHF —T—REF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FHET

At 1 January n—A—H 29,857 26,954
(Reversal of)/provision for impairment losses FRRERBE (BE),

for the year (Note 7) BE (KHaE7) (11,571) 4,635

Utilisation HFE - (280)

Deconsolidation of subsidiaries M AR IEER A AR (4,144) =

Exchange realignment &N =% 1,441 (1,452)

At 31 December R+t—A=+—8 15,583 29,857

As at 31 December 2017, trade receivables of HK$15,583,000 (2016:
HK$29,857,000) were impaired in full. The amount of the individually
impaired trade receivables mainly relate to customers that were in financial
difficulties or aged over 1 year. All these receivables have been past due for
over 1 year.

R-ZZE—+tF+-_A=+—"8 EREX
15,583,000/ 7T ( == — 7S 4F : 29,857,000/ 7T.)
BEORE-ERREERERSBEEZ SRR
MR TP URRE—FU L -FAALERE
WRIEE B HBR—F -
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21 TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES (Continued)

21

Statements

FEWARA R EWRE (&)

Note: (Continued) MeE: (&)
(@)  Trade receivables (Continued) (a) FEURBRR (48)
The ageing analysis of trade receivables that are either not yet past due or I & 38 B Sl N AR AR AE TR R B 2 MR K 2 BR R 9
not considered to be impaired is as follows: anT -
2017 2016
—E—tF —E—RF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FER F#IT
Not yet past due 1 7 160 £ 65,208 25,108
Past due but not impaired DEHEERE
Within 90 days 90H A 9,695 456
91 to 180 days 91£180H - -
Over 180 days #BiB180H 3 736
74,906 26,300
Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a number of 14 7 380 B R (B 2 R WA TR S RO R R e R A2
diversified customers for whom there was no recent history of default. B2 ZRBDHER -
Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number of BaMEEREZEBERBSRBLIER %%
independent customers. The Directors are of the opinion that no provision EPRASERECHRT EFERRENEE
for impairment is necessary in respect of these balances as there has BERWEEANE  GREERDERAEERE
not been a significant change in credit quality and the balances are still WA A AAREL RERE-
considered fully recoverable.
(b)  Notes receivables (b) =g

As at the end of the reporting period, the maturity period of the Group’s
notes receivables is as follows:

i3
RBERR AEEREEEZEWBOT :

2017 2016

=Bt F —E-RF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Within 90 days 90H A - 56
91 to 180 days 91H =180H - 56
- 112
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22 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

182

22 FENRE- -RekHEMEKRTIE

RECEIVABLES

2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Prepayments to Yiwan (note) FEATYiwanz 208 (FHisE) 12,463 11,761
Prepayments to other suppliers TE T H A e 2 5RIE 23,610 24,925
Other prepayments H 8 I8 2,155 35,782
Deposits and other receivables e R H i EWFRIE 20,663 13,682
Value-added tax recoverable AT el I (E R 48,994 54,090

Current portion of prepaid land lease AL HEERE
payments (Note 15) BNEREE o (BI5E15) 4,138 4,428
112,023 144,668

The carrying amounts of receivables and deposits approximate
their fair values.

Note:

As at 31 December 2016, the directors have reviewed the recoverable
amount of prepayments to Yiwan. These prepayments were made for
purchase of iron ores and have not been utilised by the Group recently
because unprocessed iron ores are currently banned from export. The
directors are of the opinion that the prepayments to Yiwan made by CNRG
amounting to approximately HK$126,879,000 as at 31 December 2016
may not be executed further since CNRG would likely be wounded up and
therefore a full provision had been made thereon. These prepayments with
carrying amount of HK$nil were fully derecognised upon deconsolidation
of CNRG Group during the year ended 31 December 2017. For the
remaining prepayment of HK$12,463,000 as at 31 December 2017 (2016:
HK$11,761,000), the directors of the Company consider that Yiwan has
the ability to meet its obligations for supplying iron ores by other means
at the discretions of the Group and therefore are not impaired as at 31
December 2017.
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R_B—RNE+_A=+—H EECHEN
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e MEBRRME

23 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, PLEDGED TIME 23 HREeNBESZEY CHEHFTHER

DEPOSITS AND RESTRICTED CASH REZRFRE
2017 2016
—E—+tF —ET—RE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
Cash and bank balances B e RIR1THEH 20,046 20,143
Pledged time deposits 2R EBRFR 25 1,687
20,071 21,830

Less: Pledged time deposits for issuing bank J& : AES IR 1T H 2 2

Annual Report 2017

acceptance notes (Note 25(b)) B E BT K
(P EE25(b)) (12) (1,674)
Pledged time deposits for senior BELESRITHR
bonds and convertible bonds REH 2 2 HEA
(Note 27(i) and 28) EHFR
(BtsE27() 528) (13) (13)
Cash and cash equivalents BehBESEEY 20,046 20,143

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. As at 31 December 2017, the weighted
average effective interest rate of the Group’s time deposits was
0.31% (2016: 0.50%) per annum.

As at 31 December 2017, cash and bank balances and pledged
time deposits of the Group are mainly denominated in RMB.
The carrying amounts of these balances approximate their fair
values.

RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, however,
under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange
RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct
foreign exchange business.

RERIT 2R T ABTERFRFEZ
BoR-_E—+E+-_A=+—H KEH
HERMEFHERFEFNEAR031% (=
—7NEF:0.50%) °

o Rt
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RZE—+F+A=+—H AEERS
RRTHEGMEEREHEFREIENAR
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24 OTHER LONG TERM PAYABLES 24 HthREIESKIE
2017 2016
—E—+F —E—REF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T T
Other long term payables H fth & H FE A TR IE
Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—BZKEE 8,374 9,073
Transfer to other short term payables T H 05D HAFE N RN A (68) (198)
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries (Note 8) (NI SN
(Ff7ES) (900) -
Exchange realignment EHZER 526 (501)
Carrying amount at 31 December R+ZA=+t—BZ
RMEE 7,932 8,374
25 TRADE AND NOTES PAYABLES 25 EAERERREMRE
2017 2016
—E—+F —T—RF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 7E FET T T
Trade payables JESTBR R (a) 133,008 120,358
Notes payables NS (b) 1,436 1,444
134,444 121,802

184 @& REBIZERARRA A
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e MEBRRME

25 TRADE AND NOTES PAYABLES (Continued) 25 BERIRRESRES (&)
(a) Trade payables (a) EEFIERM
An ageing analysis of the trade payables at the end of the REHRR  REZRFE CENER
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: R DT -
2017 2016
—E—+tF ZE—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FAET
Within 90 days 90H N 68,773 22,843
91 to 180 days 91%2180H 5,380 2,718
181 to 365 days 1812365H 6,165 4,987
1 to 2 years 1E226F 6,537 4,940
2 to 3 years 2E34F 2,250 18,183
Over 3 years HBIA3F 43,903 66,687
133,008 120,358
Trade payables are normally settled on terms of 60 to 180 FERTER R — M XN HAZR60E 1801 » ¥
days. The carrying amounts of trade payables approximate WEBRR  ENRRZREBEEADAD
their fair values at the end of the reporting period. BEMEE-
(b) Notes payables (b) EREE
An ageing analysis of the notes payables of the Group at RZE—+F+_A=+—H K&H
31 December 2017 is as follows: JERN R RE DT :
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FAIT
Within 90 days 90H A 1,436 1,444
At 31 December 2017, notes payables of HK$1,436,000 RZZE—+F+ZA=+—8 Ef[
(2016: HK$1,444,000) were denominated in RMB £181,436,0008 L (ZF — R F:
and secured by time deposits of HK$12,000 (2016: 1,444,000 L) A AR B ET{E - W A
HK$1,674,000) (Note 23). The carrying amounts of notes T HTF 512,000 T (=T — <N F:
payables approximate their fair values at the end of the 1,674,000/ 7t) {E B 1R (FFE23) o
reporting period. R|MER BNEERZRIEREELR
AEERE-
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26 OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 26 HMENREBERETER

2017 2016

—E—+tF —T—RF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHExT FHET

Advances from customers BFE#R 34,799 120,048
Payables related to purchases of property, HBEEBEWE M5 &

plant and equipment R FERTSRIE 63,171 69,498

Accrued interest expense JERTF B S 893,946 544,846

Payroll payable FEH 2 63,495 52,517

Amounts due to directors (Note 35) HEREEFIA (MFE35) 63,841 12,834

Provision for claims and disputes (Note) EF' RN FEBE (M) 125,155 121,832

Others HAh 268,383 222,379

1,512,790 1,143,954

186

As at 31 December 2017, the carrying amounts of other
payables and accruals approximate their fair values.

Note: Provision for claims and disputes mainly represent provision for claim from
certain vessel owners under certain contracts of affreightment amounting

to HK$99,118,000 (2016: HK$98,335,000).

BRERERZERBR AR

R-F—tH&t+=-A=+—8" Eﬁﬂﬁfﬁ%’\

AR ERZREERE AR

LEERS

Mizr: RRRFEABELIZERE THERBEEMNEE
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27 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 27 SHBITREMEE

2017 2016
“E-t& 2%
Contractual Contractual
interest Original interest Original
Note rate (%) maturity HK$'000 rate (%) maturity HK$'000
W AEFE%)  FIHA TR ARFZE%)  RIHA FiEn
Current Ik
Non-current bank loan - secured FMBROER-BER (@) 6.6 2019 100,431 6.6 2019 93,907
ZB-NE “I-0F
Non-current syndicated bank loan - secured ~ JEENEISE & H—A K # (b) 5.2-6.6 2019 595,837 52-62 2019 556,859
ZB-NF —T-NE
Non-current bank loans - unsecured FEBRTEN-EAR © 47-51 2019 42429  52-53 2019 396,496
ZE-hF —E-0E
Other loans EER (d) 100-114  2014-2015 239263  10.0-114 2014-2015 447,176
—E-mE- —E-mE-
“E-1f —E-0f
Other borrowings - unsecured At E-EER
- related parties -BEn (e) Nil-43.2  On demand 89,086  Nil-432  Ondemand 104,499
Z-13) AREREE T- 432 BREXEE
- Potential Inventor -BEREE (f) Nil-10.0 On demand 236,870 100 On demand 173,281
2-100 ZHEREE BREXEE
- related parties of the Potential Investor ~ —BEREEMNBES (f) 11.0-584  2015-2017 314524 11.0-584 2015-2016 70,330
—E-1f- “Z-nE-
“B-tf “F-RF
- other third parties -EthE=5 (9 Nil-36.5  2014-2017 70,512 Nil-21.6  2014-2016 69,560
£-365 —F-MF- T-216 —T-ME-
“E-tf ZERE
Other borrowing - secured At E-EHEA
~ other third parties —EthE=7 (h) Nil-27.6  2017-2018 3,571 - = -
2-216 —F—tf-
-0\
The 12% Coupon Senior Bonds 12%ZEEBEES i) 120 2018 390,990 120 2018 390,990
-0\ “EN\E
The Modified 10% Coupon Bonds BET%EASES ) 10.0 2015 28,400 100 2015 28,400
—B-1f% Z3-1%
2,493,776 2,331,498
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Nickel Resources International Holdings Company Limited

187



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MERRME

27 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)

188

(a)

(b)

Non-current secured bank loan

In May 2016, the Group replaced certain overdue RMB
secured bank loans and notes payables to the extent of
RMB55,000,000 (equivalent to HK$65,797,000) (2016:
HK$61,487,000) and RMB29,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$34,693,000) (2016: HK$32,420,000), respectively by
a 3-year secured bank loan. Up to 31 December 2017,
RMB50,000 (equivalent to HK$59,000) has been repaid.

As at 31 December 2017, this bank loan is secured
by a number of leasehold land in Mainland China
with net carrying amount of HK$40,586,000 (2016:
HK$37,927,000). However, as there is a repayment
on demand clause in the bank loan agreement, the
outstanding amount of the 3-year secured bank loan of
HK$100,431,000 has been classified as current liabilities
as at 31 December 2017.

Non-current secured syndicated bank loan

In January 2016, the Group obtained a 3-year syndicated
loan of approximately RMB498 million (equivalent
to HK$556,859,000) from a syndicate of banks in
the PRC (i) to replace certain outstanding bank loans
and notes payable of the Group as at 31 December
2015 to the extent of RMB268,620,000 (equivalent to
HK$300,302,000) and RMB79,737,000 (equivalent to
HK$89,141,000), respectively with the syndicated loan
of the same amount; and (i) to provide additional loan
facilities to the Group as working capital for an amount
of RMB150,000,000 (the “New Facilities”) for a 3-year
term. During the year ended 31 December 2017, the New
Facilities have been fully drawn down.

The syndicated loan is secured by certain property, plant
and equipment and prepaid land lease payments of
certain subsidiaries of the Group. However, the Group
failed to fulfil certain undertakings and restrictive covenant
requirements under these syndicated loan facilities upon
signing the syndicated loan agreement. As a result, the
outstanding amount of the 3-year syndicated loan of
RMB498 million (equivalent to HK$595,837,000) was
immediately due and payable as at 31 December 2017.

RERERERAR AT

27 RITRHMEE (&)

(@)

(b)

BB IKIFIRITER
RZE—RFRA AEEN—EH=
FHAERMFRITERRNRE TEH
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27 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Annual Report 2017

Non-current unsecured bank loans

In June 2016, the Group obtained an unsecured 3-year
loan facility for an amount of RMB360 million (equivalent
to HK$430,560,000) from a PRC bank (the “Unsecured
Loan Facility”). During the year ended 31 December
2016, approximately RMB355 million (equivalent to
HK$424,292,000) has been drawn down from the
Unsecured Loan Facility mainly to replace certain loans in
relation to the proposed disposal of a 30% equity interest
in SEAM to the extent of RMB300,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$358,895,000) as detailed in note (d) below.

However, the Group failed to fulfil certain undertakings
and restrictive covenant requirements under this
Unsecured Loan Facility upon signing the loan agreement.
As a result, the outstanding amount of this loan of
RMB355 million (equivalent to HK$424,292,000) was
immediately due and payable as at 31 December 2017.

Other loans

On 21 January 2013, the Group entered into a non-
binding framework agreement with Beijing Wincapital in
relation to the disposal of a 30% equity interest in SEAM,
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group. The aggregate
disposal consideration is expected to be approximately
US$150 million (equivalent to approximately HK$1,170
million). The proposed transaction is yet to complete and
no formal sales and purchase agreement has been entered
into up to the date of approval of the consolidated
financial statements.

In connection with the proposed disposal, Beijing
Wincapital arranged certain loan finance (“Financing
Loans”) to the Group in the aggregate amounts of
RMB400,000,000 (equivalent to HK$447,176,000) up to
31 December 2016. Such borrowings can be settled by
offsetting against the disposal consideration should the
proposed disposal be completed.

27 $R1T

(9]

(d)

Nickel Resources International Holdings Company Limited
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27 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)

190

(d) Other loans (Continued)

As at 31 December 2016, the Financing Loans comprised
of:

(i) A loan of RMB200,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$223,588,000) under a secured financing
arranged by Beijing Wincapital for a term of two
years.

In consideration of the financing, (i) Yongtong
Special Steel, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Group, has assigned its rights and entitlements to
all the income generated or otherwise receivable,
if any, from the equity interest of its wholly-owned
subsidiary, Henan Yongtong Stainless Steel Products
Co. Ltd. and (i) a personal guarantee provided by
Mr. Dong for such period so long as the financing
remains outstanding.

(i) A loan provided by Gongyi Jiahui Technology
Promotion Service Centre LLP (“Gongyi Jiahui”) of
RMB200,000,000 (equivalent to HK$223,588,000)
for a term of three months from the respective
drawdown date.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the
loan arranged by Beijing Wincapital (amounting to
RMB200,000,000 (equivalent to HK$239,263,000)) has
been novated to Pingyuan, which is a beneficial owner of
the Potential Investor, as mentioned in note (f) below.

As at 31 December 2017, the loan due to Gongyi Jiahui
of RMB200,000,000 (equivalent to HK$239,263,000)
remained overdue. The Group is in the process of
negotiating with the counterparties to extend the terms of
the outstanding balances.

RERERERAR AT

27 |ROTRHMEE (B)
d) HtEX (&)
R-ZE—ARE+-_A=1+—H @8E
EFE:

() EXAR200,000,0007T (HHE
$4223,588,0007 7T ) AL R & &
ZHER AHMFNEIRFRE -

EREBEMRE  ()kBRH (K
SENEEMBLAREEER
H2E B A R E oK GE 5
AR QPR PTE £ 38
Y B P A A B A A Ko il 25 (20
B RHELERBEDNREE
Z IR R EA R

iy BEEMEERMHEERS S L
(EREE) (IZxEE])REH
—% AR #200,000,0007T (4
B 1223,588,00078 1) Z B 7
A=A (HERRERA SR
PR

RBE-_Z—+F+=-A=+—H
IEFE LtRERTHEZERARE
200,000,0007T (48 & 7°239,263,000
BIL)EEETER mERAEEER
BEZEREAR A (TSGR
) e

R-E—+&E+=-_RA=+—8 FEfR
FEEE 2B ARM200,000,0007T
(8% 239,263,000 7T ) 7338 B « Z<
EEFASEEFH#ETER  WERX
KEEREE 2 HAMR

"R FFERSE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MEBRRME

27 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)
(e) Unsecured borrowings from related parties

()

Annual Report 2017

As at 31 December 2017 and 2016, unsecured
borrowings from related parties comprised of: (i) loans
from a Mr. Dong’s relative of RMB25,700,000 (equivalent
to HK$30,745,000) (2016: HK$28,731,000), which bear
interest at rates of 36% to 43% per annum; and (ii) loans
from the ultimate holding company of the Company
consisting of amounts of $$5,642,000, US$1,715,000
and HK$10,779,000 (2016: HK$8,429,000) (in aggregate
equivalent to HK$57,145,000) (2016: HK$50,592,000),
which bear interest at a rate of 8% per annum except for
an amount of US$1,715,000, which is interest free.

In addition, in November and December 2016, the Group
also obtained interest-free loans of RMB23,520,000 from
certain relatives of Mr. Dong, of which RMB1,000,000
(equivalent to HK$1,196,000) remained outstanding as at
31 December 2017 (2016: RMB22,520,000 (equivalent
to HK$25,176,000)). These loans have been fully repaid
subsequent to the year ended in January 2018.

Unsecured borrowings from the Potential
Investor and related parties of the Potential
Investor

As at 31 December 2017, the total borrowing obtained
from the Potential Investor and certain related parties
of the Potential Investor amounted to RMB460,910,000
(equivalent to HK$551,394,000) (2016: HK$243,611,000)
which included the loan novated from Beijing Wincapital
to Pingyuan of RMB200,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$239,263,000) as detailed in Note 27(d) above.

As at 31 December 2017, unsecured borrowings
from related parties of the Potential Investor of
HK$314,524,000 were overdue. The Group has been
actively negotiating with the lenders of the above
borrowings for the renewal and extension of the
repayment dates for a term of 2 years.

27 $R1T

(e)
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27 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)

192

(9)

(h)

Unsecured borrowings from other third parties
As at 31 December 2017, unsecured borrowings from
other third parties comprised of: (i) a loan from an
independent third party of RMB1,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$1,196,000) (2016: HK$1,118,000), which
bear interest at 12% per annum; (i) a loan from an
independent third party of US$2,500,000 (equivalent
to HK$19,542,000) (2016: HK$19,387,000), which
bear interest at 8% per annum; (iii) an interest-free
loan of RMB4,879,000 (equivalent to HK$5,837,000)
(2016: HK$5,455,000) provided by a customer of the
Group which is repayable on demand; (iv) loans from
certain independent third parties of RMB15,726,000
(equivalent to HK$18,814,000) (2016: HK$23,477,000),
RMB17,000,000 (equivalent to HK$20,337,000) (2016:
HK$19,005,000), and RMB4,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$4,786,000) (2016: RMB1,000,000, equivalent to
HK$1,118,000) which bear interest at rates of 21.6%
per annum, 19.2% per annum and 36.5% per annum,
respectively.

As at 31 December 2017, unsecured borrowing to the
extent of HK$64,675,000 (2016: HK$62,987,000) and
HK$5,837,000 (2016: 6,573,000) were overdue and
repayable on demand, respectively.

Secured borrowings from other third parties

As at 31 December 2017, secured borrowing from
other third parties comprised of: (i) a loan from an
independent third party of RMB2,300,000 (equivalent to
HK$2,751,000), which bears interest at 27.6% per annum
and secured by a motor vehicle with net carrying amount
of RMB3,615,000 (equivalent to HK$4,325,000) and (ii)
a loan from an independent third party of HK$820,000,
which is interest-free and secured by personal guarantee
of Mr. Dong. As at 31 December 2017, secured
borrowings from other third parties of HK$2,751,000,
which bear interest at 27.6% per annum and were
overdue.

RERERERAR AR
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(9

(h)
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The 12% Coupon Senior Bonds
On 13 June 2014, the Company completed a
restructuring of its then existing 10% Coupon Senior
Bonds and 6% Coupon Convertible Bonds with nominal
amount of HK$390,990,000 and HK$181,575,000,
respectively (“Bonds Restructuring”).

Key terms of the then existing 10% Coupon Senior Bonds
have been amended as follows:

(i)  Interest rate: 12% per annum, which is repayable
quarterly in arrears;

(i) Final maturity date: 12 December 2018;

(i) Repayment: The Company shall redeem the
bonds at 100% of the remaining principal of
HK$390,990,000 in 8 quarterly instalments
commencing 12 March 2017 to and including the
Final Maturity Date;

(iv)  Redeemable in cash at the option of the Company
at their early redemption amount calculated by
using the bond principal with an interest rate of
12% payable on a quarterly basis, at any time
prior to the final maturity date, providing that early
redemption may not be exercised by the Company
within 30 days of the end of a specific close period.

Details of the amendments to the terms of the then
existing 6% Coupon Convertible Bonds have been
disclosed in Note 28. The amendments are considered to
be substantial modification of terms of these bonds and
therefore have been accounted for as extinguishment of
financial liabilities; and the amended Senior Bonds (“12%
Coupon Senior Bonds”) and amended convertible bonds
("8% Coupon Convertible Bonds”) have been recognised
upon the completion of the Bonds Restructuring.
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(i)

The 12% Coupon Senior Bonds (Continued)

The 12% Coupon Senior Bonds with the embedded
redemption options were initially recognised as a debt
host contract, which was measured using an equivalent
market interest rate for a similar bond without a
redemption option, and are subsequently carried at
amortised cost. The embedded redemption options were
initially recognised as an embedded derivative, which
was measured using valuation technique. At its initial
recognition and at each subsequent reporting period end
date, the fair value of the embedded redemption options
was insignificant. The fair value of the 12% Coupon
Senior Bonds was valued by Greater China Appraisal
Limited.

During the year ended 31 December 2014, the Company
failed to make interest payment under the relevant terms
and conditions of the Modified 10% Coupon Bonds
(see note (j) below), 12% Coupon Senior Bonds and 8%
Coupon Convertible Bonds (Note 28) of HK$1,420,000,
HK$11,698,000 and HK$2,990,000, respectively. This
constituted an event of default under the respective
terms of the Bonds. As a result, the outstanding carrying
amounts of the Modified 10% Coupon Bonds, 12%
Coupon Senior Bonds and 8% Coupon Convertible
Bonds became immediately due and payable. In addition,
all unwinding of interest was accelerated; and all the
liabilities of the Bonds have been classified as current
liabilities thereafter.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Company
also failed to make further interest payments of the Bonds
of HK$43,561,000 (2016: HK$53,798,000).
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The 12% Coupon Senior Bonds (Continued)
Despite the above, DB Trustees (Hong Kong) Limited,
the trustee for the holders of the Bonds, has not
demanded immediate repayment of the Bonds and
their related interest up to the date of approval of the
consolidated financial statements. The Group has been
actively negotiating with the holders of the Bonds for the
execution of the Debt Restructuring Proposal to facilitate
the Group meeting its obligations. At the meetings of
the holders of the 12% Coupon Senior Bonds and 8%
Coupon Convertible Bonds held on 21 June 2016 and
6 July 2016, respectively, extraordinary resolutions were
passed and resolved that no holder of the 12% Coupon
Senior Bonds and 8% Coupon Convertible Bonds shall
demand repayment of any amount due under the 12%
Coupon Senior Bonds and 8% Coupon Convertible Bonds
or take any action to enforce the payment of monies or
exercise any other right thereunder or otherwise take any
action against the Company whether or not under the
terms and conditions of the 12% Senior Bonds and 8%
Coupon Convertible Bonds or request the trustee to take
any of the foregoing actions.

Following the passing and effectiveness of these
resolutions, the Company is preparing the necessary
documents to submit to the courts for the relevant
creditors’ approval and court sanction for the Cayman
Scheme and the Hong Kong Scheme under the Debt
Restructuring Proposal.

The Company is also actively negotiating with other
creditors of the Company for the execution of the Debt
Restructuring Proposal.
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The Modified 10% Coupon Bonds

The Group’s Modified 10% Coupon Bonds were
recognised on the remaining 284 then 10% Coupon
Convertible Bonds of the Group with an aggregate
nominal amount of HK$28,400,000 (the “Modified 10%
Coupon Bonds”) as a result of the amendments to the
terms and conditions governing the then 10% Coupon
Convertible Bonds pursuant to an extraordinary resolution
dated 31 May 2012.

Upon the amendment, the Group determined the fair
value of the Modified 10% Coupon Bonds based on the
valuation performed by Great China Appraisal Limited
using an equivalent market interest rate for a similar bond
without a conversion option.

The Modified 10% Coupon Bonds were matured on 12
March 2015. As at 31 December 2016 and 2017, an
event of default occurred under the terms of the Modified
10% Coupon Bonds, details of which have been disclosed
in note (i) above.

28 CONVERTIBLE BONDS

On 13 June 2014, the Company completed the Bonds
Restructuring as stated in Note 27(i), whereupon the terms and
conditions governing the 6% Convertible Bonds of the Group
with aggregate nominal amount of HK$181,575,000 have been
amended as follows:

196

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Amended the interest rate payable from 6% per annum
to 8% per annum;

Extended the final maturity date of the 8% Coupon
Convertible Bonds from 12 March 2015 to 12 March
2018;

The price at which ordinary shares will be issued upon
conversion of the Convertible Bonds will be reduced to
HK$0.30 per ordinary share, subject to adjustment in the
manner provided in the Convertible Bonds Trust Deed;
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(ivy  Amended to the Conversion Price re-set mechanics to
provide a reduced Floor Price of HK$0.18;

(vy Added a provisional clause to the definition of
“Relevant Event” (note) to ensure that the suspension
of trading of the ordinary shares of the Company on
the Stock Exchange at the completion date of the Debt
Restructuring will not constitute a Relevant Event unless it
continues for a period of 120 consecutive calendar days
following 12 June 2014;

(vi)  Amended the Reserve Account arrangements to reduce
the Required Minimum Balance from US$10,000,000 to
US$1,000; and

(vii)  The addition of provisions which will require the Company
to credit to the balance of the Reserve Account amounts
calculated by reference to the volume of dry tonnes of ore
exported to SEAM in the event that the current restrictions
imposed on the export of ores under the Exclusive
Offtake Agreement are lifted and which will require the
Company to accelerate the payments schedule in such
circumstances.

Note:
A “Relevant Event” occurs:

(1) when the ordinary shares of the Company cease to be listed or admitted to
trading, or the trading of which is suspended for a period of more than 90
consecutive calendars, on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange; or

(2) when there is a change of control in the Company.

The amendments are considered to be substantial modification
of terms of the 6% Convertible Bonds. Consequently, the 6%
Convertible Bonds have been accounted for as extinguishment
of financial liabilities and the 8% Coupon Convertible Bonds
have been recognised upon the completion of the Bonds
Restructuring.
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CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued) 28 AwRES (&)
The movements of the liability and derivative components of the MREFZBBERITETAES S 28N
Convertible Bonds are as follows: ™
Liability
component Derivatives
of convertible financial
bonds instruments Total
ARRES TE
2EEHD SWMIA #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FHET THET
At 1 January 2016 R-ZB—XE—A—H 117,525 41,769 159,294
Conversion into ordinary shares g s Emix (FiE29)

(Note 29) (70,750) (13,200) (83,950)
Changes in fair value NABEZED = (28,569) (28,569)
At 31 December 2016 and RZE—R

31 December 2017 +ZA=+—HBK

—ET—+F
+ZA=+—H 46,775 - 46,775

The Group determined the fair value of the liability component
of the 8% Coupon Convertible Bonds based on the valuation
performed by Greater China Appraisal Limited using an
equivalent market interest rate for a similar bond without a
conversion option as at the date of recognition.

The Group also recognised a number of derivatives, based on
the valuation performed by Greater China Appraisal Limited, the
values of which comprise:

(i)  The fair value of the option of the bondholders to convert
the 8% Coupon Convertible Bonds into ordinary shares of
the Company at the conversion price;

(i) The fair value of the option of the Company to redeem
the 8% Coupon Convertible Bonds; and

(i)  The fair value of the potential option of the holders
to request the Company to redeem the 8% Coupon
Convertible Bonds upon the occurrence of Relevant Event.
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These options are interdependent as only one of these options
can be exercised. Therefore, they are not able to be accounted
for separately and a single compound derivative financial
instrument was recognised.

The fair values of the derivatives were valued by Greater China
Appraisal Limited using the scenario analysis model. As at
31 December 2017, the fair value of the derivative financial
instruments of the 8% Coupon Convertible Bonds was HK$Nil.

The 8% Coupon Convertible Bonds and the 12% Coupon
Senior Bonds (as detailed in Note 27(i) above) are secured
by (i) the pledge of the Group’s time deposits amounting to
HK$13,000; (i) all of the rights, interest, title and benefits of
the Exclusive Offtake Agreement; and (iii) all of the shares held
by First Elite Development Limited in S.E.A. Mining Limited,
a private company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited
liability, which is the sole legal and beneficial holder of the
convertible bonds issued by Yiwan with principals amounting
to HK$46,500,000 and US$3,000,000, respectively which are
convertible into ordinary shares of Yiwan.

As at 31 December 2017 and 2016, an event of default
occurred under the terms of the 8% Coupon Convertible
Bonds, details of which have been disclosed in Note 27(i).
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SHARE CAPITAL 29 R
2017 2016
—E—t& —E-REF
Number of Number of
ordinary shares HK$'000  ordinary shares HK$'000
ERRYE FEx AR E TET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx TER FET FET
Authorised (HK$0.1 each): EE (BR0.1BTT)
At 1 January and 31 December R—A—H&
+-A=+—H 5,000,000,000 500,000 5,000,000,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid BEITRAR
(HK$0.1 each): (FR0.1ET)
At 1 January R—A—H 3,088,131,105 308,813 2,766,540,198 276,654
Conversion of convertible bonds & # A] # % & % - 321,590,907 32,159
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H 3,088,131,105 308,813  3,088,131,105 308,813

During the year ended 31 December 2016, convertible bonds
with principal amount of HK$70,750,000 were converted into
321,590,907 new ordinary shares of the Company at HK$0.22
per share in accordance with the terms of the convertible bonds.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity of the consolidated
financial statements.

Share premium

Under the Companies Law (2009 Revision) of the Cayman
Islands, the share premium and contributed surplus are
distributable to the shareholders of the Company, provided
that immediately following the date on which the dividend is
proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position
to pay off its debts as and when they fall due in the ordinary
course of business.
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30 RESERVES (Continued) 30 f#& (&)
Contributed surplus BERARER

The contributed surplus of the Group represents the difference
between the aggregate of the nominal value of the paid-
up capital of Infonics acquired pursuant to the Group
reorganisation on 29 April 2006 and the nominal value of the
Company's shares issued in exchange therefor.

Capital reserve

At 31 December 2017, the balance of capital reserve is non-
distributable and represents the additional contribution by a
shareholder in 2003 amounting to HK$36,047,000 (equivalent
to approximately RMB37,147,000), and the capitalisation
of payable to a shareholder amounting to HK$79,760,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB85,000,000) in respect of
which Mr. Dong waived his rights and benefits to the debts
owed to him by Yongtong Special Steel in 2004.

Statutory reserves

In accordance with the Company Law of the PRC and the
respective Articles of Association of Yongtong Special Steel,
Yongtong Alloy Metals, Xiangtong Electricity, Yongtong Nickel,
East Harvest Minerals, East Harvest Mining, Hongnie Trading,
Yongtong Fully Lead and Henan lJiakun, these companies
are each required to allocate 10% of their profit after tax,
as determined in accordance with PRC Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles (“PRC GAAP”), to the statutory surplus
reserves (the “SSR”) until these reserves reach 50% of the
registered capital.

Subsequent to the re-registration of Yongtong Special Steel
as a wholly-foreign-owned company on 10 November 2003,
allocation to the SSR was no longer required. According to the
relevant PRC regulations applicable to wholly-foreign-owned
companies, Yongtong Special Steel is required to allocate a
certain portion (not less than 10%) of its profit after tax in
accordance with PRC GAAP to the statutory reserve fund (the
“SRF") until this reserve reaches 50% of its registered capital.

The SSR and SRF are non-distributable other than in the event
of liquidation and, subject to certain restrictions set out in the
relevant PRC regulations, can be used to offset accumulated
losses or be capitalised as paid-up capital.
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RESERVES (Continued)

Distributable reserves

For dividend purposes, the amount which the PRC subsidiaries
can legally distribute by way of a dividend is determined by
reference to the distributable profits as reflected in their PRC
statutory financial statements which are prepared in accordance
with PRC GAAP. These profits differ from those that are
reflected in this report which is prepared in accordance with
IFRSs.

In accordance with the Company Law of the PRC, profits after
tax of the PRC subsidiaries can be distributed as dividends after
the appropriations to the SSR and SRF set out above.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 2 May 2005, the Company approved a share option scheme
(the “Share Option Scheme”) under which the Directors may, at
their discretion, grant options to the Directors and employees
of the Group to subscribe for shares in the Company. The
subscription price for shares under the Share Option Scheme
will be determined by the Directors, which shall be calculated
at the time of grant of the relevant option and shall not be
less than the highest of (i) the nominal value of a share; (ii) the
closing price of a share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotation sheet on the date of grant of the relevant option,
which must be a business day; and (iii) the average closing price
of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation
sheets for the five business days immediately preceding the date
of grant of the relevant option.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the Share Option Scheme must not
exceed 10% of the share capital of the Company in issue and
may not exceed in nominal value 30% of the issued share
capital of the Company in issue for a period of 10 consecutive
years. The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for the
period of 10 years commencing on 2 May 2005. No option may
be granted to any one person which, if exercised in full, would
result in the total number of shares which were already issued
and may fall to be issued to him under all the options previously
granted to him pursuant to the Share Option Scheme in any
12-month period up to the date of grant, exceeding 1% of
the maximum aggregate number of shares for the time being
issued and which may fall to be issued under the Share Option
Scheme.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 31 BR#ETE (&)
Share options granted to a Director, chief executive or BTYARAES BRATEXTERR
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of RAEMBREZHBEA 2 BRERESELE L
their associates, are subject to approval in advance by the FEMITER AT WM MR TFARBEE
independent non-executive Directors. In additions, any share RSB IFNTES  SEMBEE2HE
options granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent A2 BB R AE R (AT 1 218 B BR ) B () RF R
non-executive Director, or to any of their associates, in excess EARREEEBEITRM0.1% KB A (IRIBEAD
of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time or AR BB RO (ER) BRsE &8t
with an aggregate value (based on the price of the Company’s HABERFIRRNBRRARE S -
shares at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within
any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in
advance in a general meeting.
The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within RERH ZBRERNNIZEEZ BEE28BR
28 days from the date of offer, upon payment of a nominal B mMABAEXNEHIBTZRER
consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise RE-REBREZITEHEEESE
period of the share options granted is determinable by the B —BREBHE A MBI miEw
Directors, and commences after a certain vesting period and HETSENREBREDHET TF -8
ends on a date which is not later than 10 years from the date RiEzEBHARST Bt E20%ER#E
of offer of the share options. The options will have a vesting AT A B BAf& 1218 B 1715 - I H 18 T F &
schedule of five years whereby only 20% of the options shall BABAIITEREIN0% B E  EE R FH
be exercisable 12 months after the grant date and an additional EIERER 2 BT
20% may be exercised by the grantee in each subsequent
year until five years later when 100% of the options may be
exercised.
Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends BRETIAETHEAZEREINRER
or to vote at shareholders’ meetings. g LREER -
The following share options were outstanding under the Share AT B AR B PN 45 A 1A R AR IR BB AR R 5T B 1T
Option Scheme during the year: i
2017 2016
—E—+& —E-REF
Weighted Weighted
average Number average Number
exercise price of options exercise price of options
Mg MiETH
TEE BREHE 718 BREHA
HK$ 000 HK$ ‘000
per share per share
SRER T4 FRAET T
At 1 January R—A—H 1.04 38,535 1.03 40,545
Forfeited during the year RE AR 1.37 (5,150) 0.91 (2,010)
At 31 December R+-—A=+—8H 0.99 33,385 1.04 38,535
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 31
The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options
outstanding as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

B RESTE (E)
RREREAITEZBREZTHEERT
EERANT

2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—REF
Exercise price' Number of options
HK$ per share Exercise period BRESE
TEE '000 '000
BRERT T T4 Fn
1.91 6 March 2008 to 5 March 2017 - 2,550
—EENF=ZAANAEZT—tF=AAA
2.45 20 March 2009 to 19 March 2018 6,585 6,885
“EENF=ZA-_t+HE_E-N\F=ZAT+NH
0.63 20 Jan 2013 to 19 Jan 2022 26,800 29,100
T =ZF—PB-t+HE-_Z-_—_F—A+AhA
33,385 38,535

i The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in the case
of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company'’s share
capital.

The Group charged share option expense of approximately
HK$22,000 during the year ended 31 December 2017 (2016:
HK$229,000).

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had
33,385,000 (2016: 38,535,000) share options outstanding
under the Share Option Scheme, which represented
approximately 1.08% (2016: 1.25%) of the Company’s shares
in issue as at 31 December 2017. The exercise in full of the
outstanding share options would, under the present capital
structure of the Company, result in the issue of 33,385,000
(2016: 38,535,000) additional ordinary shares of the Company
and an additional share capital of HK$3,338,500 (2016:
HK$3,853,500) and share premium of HK$29,678,750 (2016:
HK$36,218,250) (before issue expenses).
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ZERT - BRETEET T A

REERHEE-_ZT—+F+-_A=+—Hit
FEMKRBRER 4 4A22,0008 T (=%
—7N4E £ 229,000/ 7T ) ©

RBEBR ARG RBEERETS -5
33,385,00019 (== — 7<% : 38,535,0001% )
MWARITEZ BRE AR RER=ZE—+F
T A=+ —HZEETERMH1.08% (=
T—NF:1.25%) - EARRAIRITRALE
BT MBBITERMRITEZERE BB
BUAS A R] 5B HMNEE4733,385,0000% (—ZZF — X
£ :38,535,000/% ) AN A Al 2 E L 12 R
753,338,500/ 7T ( =& — 7~ 4F : 3,853,500
BI)  ARMBRBETHAIR 2RO EE
29,678,750/ 7T ( ZF — /N4 : 36,218,250/8
JT) °
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32 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES, CLAIMS AND 32 RARAEE HERMUSD
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DISPUTES

The Group follows the guidance of IAS37 “Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets” to determine
when contingent liabilities should be recognised, which requires
significant judgement.

A contingent liability will be disclosed when a possible
obligation has arisen, but its existence has to be confirmed by
future events outside the Group's control, or when it is not
possible to calculate the amount. Realisation of any contingent
liabilities not currently recognised or disclosed could have a
material impact on the Group's financial position.

The Group reviews significant outstanding litigations in order to
assess the need for provisions. Among the factors considered
are the nature of the litigation, legal processes and potential
level of damages, the opinions and views of the legal counsels
and advisors, and the management’s intentions to respond to
the litigations. To the extent the estimates and judgements do
not reflect the actual outcome, this could materially affect the
results for the period and the financial position.

(a) Litigation with Rock Resource Limited (“RR")

and United Mineral Limited (“UM") (collectively
referred to as the “Buyers”)
In March 2014, the Company received certain legal letters
(the “Letters”) from the Buyers dated 20 March 2014,
which purported to be statutory demands serviced to the
Company pursuant to section 178(1)(a) of the Companies
(Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance
(Cap.32) (“Statutory Demand”).

Nickel Resources International Holdings Company Limited

AEBBRBEIR TR E375% [#E X
RABERIREE] MIE3] - LETE MR ERE
RARAE BEPF2ELERO AL -

EAARELRT HEEFERGARENN
REBFTBEIR B R R EMHHETE - HE A
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B EMBAIAERABRENHARAE B
BER - HEAREAKENYBANERE

B2 48R
N2

AEEEEMNEANFRFR AFEES
BRENRE -MEEMNRZBREFAMMNE
B AZREFRBERENELERRE A7
BEEERANERER BN R EEE S
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DISPUTES (Continued)
(a) Litigation with Rock Resource Limited (“RR")

and United Mineral Limited (“UM") (collectively
referred to as the “Buyers”) (Continued)

The Letters concern disputes between the Group and
the Buyers relating to certain primary contracts for the
sale and purchase of Indonesian iron ores, and contain
claims for (i) an amount of US$10,347,698 (equivalent
to approximately HK$80,242,000) which comprises
the demand for return of an advance payment made
by RR to the Group of US$3,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$23,264,000) and interest thereon to
the extent of US$7,347,698 (equivalent to approximately
HK$56,978,000) payable up to 20 March 2014; and (i) an
amount of RMB70,355,783 (equivalent to approximately
HK$89,488,000) which comprises the demand for
return of an advance payment made by UM to the
Group of RMB20,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$25,438,000) and interest thereon to the extent
of RMB50,355,783 (equivalent to approximately
HK$64,050,000) payable up to 20 March 2014. The
Company as guarantor to the abovementioned primary
contracts is therefore also a party to these litigations.

On 4 April 2014, the Group issued a legal letter to the
legal representative of the Buyers requesting them to
withdraw the Statutory Demand as the Group considers
that it has bona fide defences on substantial grounds to
the claims asserted from the Buyers, and the Group also
considers it has very substantial counterclaims against the
Buyers as a result of their non-performance of the relevant
contracts.

On 7 April 2014, the Group received another legal letter
from the legal representative of the Buyers informing
that the Buyers will not present their winding up petition
against the Company without serving a 3-day notice.
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(a) Litigation with Rock Resource Limited (“RR")

and United Mineral Limited (“UM") (collectively
referred to as the “Buyers”) (Continued)

On 11 April 2014, the Company received another
statutory demand from the legal representative of UM to
claim for certain interest charge (“Interest Charge”) on
certain loans provided by UM to the Group (the principal
of which had been fully repaid before 31 December
2013) calculated up to 11 April 2014 (as supplemented
by another legal letter dated 15 April 2014), together
with the related penalty, to the extent of US$3,839,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$29,770,000). The
Group has subsequently replied, through its legal
representative, that most of the claimed Interest Charge
are unenforceable at law but agreed to pay the relevant
interest charge (after tax) calculated under normal
contract terms in the amount of US$345,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$2,675,000) which had been
provided for during the year ended 31 December 2013.

On 9 May 2014, the Group received another legal letter
from the legal representative of UM informing that
UM will not present its winding up petition against the
Company without serving a 3-day notice.

In October 2014, the legal representative of UM issued a
letter to the Group requesting payment for the amount
of US$345,000 and the Group fully settled the amount in
November 2014.

On 18 November 2014, a subsidiary of the Group received
a legal letter from RR, which purported to be statutory
demand serviced to the subsidiary pursuant to section
254(2)(a) of the Singapore Companies Act (Cap.50),
requesting for settlement of a payable of US$1,726,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$13,387,000) (the
“Unpaid Invoices”), which has been included as current
liabilities of the Group in the consolidated financial
statements.
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DISPUTES (Continued)
(a) Litigation with Rock Resource Limited (“RR")

and United Mineral Limited (“UM") (collectively
referred to as the “Buyers”) (Continued)

On 8 December 2014, the Group issued a legal letter to
RR requesting RR to withdraw such statutory demand
and confirm that RR will not commence winding up of
the aforementioned subsidiary as the Group considers
it has bona fide defences on substantial grounds to the
claims asserted in RR’s letter dated 18 November 2014
and significant cross-claims against RR and therefore the
Unpaid Invoices should not be settled at this stage since
the Group would be entitled to set these sums off against
its very substantial counterclaims for RR and/or UM.

On 8 September 2015, Easyman entered into a Swap of
Debt Agreement with RR and CNR Group Holdings Pte Ltd
("CNRG"), a subsidiary of the Group, which gave effect
to provide a charge over a total of 31,762,295 shares in
the Company to RR as a security for the above litigation.
These shares can be used by RR for settlement of any
liabilities that may arise and become payable by the Group
to RR in respect of the above litigation.

In order to resolve certain of the above claims and
disputes, Yongtong Special Steel and CNRG, subsidiaries
of the Group, also entered into an agreement with RR on
6 June 2016, pursuant to which, and on a “no admission
of liability” basis that, Yongtong Special Steel shall deliver
certain equipment to RR as a consideration for offsetting
any payables due by the Group to RR to the extent of
RMB30,000,000 (the “Consideration Equipment”). Upon
delivery of all relevant equipment and acknowledgement
receipt by RR, any liabilities that the Group may owe to
RR shall be reduced by RMB30,000,000. These equipment
have been delivered to and acknowledged receipt by RR
before 31 December 2016.
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32 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES, CLAIMS AND
DISPUTES (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Annual Report 2017

Litigation with Rock Resource Limited (“RR")
and United Mineral Limited (“UM") (collectively
referred to as the “Buyers”) (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Company,
Mr. Dong and the Buyers entered into a settlement
agreement (the “Settlement Agreement”) pursuant to
which all these parties agreed to fully settle the above
litigation matters, amongst other terms and conditions, at
an aggregate consideration of US$12,000,000 as follows:

(i) an amount of US$5,000,000 to be satisfied by
the aforementioned Consideration Equipment of
Yongtong Special Steel delivered to RR during the
year ended 31 December 2016; and

(i)  the remaining amount of US$7,000,000 to be
settled by Mr. Dong on behalf of the Company, by
transferring his entire personally interest in 50%
equity interests in an unlisted entity to UM or a party
specified by UM.

As at 31 December 2017, the above Settlement
Agreement is still under execution. Based on the terms of
the Settlement Agreement, the directors consider that the
Settlement Agreement will be fully executed in 2018 and
no material loss to the Group will be resulted upon final
settlement of the above litigation matters.

Dispute on Contracts of Affreightment
(“COAs")

The Group entered into certain COAs with various
marine vessel owners committing certain minimum
number of cargoes per calendar month for exporting
iron ores from Indonesia. As a result of the unfavourable
economic environment and the various changes in rules
and regulations stipulated by the Indonesian government
authorities since year 2012, the Group’s ores export
was adversely affected and therefore unable to fulfil the
minimum cargoes commitments as stipulated by some of
these COAs.
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DISPUTES (Continued)
(b) Dispute on Contracts of Affreightment

(“COAs") (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2014, the Group
received various legal letters from TORM A/S (“TORM"),
a marine vessel owner, to (i) claim for an outstanding
freight charges payable by the Group to TORM of
approximately US$1,834,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$14,268,000) (“Outstanding Freight Charges”); and
(i) notify the commencement of arbitration proceedings
pursuant to the terms of the relevant COAs to claim for
loss and damage suffered by TORM ("“Other Losses”) with
respect to approximately 51 unfulfilled cargoes under
the terms of the relevant COAs which is estimated by
TORM to be approximately US$11,828,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$91,721,000) up to 27 March 2014
(the amount stated in the latest claim submissions from
TORM).

The dispute with TORM in respect of the Outstanding
Freight Charges had been settled at an amount of
US$419,000 (equivalent to HK$3,253,000) during the
year ended 31 December 2014 and the claim had been
fully discharged in June 2014.

In connection with the claims on Other Losses, the Group
has engaged legal advisors to commence arbitration
procedures with TORM in February 2014.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group
has been actively negotiating with TORM on settlement
of the above claims on Other Losses. In preparing these
consolidated financial statements, the directors have
obtain legal advice in this respect and, based on the
current status of the proceedings, evidence exchanged
and the latest communication with TORM, consider that
most likely the Group will be able to settle the claims on
Other Losses at a consideration of approximately US$5
million (equivalent to HK$38,782,000). A provision for
claims of the same amount has been made by the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2015.
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32 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES, CLAIMS AND

DISPUTES (Continued)

(b) Dispute on Contracts of Affreightment
(“COAs") (Continued)
As at 31 December 2017 and up to the date of approval
of the consolidated financial statements, based on the
best knowledge and information of the directors, there
are no other major claims in relation to any COAs that
the Group has entered into saved as disclosed in these
consolidated financial statements.

Should the resolution of these legal claims and disputes
turn out to be unfavourable to the Group, the Group may
need to record additional losses in respect of these claims
and disputes in future reporting periods.

33 OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENT - AS LESSEE
The Group leases certain of its office properties under operating
lease arrangements. Leases for properties are negotiated for
terms ranging from two to three years. At 31 December 2017,
the Group had total future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases falling due as follows:
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HEE(E)
RZZE—tF+-_A=+—HEEZE
BAPERERAERR BEFERAR
B BREAVBREREESEIIN A
EEFESRETVEIMNEABEEAME
BAEHZEMERBER.

WEAZRERREFENREGERT
MRAKE  AEEAIEERERKRRE
HEMZEFHRMFREEEINNE
Lo

HEZHE —FEREEA

AEBREBECEHELZHARETHAEY
X REECYEREFHENTRE=F-
R-E—+F+-_A=+—H AEERT
YIS ER AR R BRIE N A B EHE 2 R
RgEASRETNT

2017 2016

—E—+tF —TAF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHExT FAETT

Within one year —FR 2,802 3,981
In the second to fifth years, inclusive E_EZERF

(BIEEEMS) 180 2,254

2,982 6,235
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34 COMMITMENTS 34 AEE
In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed in Note B XXM EE33h a5l 2 S E AN - R
33 above, the Group had the following capital commitments at EERBEMRZEREENT :

the end of the reporting period:

2017 2016
—E—+F —E—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T
Contracted, but not provided for: EREESEEES TR
Property, plant and equipment ME - BRE KRB 49,292 47,352
35 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 35 BELRS
In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in the BRANGRE SRR E Mt T 5l 2 R S50
consolidated financial statements, the Group had the following AEBNFEA MRS RERESET N
material transactions and outstanding balances with related BARR G MEARET 2 REEEREE -
parties during the year and as at the end of the reporting
period:
Transactions with related parties HBELSNRS
2017 2016
—E—tF ZE—RF
Names of related parties Nature of transactions HK$°000 HK$'000
BELAE XEME FHET FHET
Easyman (note a) Interest expense (note b) 3,096 2,933
Easyman ( ff7Ea) MEER (Mizb)
Ms. Sun Qiaodian (“Ms. Sun”) (note d) Interest expense (note d) 12,683 12,801

B AL ([FLL]) (KaEd) MEER (MaEd)
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35 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 35 BEFRS (#)

Outstanding balances with related parties EHEE S NRE R
2017 2016
—E—t% —xf
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET F#E T
Prepayments to Yiwan F& 1 Yiwan 2 3B
(Note 22) (notes a and c) (M95E22) (BfsEakc) 12,463 11,761
Loan to Full Harvest Development Limited ~ B3 F L3R AR QA
(Note 18) (Ht5E18) 56,975 56,975
Amounts due to Easyman (note b) 45 /K EasymanzX 18 (Fff5Eb) 57,564 50,592
Amount due to Ms. Sun (note d) 4ERF L FIE (H7Ed) 30,745 28,731
Amounts due to a director, Mr. Dong HBR—REFERFLE
Chengzhe (note e) A (Hsxe) 2,132 1,963
Amounts due to Mr. Dong (note e) sERE S EFRIE (Hite) 61,709 10,871
Notes: B o

(a) Easyman is a company wholly owned by Mr. Dong. The Directors consider
that Mr. Dong through Easyman, as a lender of Yiwan, has an indirect
economic interest in Yiwan.

(b) Details of the terms of amounts due to Easyman are disclosed in Note 27.

(o] Prepayments are made to Yiwan for purchases of iron ores. The amount
is unsecured and interest free and will be settled by offsetting the relevant
purchases. Also see Note 22.

(d) Ms. Sun Qiaodian is the spouse of Mr. Dong. Amount due to Ms. Sun is
unsecured and is repayable by 31 December 2017. Interest is calculated at
mutually agreed terms.

(e) Amounts due to Directors are unsecured, interest free and repayable on
demand.
(f) Details of compensation of key management personnel of the Group are

included in Note 10 to the consolidated financial statements.

Easyman ) —FHIBEX L2 BERBE 2 RAEF
TR A E ST @B EasymantE /R Yiwan 2 FRRA i 7
Yiwan i A #4875 F o o

4 R EasymaniR B 55K 2 E B R B A 527 ©
FaftYiwanZz RIBREE#BEA MIEL - X SR
EIERR RS WEMEHEREEmMSE 15
RKsE22 -

RO L T REREZRB -BRELLTHER
EIEHREAR T —+tF+-A=+—HHEE-
FERZBEREGKTHE -
HERESFERHERE RERNEREEE-

AEBEEEEAB 2 HMFBIH NGRS PER
FMHIFE10 ©
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36 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 36 AATZHBRRAREFHEES
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

Statement of financial position of the Company NI 3 O
As at 31 December
W+=—A=+-—H
2017 2016
—E—+F —E—REF
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FHET
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets IRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME BB &R 40 67
Interests in subsidiaries LI NGIP 3 137,826 498,464
137866 ¢ 498,531 _
Current assets REEE
Prepayments, deposits and AR e R
other receivables H {th B U 5018 2,588 2,568
Pledged time deposits B E BTN 13 13
Cash and cash equivalents RERBESFEY 299 55
i ___________________Ies 2900 2636 _
Total assets wWEE 140,766 501,167
EQUITY fEm
Share capital % 308,813 308,813
Reserves (E (note (a))
(FF3E@@)) (1,141,229) (577,276)
Total equity ERBE (832,416) (268,463)
LIABILITIES =R
Current liabilities REBAE
Other payables and accruals Ho{th &5 R K AT B 506,197 303,465
Bank and other borrowings RITRHMEE 420,210 419,390
Convertible bonds MR ES 46,775 46,775
973,182 769,630
Total liabilites ~~~~~~~~~ #®&%&% = 97318 769,630 _
Total equity and liabilities EEREEERE 140,766 501,167

ARBZMBRAKREEETEN _FT—/\F
ZAZ T N\R#ERBERRRES-

The statement of financial position of the Company was
approved by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2018 and was
signed on its behalf.

Dong Shutong Yang Fei
EEB R
Director Director

EF EE
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36 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 36 ADQRZBMBMRREKRFEEE
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (&)
(Continued)
Statement of financial position of the Company AT BARRE (F)
(Continued)
Note (a) Reserve movement of the Company MisE(a) AN D R BB & S
Share
Share Contributed option Accumulated
premium surplus reserve losses Total
R4RE BREN BREGE AitER st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FBx FHERT FHRT FHT FBxT
(Note)
(H&E)
At 1 January 2016 RZE—R"F—A—H 3,185,286 296,966 37,158 (3,565,100) (45,690)
Total comprehensive loss for the year 4 /E & HE E 18 £ - - - (583,606) (583,606)
Conversion of convertible bonds @R R E 51,791 = = = 51,791
Equity-settled share based AR 2 IR FER X
compensation expense (Note 31) (H7E31) - - 229 - 229
At 31 December 2016 RZE—ARF+=ZA=+—H 3,237,077 296,966 37,387  (4,148,706) (577,276)
At 1 January 2017 RZZE—+F—H—H 3,237,077 296,966 37,387 (4,148,706) (577,276)
Total comprehensive loss for the year 4 [E & [ F5 18 £ 58 - - - (563,975) (563,975)
Equity-settled share based ARRFEREE 2 IR ER X
compensation expense (Note 31) (ME5E31) - = 22 = 22
At 31 December 2017 R_FT—F+=—A=+—H 3,237,077 296,966 37,409  (4,712,681)  (1,141,229)
Note: Contributed surplus of the Company represents the difference between MizE: AQRNEBHABRBREARARBEAEEN_TT
the value of the net assets of the underlying subsidiaries acquired by the NEMAZ AR BT EE M UCE O ARRE R
Company pursuant to the Group reorganisation on 29 April 2006 and the RAIZFEEBEERARARMRZEEEME
nominal value of the Company's shares issued in exchange therefor. THROEEBE 2 BHELRE-
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37

216

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial
statements, the Group has the following major events occurred
after the reporting period:

On 11 March 2018, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with Mr. Sun, pursuant to which the Group
agreed to sell 7% equity interest of SEAM to Mr. Sun at a
consideration of RMB210,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$251,223,000). Mr. Sun is a beneficial owner of the Potential
Investor and the sale and purchase agreement is conditional
upon, amongst others, obtaining approval from shareholders
of the Company at an extraordinary general meeting and
resumption of trading of the Company’s shares. As at the date
of this annual report, the transaction is yet to be completed.

BRERERZERBR AR

37 REBPREE

Birae MMk E M T ARE LN K&
ERmERBRBEETIERNEM:

R_ZE—NEZA+—B ANEFEEFRLE
FEIEEDE B AEEREMALE
LA %2R B AR #210,000,0007T (FBE R4
251,223,000/ 70) th & F F TR 27 % M IR A
B BAERBEREENEREE A
MEERZEAISE TIEERR  SFEERSE
ERIAE FEUSAA RREHHE R AT
BOMEEE - RAFRAHS BEAEAZH
RIEAK o

"R FFERSE
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